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Nomfundo Xaluva performing
at the HSS Awards 2019

Our VISION
The NIHSS vision is of a new humanities and social sciences that
is the epicentre of scholarship, pedagogy, community practice
and social responsibility in Africa. We also envision a tertiary
education system serving as an equal partner with centres
of excellence in the Global North and the Global South in the
world’s knowledge production and dissemination.

Our MISSION
Since the inception of the Institute in 2013, its mission has been
to redress existing deficits and to coordinate programmes,
projects, collaborations and activities in the humanities and
social sciences disciplines within and through existing and
future public universities. The Institute serves the higher
education sector, the South African government, and civil
society on humanities and social sciences-related matters,
working alone and/or in partnership with stakeholders to:
• Provide strategic and intellectual resources to the higher
education sphere within the humanities and social sciences;
• Advance research, teaching, and learning by ensuring

A Juristic ENTITY

As a statutory body established
on 05 December 2013 as a
juristic entity through publication
of Government Gazette No.
37118, the Institute strives to
contribute meaningfully to
ensuring the excellence, integrity
and dynamism of the humanities
and social sciences throughout
Africa, through its core functions
of enhancing and coordinating
scholarship, research and ethical
practice in the HSS fields.

Our DYNAMIC MANDATE

collaboration and/or coordination of the work of higher

The Institute is a statutory body, set up by law by the Minister

education institutions;

of Higher Education in December 2013 to enhance and support

• Advise the Minister of Higher Education and Training on

higher education in the humanities and social sciences. The

matters relating to the Institute’s strategic objectives, or on

Institute’s mandate is underpinned by the Higher Education Act

policy affecting teaching and research in the humanities and

(1997), the Skills Development Act (1998) and the White Paper

social sciences and higher education generally; and

for Post-School Education and Training (2013), and closely aligns

• Advocate equity, justice and social responsibility.

with the goals of the National Development Plan 2030.

In 2015, the Minister of Higher Education and Training expanded

The NIHSS is not a university or a place of learning; rather, it

the NIHSS mandate and mission by appointing the Institute

is a fully fledged organisation with the unique competency set

the custodian of the South African BRICS Think Tank. This

and sole mandate of stimulating humanities and social sciences

augmented the NIHSS strategic objectives, adding: fostering

(HSS) research and postgraduate studies, thereby supporting

international research collaborations between South Africa,

and boosting the capacity of the humanities and social sciences

Africa, and countries of the Global South, including Brazil,

to produce knowledge. The Institute works with existing public

Russia, India and China; acting as a dynamic broker between

university structures, think tanks, and research bodies in

the worlds of knowledge and policy action on behalf of South

the higher education sphere to advance research, teaching,

Africa and the South African BRICS Think Tank; and coordinating

and learning in the humanities and social sciences. It funds,

and managing all BRICS Think Tank-related activities on behalf

coordinates and form partnerships with stakeholders to co-

of South Africa.

create solutions that will bolster outputs – whether in the form
of research, graduates or advice.
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Our SOLID FOUNDATION

throughout society. These objectives require progress on

• Higher Education Act, 1997 (No. 101 of 1997)

employment

a broad front, the three main priorities being increasing
through

accelerated

economic

growth;

The Higher Education Act, which provides for a unified and

improving the quality of education, skills development and

nationally planned system, and White Paper 3: A Programme

innovation; and building the capability of the state to play a

for the Transformation of Higher Education (1997) are the

developmental and transformative role.

basis for transformation of the higher education sector in
South Africa. NIHSS implementation is also guided by the
National Plan for Higher Education (2001) and the 2013 White
Paper for Post-School Education and Training.
• Skills Development Act, 1998 (No. 97 of 1998)

Our VALUE CREATION
The NIHSS ring-fences funding to stimulate research,

The Skills Development Act provides for an institutional

shift debates and incubate ideas that will reignite the

framework to devise and implement national, sector and

intellectual fires in the humanities and social sciences.

workplace strategies for developing and improving South

The Institute creates value in three main ways:

African workforce skills. These strategies are integrated into
the National Skills Framework, to provide for learnerships
leading to the recognition of occupational qualifications and
to address the financing of skills development through a levy

1

Enabling PhD scholarship
The NIHSS builds capacity, growing the number of
doctoral students (via scholarships) in the HSS:
- NIHSS National Mentorship Programme

and the National Skills Fund (NSF).

- African Pathways Programme
• White Paper for Post-School Education and Training (2013)
Seeking to contribute to overcoming the structural challenges
facing our society by expanding access to education
and training opportunities and increasing equity – while
achieving high levels of excellence and innovation – the White

- Mobility Grants

2

Serving as a catalyst for change in research
The NIHSS increases the scale and quality of HSS
research outputs, fast-tracking research in new

Paper clearly articulates a vision for a single, coherent and

areas, strengthening previously neglected HSS

differentiated post-school education and training system.

disciplines and bringing about deep and widespread

The principle of institutional differentiation supported not

change in the way the HSS produce knowledge:

just in policy but through funding is emphasised in the White

- Catalytic Research Projects

Paper (and by the NIHSS) as key to strengthening the system

- Working Groups

and addressing societal needs. Another White Paper – and

- Professional Associations

NIHSS – focus is the major problem area of inadequate and

- Humanities Hubs

insufficient levels of research and innovation, which are key to
economic development.
• National Development Plan (NDP) 2030

3

Convening Global South collaboration and
advising on policy
The NIHSS forges collaborations on the continent

The NDP offers a long-term perspective on eliminating

and between developing economies, networking

poverty and reducing inequality by 2030, seeking to grow an

South African researchers with researchers in the

inclusive economy, build capabilities and enhance the capacity

Global South through the BRICS programme.

of the state while promoting leadership and partnerships

4
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Our VALUES AND SHARED GUIDING PRINCIPLES
When

conceptualising,

convening

and

implementing

academic projects and programmes, those working in the
NIHSS foreground the values of teamwork, integrity, creativity,
respect and excellence, and adhere to five shared principles:

1

Cooperation and the establishment of communities
of scholarship – the NIHSS works across organisational
and disciplinary boundaries to establish communities of
collaborating scholars.

2

Norm-driven internationalisation – the NIHSS is open
to dialogue with its Northern counterparts but focuses
specifically on strengthening Africa-wide, South–South
collaborations.

3

Social responsibility and equity – the NIHSS is mindful
that research and development funded with taxpayers’
money should have value to society and respond to the
socio-economic problems that face South Africa and its
citizens today.

4

Functional differentiation as opposed to resource
differentiation – the NIHSS, rather than preserving a
higher education and research system differentiated on
the basis of resource inequality, provides opportunities
to

eradicate

resource

inequality

and

encourages

differentiation in priorities and visions to cater for
diversity.

5

Transformative

relevance

–

the

NIHSS

works

unrelentingly to open up new areas of research, which
in turn have a multiplier effect on future research
projects and serious transformative implications for the
curriculum in the humanities and social sciences.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

5

A

GENERAL INFORMATION

Teamwork

• Placing the needs of our
stakeholders above our
individual needs.
• Achieving maximum value from
shared resources, knowledge and
expertise.
• Participating and contributing
in a flexible, supportive
manner.

Excellence

• Setting high standards in
whatever we do.
• Aiming to do the best in
everything we do.

Respect

• Delivering quality work.

• Demonstrating confidence in
the abilities of others.
• Treating all colleagues and others
in the way we expect them to
treat us.
• Not discriminating
against others.

Our INTERNAL VALUES
Creativity

• Demonstrating a “can-do”
attitude.

Integrity

• Doing what we say we will do.
• Speaking the truth and being fair
in how we judge others.
• Displaying openness and
honesty.

6
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Organisational STRUCTURE

for academic collaboration, and Professional Associations. The

For the period under review (01 April 2018–31 March 2019), the

(SABTT), the African Pathways Mobility Grants Programme and

NIHSS had a staff complement of 38 (including short-term staff

the International Research Programme.

directorate also includes the South African BRICS Think Tank

contracts), with a staff headcount of 30 as at 31 March 2019. The
NIHSS staff formed part of the following academic and operational

Operational Portfolio

portfolios:

Finance: Financial support services, and supply chain
management, procurement, and grant management.

Academic Portfolio

Administration: Monitoring and evaluation, reporting, and

The Academic Scholarships Directorate is responsible for

knowledge management services.

the management of the Doctoral Schools and Scholarships

Human Resources & Services: HR management and legal

Programme, the National Mentorship Programme, and the African

support services.

Pathways Programme.

Communication and Marketing: Communication, marketing,
branding, and facilities management.

The Academic Research and BRICS Directorate is responsible for

Information Technology: IT services.

Catalytic Research Projects, Humanities Hubs, Working Groups

Executive
Office:
CEO

Academic Portfolio

Executive
Office

Academic
Director

Operational Portfolio

Academic
Director

Strategy &
Planning

Doctoral
Schools &
Scholarships
Programme

Catalytic
Research
Projects

Monitoring &
Evaluation

African
Pathways
Programme
(APP)

Humanities
Hubs

Corporate
Governance:
NIHSS Board

National
Mentorship
Programme
(NMP)

Working
Groups
&
Professional
Associations

BRICSSABTT

African
Pathways
Mobility
Grants
Programme

International
Research
Programme

Admin
Director

Finance:
CFO

Information
Technology

Finance
Support,
Admin

Communication
& Marketing

Supply Chain
Management

Human
Resources
& Legal
Services
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CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD
I am pleased to see that all aspects of the Institute’s life – planned
for, budgeted for, whether routine or sheer imagination – have
been completed.
It is not the place here to pre-empt what is drafted in the pages
that follow. Rather, I would like to signpost what has made the
new Board of the Institute particularly happy: another clean
audit by the Auditor-General. Three in a row! This has been a
major achievement in such times of austerity, of challenges and
of cuts.
Furthermore, the synergies between the Institute and the

It has been a long road here but almost five years into our

Department of Higher Education and Training have been of the

existence we are poised for a statutory review of the Institute’s

highest quality, ensuring not only the smooth implementation

work in that time (its potholes and smoother surfaces) and

and functioning of the Institute’s activities but also the hosting

about our future. I am certain that we are more than ready for it!

of the Academic Forum and the BRICS Think Tank Council during
the year of our BRICS chairship.

Ploughing through the report, I was made conscious of the
decisive contribution we have made in nurturing a new

By the time I have finished drafting this foreword, we also need

generation of humanities and social sciences scholars and

to convey our farewell to Dr Naledi Pandor – because all this was

nurturing too the robust research that will make the post-

achieved under her watch and care.

apartheid knowledge project a reality.

It has been a long road here
but almost five years into our
existence we are poised for a
statutory review of the Institute’s
work in that time (its potholes and
smoother surfaces) and about our
future. I am certain that we are
more than ready for it!

Finally, I would like to thank our CEO, Prof Sarah Mosoetsa, and
her entire team for making this transformative idea a reality!

Prof Ari Sitas
Chairperson of the NIHSS Board
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
The fifth anniversary of the National Institute for the Humanities
and Social Sciences is fast approaching and with it the
completion of the first cycle of its existence. With four full years
of our mandate already behind us, and an external review of our
progress imminent, we are both excited and optimistic about
the future. Looking back at the contribution the NIHSS has made
thus far to the development of the humanities and social sciences
(HSS) in South Africa, we believe that even those who greeted our
initial establishment with scepticism now see the value of having
a dedicated focus on supporting the HSS.
It is a privilege to present this annual report, reporting on our
work in 2018/19, the penultimate year of the NIHSS’s initial fiveyear mandate.

Looking outwards, we have helped raise the profile of
South African research and researchers and facilitated HSS

Internally, when contemplating our contribution to society, we

collaborations and networks with researchers and research

ask ourselves a simple question: What would be different had

bodies in other parts of the continent, as well as more broadly

the NIHSS not been in existence? That, on the strength of our

in the Global South. The NIHSS is responsible for coordinating

measurable achievements, is relatively easy to answer.

and managing BRICS Think Tank-related activities on behalf of
South Africa and, in 2018/19, was entrusted with the task of

South Africa is richer by 132 HSS doctoral graduates – no fewer

organising and hosting the 10th BRICS Academic Forum, one

than 67 of whom completed their studies in 2018/19. In an

of the most important academic events in the BRICS calendar.

economy that must become knowledge-intensive in order to
advance and compete, doctorates in the HSS are an essential

More than 200 scholars from Brazil, Russia, India, China and

contributor to research generation and the growth of a high-

South Africa attended the Academic Forum, which delivered a

level talent pool. These 132 graduates represent a significant

number of “firsts”. For the first time, representatives of other

contribution to the National Development Plan’s objectives and

African countries, including Namibia and Senegal, participated

transformation agenda in the higher education landscape.

in the event; and for the first time, gender equality was formally
on the agenda.

Then there are over 200 research outputs generated over the
past four years as a result of the Institute’s funding support for

While enhancing South African research and scholarship in

Catalytic Research Projects, Working Groups, and the BRICS

the HSS, at home and abroad, the Institute has also ensured

programme. Not only does this research increase South Africa’s

its own house is in good order from a financial management

small but growing share of global research – now standing at

and governance perspective. For the third consecutive year,

around 1% of world output – but it also assists in transforming

the NIHSS has received an unqualified audit opinion from the

the demographic profile of South African researchers. Through

Auditor-General South Africa. This attests to our ability to

our contribution as the NIHSS, the make-up of researchers in

use the funding allocated to us for its intended purposes, to

our country is shifting to include African women – who are also

account fully for our spending and to comply with legislation

making their mark felt within academia. The NIHSS is proud to be

and with the applicable performance-reporting requirements.

a significant part of facilitating this shift.

10
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The one area of our operations in 2018/19 that is a point of

We are now well into our second “century” when it comes

concern, however, is the impact of budget cuts over the past few

to doctoral graduates: 132 of the students receiving NIHSS

years. This impact may not be all that evident in our most recent

support have now graduated. Throughput in the review period

results, although there was a decline of 18% in the research

was particularly good, with 67 completions. In this regard,

outputs produced through the programmes we support, and

it is important to recognise the contribution made by our 13

this decline can be linked to reduced funding. More telling,

mentors, who play a crucial role in honing the writing skills of

however, is the anticipated reduction in doctoral graduations

doctoral candidates and in keeping them engaged.

and research outputs in the immediate future.
Partnership with university deans
While we are meeting and even exceeding our current targets,

The relationship between the NIHSS and the South African

the Institute has not had the means to secure a funding

Humanities Deans’ Association (Sahuda) is growing from

pipeline for the future. In other words, the NIHSS cannot award

strength to strength. In October 2018, ties were further

new scholarships to doctoral students or fund new research

consolidated with the holding of the 1st Annual NIHSS–Sahuda

projects under the Catalytic Research Projects, Working Groups

Conference, under the theme “Leading the Arts and Humanities

or BRICS research programmes. When existing scholarships

in a Connected World”. Speakers and panel discussions covered

and projects run their course, a sharp drop in the number of

fascinating topics, such as the impact of the Fourth Industrial

both new graduates and research outputs is inevitable if budget

Revolution on the HSS, post-Truth and Reconciliation trauma in

reductions continue to be the order of the day.

South Africa, and the decolonisation of the music archive, to
mention a few.

These 132 graduates represent
a significant contribution to the
National Development Plan’s
objectives and transformation
agenda in the higher education
landscape.

Exploring uncharted territory
The pre-colonial historiography project, led by the Centre for
African Studies (UCT), is further debunking the myth that South
African history began in 1652. The initiative, which is one of
our Catalytic Research Projects, not only goes back in time to
the 11th century and before, but is also crossing borders into
Mozambique, whose Institute of Arts and Culture has joined
the team. This opens the way for the project to consider the

The prospect of future shortfalls does not detract from the

interconnected history of the southern African subregion.

excellent work already under way in the HSS community, where

Widening the geographic scope of the project makes the

the Institute has sought to open up research in new areas,

important point that the notion of a nation state, South Africa,

strengthen previously neglected HSS disciplines and encourage

is a colonial construct.

collaboration and networking among researchers.
Another Catalytic Research Project is the comparative analysis
Doctoral Schools and Scholarships Programme

of liberation war radio stations, involving scholars from South

On 01 November 2018, the Institute celebrated the graduation

Africa, Mozambique, Zimbabwe, Namibia and Angola, as well as

of the 100th doctoral student since the inception of the

three scholars based at universities in the Global North. The

Doctoral Schools and Scholarships Programme. This milestone

project team, led by researchers from the University of the

was marked at our 4th Annual Doctoral Conference, which

Witwatersrand, seeks to advance regional scholarship on the

more than 200 HSS scholars attended.

histories of liberation radio stations.
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The Institute’s African Pathways Programme saw individual

Collaborating in the global arena

scholars leaving the beaten academic track and treading fresh

Project leaders in the various BRICS and international projects

ground in their quest for knowledge. Using our Mobility Grant

that the Institute funds achieved some noteworthy work. The

funding, a grant recipient from Nelson Mandela University

Peace and Security cluster, led from the University of KwaZulu-

travelled to Kenya, Ethiopia and Nigeria to observe and

Natal, hosted the international symposium “BRICS Peace and

understand the impact of Chinese-built infrastructure in these

Security” in Johannesburg, exploring the role of BRICS as a

countries. Another recipient, this time from the University

cohesive strategic actor in conventional conflict resolution

of KwaZulu-Natal, visited Fujian Agriculture and Forestry

and in responding to the rising threat of cybercrime and

University in China to observe and share pedagogical ideas on

cyberwarfare.

foreign- and second-language teaching.
Testament to the quality of the research, is that some of the

Testament to the quality of
the research is that some of
the clusters are embarking on
recommendations that were
accepted at the 2018 BRICS
Academic Forum for submission
to the 10th BRICS Leaders’
Summit.

clusters are embarking on recommendations that were

Prolific publishing on intriguing topics

scholars in BRICS countries should formulate a strong stand

A third volume was added to the Democratic Marxism book

on ethics and that membership of a professional ethics body is

series, which explores civilisational crisis, climate change

needed to sharpen the discourse on ethics.

accepted at the 2018 BRICS Academic Forum for submission to
the 10th BRICS Leaders’ Summit.
Combating corruption and encouraging civil activism featured
prominently at an international seminar that the HSRC and
Unisa organised in October 2018 under the theme “Exploring
Governance and Ethics Architecture of BRICS Countries:
Implications for Inclusive Sustainable Development”. Speakers
and delegates came from Brazil, India, Russia, South Africa and
Zimbabwe to participate. There was strong agreement that

and racism through a non-Eurocentric Marxist lens. The
third volume, titled The Climate Crisis: South African and Global

Recognising excellence

Democratic Eco-Socialist Alternatives, was published in 2017/18

The wealth and depth of talent in the HSS academic community

and is now freely available for download anywhere in the world.

was clear for all to see at the 4th Annual South African

The fourth volume, On Racism after Apartheid: Challenges for

Humanities and Social Sciences Awards, held in March 2019 at

Marxism and Anti-racism, was published in March 2019.

the John Kani Theatre, located in the Market Theatre complex in
Newtown, Johannesburg. The awards attracted more than 70

Our partnership with the HSRC Press continues to bear fruit. To

entries – 60 book entries and 10 creative collection entries –

date, 15 of the 21 scholarly books planned about South Africa,

requiring the panel of 28 judges to make some difficult decisions

Africa and the Global South have been published and are being

in selecting the eight winners. To echo the words of the Chair

marketed around the world. Titles published in 2018/19 include The

Judge, Prof Hlonipha Mokoena, for the Fiction category, the

Lone Wolves’ Legion: Terrorism, Colonialism and Capital; Broadcasting

entries represented “all that is best about South Africa’s literary

Democracy: Radio and Identity in South Africa; and The South African

culture: astute, relevant, urgent and thought provoking”.

Informal Sector – Creating Jobs, Reducing Poverty.
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Governance
The Board that steered the NIHSS through its first phase of
life reached the end of its term in March 2018 and in July 2018

Our SOURCES OF FUNDING

the Minister of Higher Education and Training appointed a new

The Department of Higher Education and Training

Board. In the interests of continuity, the first chairperson, Prof

(DHET) fully funds the NIHSS operational budget, while

Ari Sitas, stayed on in that capacity. A number of new Board

the National Skills Fund (NSF) uses designated funds

members were appointed, injecting new skills and perspectives

to support all of the Institute’s academic programmes:

into the oversight of the Institute.

the Doctoral Schools and Scholarships Programme,
National Mentorship Programme, Catalytic Research

I extend a special thank-you to the previous Board - and a warm

Projects,

welcome to the new Board.

Professional Associations, and South African BRICS

Humanities

Hubs,

Working

Groups,

Think Tank activities.
The successes and achievements of the NIHSS in its first
four years are due in no small measure to the collaboration
and cooperation among our community of stakeholders: the

Our OPERATING CONTEXT

Department of Higher Education and Training, the National

The NIHSS operating environment is a challenging

Skills Fund, the NIHSS Board, the executive management and

one: turmoil in the higher education system – over

staff of the Institute, partners of the Institute such as Sahuda  

fees, curriculum content, inclusiveness and faculty

and CODESRIA, and the scholars and PhD students who

transformation;

participate in our programmes and generate the quality of

extensive and committed advocacy, to neglect the

research outputs that make South Africa proud. Thank you all

humanities and social sciences; a student movement

for sharing our passion for the humanities and social sciences

lacking in mentorship; and a number of serious

and helping to secure the future of these critical disciplines.

socio-economic challenges facing South Africa and

an

ongoing

tendency,

despite

her citizens in a post-apartheid era, complicated
by economic instability and poor status among
ratings agencies. At the same time, we continue to
see an increase in the number of students requiring
Professor Sarah Mosoetsa

postgraduate funding; limited supervision capacity,

Chief Executive Officer

especially in historically black universities; and
limited resources for scholarships and research for
the humanities and social sciences, thus serving to
increase demand on the Institute to supply resources.
Now, as ever, the NIHSS commitment is to stimulate
and rejuvenate research activity in the humanities
and social sciences, in the interests of supporting their
crucial role in promoting equity, justice and social
responsibility.
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Strategic OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE 2018/19
Presented in this report are activities and achievements of
the NIHSS for the financial year 2018/19, ending 31 March
2019. The report is informed by the goals and targets set in
the Annual Performance Plan (01 April 2018–31 March 2019)
and the Five-Year Strategic Plan (2015–2020) of the Institute.
Our activities in the year under review were informed by our
core strategic objectives:

1
2

Strategic Objective 1:
Advance postgraduate scholarship through a range of
innovations.
Strategic Objective 2:
Dynamise the fields of research and teaching in the
humanities and social sciences in South Africa through
a range of Catalytic Research Projects and Humanities
Hubs.

3

Strategic Objective 3:
Promote the integrity, reputation and recognition of
the humanities and social sciences within the higher
education community, the science and technology
community, and society at large.

4

Strategic Objective 4:
Build and strengthen networks and partnerships with
organisations working in areas related to the humanities
and social sciences.

5

Strategic Objective 5:
Foster international research collaborations between
South Africa, Africa, and countries of the Global South,
including Brazil, India and China.

6

Strategic Objective 6:
Act as a dynamic broker between the worlds of
knowledge and policy action to strengthen the Institute’s
strategic position in the political and social spaces
that will enable it to influence policy and knowledge
production.

7

Strategic Objective 7:
Coordinate and manage all BRICS Think Tank-related
activities on behalf of South Africa.
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2018/19

Highlights

Significant achievements worth
highlighting as we conclude the
penultimate year in the NIHSS
Strategic Plan (2015/16–2019/20)

Production of research outputs:

56

were reported by project
leaders receiving funding
through the Catalytic Research
Projects and Working Groups
programmes. 19 additional
outputs were reported by those
receiving funding through the
BRICS programme.

Catalytic Research
Projects extension/
renewal grants:

7

grants were
awarded to
project leaders
funded for Catalytic
Research Projects in
previous years but
needing additional
funding to conclude
their research or
cover the cost of
publishing their
results.

National Mentorship Programme:

35

doctoral workshops across the
regions; 2 inter-regional events
(colloquium and workshop).

16
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Doctoral Schools and
Scholarships Programme:

132

doctoral
graduations have
been reported to date. Some of
these graduates are employed
in our public universities, thus
contributing to the DHET’s
New Generation of Academics
programme. The success of
the scholarships programme
can be attributed largely to the
mentors that have supported
the students over the years
and ensured they remain
focused on completing their
studies.
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Implementation of the
Sam Moyo Postdoctoral
Fellowship in Land and
Agrarian Reform:

As part of the 2018
BRICS Chairship:
More than
seminars,
workshops
and dialogues in
total were hosted
under the BRICS
programme.

30

2

Sam Moyo Postdoctoral
Fellowships were awarded
to successful applicants.

Funding of Working Groups:

17

grants were awarded
in this financial year,
for a range of researchrelated activities, including
publishing of books, hosting of
conferences, and exhibitions.

Academic events:

17

academic events –
including conferences,
workshops, symposiums etc. –
were hosted by project leaders
receiving funding through the
Catalytic Research Projects and
Working Groups programmes,
and Professional Associations.

4th Annual South African Humanities and Social Sciences
Awards (14 March 2019, Market Theatre, Johannesburg):
celebrating and honouring HSS researchers, artists and authors:
200+ guests attended, 10 publishers participated, and the 28
judges selected 8 worthy winners to claim well-deserved prizes.
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Advance postgraduate
scholarship through a
range of innovations

Number of South African postdoctoral fellows
funded by the NIHSS in the HSS

Number of non-South African doctoral students
funded by the NIHSS in the HSS

Number of mentors appointed and funded
by the NIHSS to enhance the creativity and
technical capacities of NIHSS-funded doctoral
students

Number of regional doctoral workshops funded
by the NIHSS to enhance the creativity and
technical capacities of NIHSS-funded doctoral
students

Number of national doctoral workshops/
conferences funded and hosted by the NIHSS
as an innovation to advance postgraduate
scholarship

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

Monitoring of outgoing PhD students

Number of South African doctoral students
funded by the NIHSS in the humanities and
social sciences (HSS)

Key Performance Indicator

1.2

1.1

No.

# The total number includes 11 graduates reported in the 2017/18 financial year.

* The total number includes 54 graduates reported in the 2017/18 financial year.

1

Strategic Objective

Table 1: Performance overview for the 2018/19 financial year

Strategic PROGRAMME INTERVENTIONS

1

12

23

22

4

38
(65
cumulative)

195

Actual
2017/18

1

12

12

111
monitored

2

-

600
monitored

Annual
FY target
2018/19

1

35

13

111
monitored #

0

23

1

0

0

-

67

2

0

Variance

600
monitored *

Actual
2018/19 FY

0%

191.6%

8.3%

0%

0%

-

0%

% Variance

Annual target met.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

17 graduations were
reported during Q4,
adding to 67 for the
2018/19 FY, and 132
graduations to date.

Annual target met.

Comment
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Dynamise the fields of
research and teaching
in the humanities
and social sciences in
South Africa through
a range of Catalytic
Research Projects and
Humanities Hubs

Promote the
integrity, reputation
and recognition
of the humanities
and social sciences
within the higher
education community,
the science
and technology
community, and
society at large

2

3

Strategic Objective

Number of NIHSS Annual Awards ceremonies
held to recognise the contribution to the HSS
by individuals within the higher education
community

Number of professional associations supported
in the HSS

Number of research reports/outputs in the HSS

3.3

3.4

Number of workshops and conferences
organised by Catalytic Research Projects/
Humanities Hubs project leaders and
collaborators (researcher workshops)

2.4

3.2

Number of research outputs in the HSS
produced by the Catalytic Research Projects
and Humanities Hubs project leaders and
collaborators

2.3

Number of Working Groups initiatives funded
by the NIHSS with the aim of promoting the
integrity, reputation and recognition of the HSS
in the existing higher education landscape to
make it more responsive to, and inclusive of
the HSS

Number of Humanities Hubs established
with the aim of increasing funding to civic
organisations working in the HSS and building
and strengthening collaborative networks
between civic organisations and the higher
education institutions

2.2

3.1

Number of Catalytic Research Projects
established by the NIHSS and focusing
on collaborative networks with the aim of
revitalising key areas of knowledge generation
and public discourse that have lost impetus

Key Performance Indicator

2.1

No.

15

8

1

35

45

66

4

7

Actual
2017/18

6

11
monitored

1

10

8

40

12
monitored

6

Annual
FY target
2018/19

19

11
monitored

1

17

19

56

12
monitored

7

Actual
2018/19 FY

13

0

0

7

11

16

0

1

Variance

217%

0%

0%

70%

137.5%

40%

0%

16.6%

% Variance

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target met.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Comment
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20

Build and strengthen
networks and
partnerships with
organisations working
in areas related to the
humanities and social
sciences

Foster international
research
collaborations
between South Africa,
Africa, and countries
of the Global South,
including Brazil, India
and China

4

5

Strategic Objective

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

Number of international Mobility Grants (APP
and BRICS) to promote the principle of normdriven internationalisation and collaboration of
institutions in the Global South

Number of dialogues, colloquiums, policy
discussions etc. hosted/co-hosted and funded
by the NIHSS to expand the knowledge base of
Global South research and scholarship

Number of research outputs produced by the
international collaborative project leaders and
collaborators to expand the knowledge base of
Global South research and scholarship in the
HSS

5.2

5.3

5.4

Number of research outputs/joint publications
in the HSS

4.3

Number of international collaborative research
projects to promote the principle of normdriven internationalisation and collaboration of
institutions in the Global South

Number of bilateral meetings/dialogues hosted
or co-hosted by the NIHSS to create, foster and
maintain a culture of collaborative scholarship,
research and engagement in the HSS

4.2

5.1

Number of colloquiums/conferences hosted or
co-hosted by the NIHSS to create, foster and
maintain a culture of collaborative scholarship,
research and engagement in the HSS

Key Performance Indicator

4.1

No.

Table 1: Performance overview for the 2018/19 financial year

Strategic PROGRAMME INTERVENTIONS

6

6

3

3

2

4

6

Actual
2017/18

15

5

6

20
monitored

2

3

4

Annual
FY target
2018/19

19

5

12

20
monitored

2

3

6

Actual
2018/19 FY

4

0

6

0

0

0

2

Variance

26.6%

0%

100%

0%

0%

0%

50%

% Variance

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target met.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Comment
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Act as a dynamic
broker between the
worlds of knowledge
and policy action
to strengthen the
Institute’s strategic
position in the political
and social spaces
that will enable it to
influence policy and
knowledge production

Coordinate and
manage all BRICS
Think Tank-related
activities on behalf of
South Africa

6

7

Strategic Objective

Number of South African BRICS Think Tank
Forums (pre-academic forum, academic forum
& BTTC)

7.3

Number of formal engagements with BRICS
forums: i.e. civil society, business, and youth

6.5

Number of SABTT advisory committee meetings
(NIHSS, DHET, DIRCO)

Number of seminars, workshops and
conferences hosted/co-hosted and funded by
the NIHSS

6.4

7.2

Number of policy documents/briefs emanating
from SABTT-funded projects

6.3

Number of policy meetings with nongovernmental role-players

Number of BRICS cluster projects funded

6.2

7.1

Number of BRICS cluster projects monitored

Key Performance Indicator

6.1

No.

3

9

8

4

13

8

9

9

Actual
2017/18

3

6

4

2

20

4

9

9
monitored

Annual
FY target
2018/19

3

6

5

2

23

4

9

9
monitored

Actual
2018/19 FY

0

0

1

0

3

0

0

0

Variance

0%

0%

25%

0%

15%

0%

0%

0%

% Variance

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target met.

Annual target
exceeded without
adverse effect on
budget.

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

Annual target met.

Comment
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The second cohort of NIHSS graduates, honoured at a gala dinner on 28 October 2018 during the 2018 Annual National Doctoral Conference (ANDC)

The 2018/19 NIHSS-funded doctoral graduates

Graduates by Gender

Durban University
of Technology
University of Zululand

12

University of Pretoria

10

University of Venda

Nelson Mandela
University

8

University
of the
Witwatersrand

North-West
University

6

Female

Male

FY2017/18

34

31

FY2018/19

34

33

Total

68

64

Grand Total

Financial Year

2

Rhodes
University

Stellenbosch
University

University
of the
Free State

Tshwane
University
of Technology

University of
South Africa
University of
Limpopo

University of Fort Hare
University of
KwaZulu-Natal
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132

Graduates by Race

4

University
of the
Western
Cape

22

Financial
Year

University of
Johannesburg

Race

FY2017/18 FY2018/19
46

47

Coloured

Black

6

5

Indian

4

4

White

9

11

Total

65

67

Grand Total

132
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Strategic OBJECTIVE 1:
Advance postgraduate scholarship
through a range of innovations.
1. NIHSS DOCTORAL SCHOLARSHIPS
The NIHSS’s 100th doctoral graduate milestone
The scholarships programme is the Institute’s largest programme,
in terms of both number of beneficiaries and budget. At the
centre of the programme is the Doctoral Schools initiative,
established to support and provide mentorship to NIHSS-funded

Dr Nthabiseng Motsemme, NIHSS Director: Academic Scholarships

doctoral students. The NIHSS Doctoral Schools and Scholarships
Programme aligns the Institute with its vision of a new humanities
and social sciences becoming the epicentre of scholarship,
education, community practice and social responsibility in Africa
– in South Africa, and on the continent at large.
To date, the Institute has awarded over 600 scholarships,
although not all awards were taken up; some of the successful
applicants did not take up their scholarships for a variety of
reasons – including that they had accepted a scholarship from
another funder or had been accepted to study at a university
outside South Africa.
The 2018/19 financial year was particularly busy for the
Scholarships Directorate, with 67 PhD graduations reported –
compared to 38 in the previous year.

Dr Sithembile Mbete, NIHSS second cohort graduate from the
University of Pretoria

With an overall 132 doctoral graduations reported to date since
the inception of the NIHSS scholarship programme, and with
over 500 scholars still in the system, the Institute has become a
powerful platform proposing sustainable and tangible solutions
to pressing socio-economic challenges facing South Africa and
the continent at large.
The 67 PhD students who graduated during the year were from
18 public universities, of which KwaZulu-Natal had the highest
number of graduates (12), followed by the universities of South
Africa and Pretoria, with eight each. Most of the graduates were
black women.

Dr Quraysha Ismail Sooliman, NIHSS second cohort graduate from
the University of Pretoria

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19
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This

2. SAM MOYO POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIP

study

investigates

nutritional

issues

among

rural

communities in the Raymond Mhlaba Municipality in the Eastern
Cape, focusing on rural youth, including first-year university

Postdoctoral students benefit from Sam Moyo Fellowships

students, and women, particularly mothers with families.

In the period under review, the Institute approved two new
applications for the Sam Moyo Postdoctoral Fellowship in Land

Apart from assessing nutritional awareness levels and

and Agrarian Reform; in total, six postdoctoral fellows were

behaviours such as food-label reading, the study seeks to

supported in 2018/19.

establish whether there is a relationship between awareness
and lifestyle behaviours. Among women with families, it explores

Dr Rochelle Davids, University of the Western Cape

questions such as nutritional practices during pregnancy, and

Project title: An exploration of perceptions in FBOs in the Cape

the effect of nutritional knowledge on childcare practices and

Metropole on the multidimensional underlying causes for food

growth among children from birth to 36 months.

insecurity
The study, based on qualitative data, commenced in March
Hunger and food insecurity are pervasive in South Africa,

2018. Three papers focusing on the relationship between

including in the Cape Metropole. This study explores how

youth attitudes and nutrition knowledge are being prepared.

staff members of selected faith-based organisations (FBOs)

Ultimately, the findings will be used to make recommendations

in the metropole perceive and address the multidimensional

for future nutrition education interventions.

underlying causes of hunger and food insecurity among
recipients of their food programmes. Specifically, it studies the

Dr Nomalanga Mkhize, Rhodes University

impact of food insecurity on young children, the elderly, people

Project title: The long land question

with disabilities and the unemployed, as well as the link between
substance abuse and hunger and malnourishment.

Land in South Africa is a multifaceted field for serious scholars.
One area whose surface has barely been scratched in research

This qualitative study commenced in January 2018 and has to

is that of university accommodation within broader urban land

date entailed conducting semi-structured interviews with 10

issues. This study delves deeper into the problem of universities

staff members from seven FBOs. Once data analysis has been

and land in cities, delivering fresh insights and highlights.

completed and the research report written, the findings will be
presented through seminars at the University of the Western

The work gave rise to two presentations being made at the

Cape and made available to the organisations that participated.

South African Cities Network Dialogues in Johannesburg in
March 2018. Both Dr Mkhize and an MA student, Pedro Mzileni,

Dr Nomasonto Xasela, University of Fort Hare

who is exploring the impact of universities on property relations,

Project title: Nutritional knowledge issues among rural

wrote and submitted a paper on this topic. Dr Mkhize also gave a

communities of Eastern Cape, South Africa

presentation on urban land questions at the Rhodes University
Politics Teach-in and the University of Cape Town’s National

In theory, the more knowledgeable consumers are about the

Land Colloquium.

nutritional value of the food they eat, the healthier the choices
they will make. The starting point for testing this in practice is

Dr Musa Khapayi, Nelson Mandela University

understanding people’s nutrition-related knowledge, attitudes

Project title: Contract farming as a mechanism to enhance

and practices.

transition of small-scale vegetable farmers from subsistence to
commercial farming

This study delves deeper into
the problem of universities and
land in cities, delivering fresh
insights and highlights.
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Contract farming offers “fertile ground” for mutually beneficial
business relationships between small-scale vegetable farmers
and agribusiness firms. That said, some sizeable obstacles
stand in the way of meaningful contract-farming arrangements
between small farmers and established businesses.
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This study, which commenced in April 2018 and will run until

While the project focuses
on musical production, its
interdisciplinary nature
connects it to recent
debates in the humanities
on interdisciplinarity

December 2020, investigates the conditions and incentives
established agribusinesses require to engage small-scale
farmers in contract-farming arrangements. The study also
examines the role the South African government can play in
reducing the high transaction costs that agribusinesses incur
when engaging small-scale farmers.
Ethics clearance for a pilot study was received and data collection
commenced at the end of September 2018. The focus is on
small-scale vegetable farmers in Cacadu and Sarah Baartman

Tebogo George Mahashe, University of the Witwatersrand

District Municipality in the Eastern Cape.

Working project title: Land and agrarian reform

Dr Claudia Jansen van Rensburg, Stellenbosch University

This project, also new, brings together the land question and fine

Project title: Of music and land: Settler colonialism and the

art through the use of camera obscura installations in Bolobedu

politics of artistic ownership and (re)location

and Ga-Sekgopo in Limpopo Province.

This new project aims to expand on the importance of land

A camera obscura is a darkened room with a single small hole

in considering South African music. Like land, music has been

through which an image of the scene outside the room is

subject to disputes of ownership in the post-apartheid era.

projected; the image projected inside the room appears upside-

However, scholarship and policy have been relatively silent on

down.

the similarities between what Dr Jansen van Rensburg views as
“connected forms of colonial and apartheid dispossession”. She

In this case, the focus of the camera obscura installations would

believes these issues have significant implications for traditional

be on land and the question of who has a right to decide what

artists and the disciplinary separation that exists in school and

to do with the land.

university music curricula.
The artist’s intention is to further polish his camera obscura
its

installations and contribute to the democratisation of the

interdisciplinary nature connects it to recent debates in the

academic project. He points out that the general public in

humanities on interdisciplinarity. The study will allow for various

Bolobedu, his hometown, will benefit by being introduced to this

genres of music to be considered critically and in a way that

visual system, which does not exist in the region at this time.

While

the

project

focuses

on

musical

production,

explores the social, political and cultural circumstances of that
music.

“This would be of significance to the youth interested in science
and art but with limited access to artistic projects like the

“The aim is to contribute to an erosion of the claims of

camera obscura installation. ... It would benefit me in the sense

exceptionalism that inform disciplinary boundaries, as well as to

that I would engage in the process of addressing my questions

the scope of settler colonial studies,” Dr Jansen van Rensburg

about how I imagine the idea of ‘land’ and the question of who

says.

has a right to decide what to do with this land.”

“Furthermore, my discussion of traditional musical ownership
hopes to go some way in producing critical awareness in a
field that has still not been adequately researched by scholars
and in turn has important implications for South African music
practitioners and traditional musicians alike.”
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Prof Grace Khunou, regional mentor in Gauteng and a professor of sociology at the University of Johannesburg, with doctoral students at
one of the inter-regional initiatives held at the NIHSS offices

3. NATIONAL MENTORSHIP PROGRAMME (NMP)

day colloquium and a one-day workshop, were also held. This
number of events was significantly higher than the target of 12

NMP the “backbone” of NIHSS scholarship programme

workshops and was achieved through judicious use of resources.

The National Mentorship Programme (NMP) is critical in
ensuring that students receive the support they need during the

The mentorship programme is also assisted by university

course of their studies. The Institute appoints senior academics

administrators. The University Administrators initiative is

annually to serve as mentors for that academic year. In total,

aimed at ensuring effective coordination of the scholarship

13 mentors were appointed for the 2018 academic year, to

administration processes and systems, while providing support

support students within the mentors’ allocated region(s). The

for effective implementation of the NMP and the disbursement

NIHSS mentors provide a variety of support activities to the

of NIHSS funds to students at their own universities.

NIHSS-funded doctoral students, including the “coordination
and effective implementation of Regional Doctoral Schools

Despite the mentor group being considerably smaller than in the

and national thematic workshops”. The mentors also host

previous financial year (in which 23 mentors were appointed), the

regional workshops, bringing together students from different

2018/19 mentors proved equally astute at identifying challenges

universities in the same region to interact and learn the various

the students were facing and assisting them in addressing these.

aspects of doctoral studies, such as “formulating research
proposals, obtaining ethical clearance, and academic writing”.

Reflections from the 2018/19 mentors

In total, 35 doctoral workshops were held during the course of

Positive peer pressure and a positive atmosphere for sharing

the year across all our regions: Eastern Cape, Northern Corridor,

challenges have emerged as key factors in enabling doctoral

Gauteng, Unisa-Free State-North West, Western Cape, and

candidates to overcome challenges they encounter and

KwaZulu-Natal. Two inter-regional events, comprising a three-

complete their studies in good time. These are some of the

26
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Prof Siphamandla Zondi, regional mentor in Gauteng and a professor of political science at the University of Pretoria, with doctoral students at one
of the inter-regional initiatives held at the NIHSS offices

observations of Prof Grace Khunou, regional mentor in Gauteng

The main purpose of the workshops during the year was to

and a professor of sociology at the University of Johannesburg,

provide writing space so as to facilitate completion, as candidates

who emphasises the importance of assisting doctoral students

had expressed concern over a lack of uninterrupted writing

to stay motivated and find solutions to their challenges during

time. “Another important need was for feedback on their work,”

their PhD time.

says Prof Khunou. “Thus, these workshops included the aspect
of providing feedback on submitted chapters, which in most

A positive atmosphere is characterised by openness and

instances were completed in the workshops. This contributed in

persistence. “The candidates are encouraged to read and re-read

significant ways to progress for most of the candidates.”

so as to gain more of an advanced knowledge, ask questions, see
their struggles with the process as an opportunity to do better

Some of the candidates were able to complete book chapters

in how they ask questions and see solutions,” says Prof Khunou,

and journal articles during the workshops. “So these mentorship

whose mentorship activities for 2018/19 included presenting

interventions have not only been useful for the production of

three regional writing workshops and six “shut-up-and-write”

PhDs but also allowed the candidates to contribute to the South

sessions for students (involving the intentional creation of quiet

African publishing landscape.”

writing time).
“A majority of candidates display superficial understanding
“We also used positive peer pressure to inspire,” she says.

of the role of theory in academic writing and tend to dwell on

“This positive peer pressure not only improved the speed of

the ethnographic narrative without problematising the context

completion but it also assured the candidates with difficulties

and conceptual frame,” says Prof Paulus Zulu, a social sciences

that the challenges they had were not insurmountable, and thus

professor and regional mentor based at the University of

they were inspired to find solutions.”

KwaZulu-Natal.
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Gauteng and Northern Corridor inter-regional workshop held on 14 and 15 September 2018 at the NIHSS offices, bringing together
students from different universities to interact and learn the various aspects of doctoral studies

According to Prof Zulu, candidates’ participation in doctoral

“This concerns a wide range of skills on academic citizenry but

workshops had contributed to a marked improvement in both

principally it concerns how our students relate to each other’s

the conceptual and developmental aspect of the dissertations

work. How peers take the work of others seriously by providing

concerned. “The quality definitely improved among a significant

well-prepared input is absolutely vital to the health of a growing

number of candidates.” He adds, “It needed more than the

intellectual community.”

workshops, however,” noting that part of the problem is the
quality of supervision. Weekend writing workshops planned for

Outlining the activities of the Eastern Cape Doctoral School

2019 could assist by enabling close mentorship at the various

during the year, Prof Hendricks says these were comprehensive

stages of developing theses.

and varied. “We managed to hold a large number of interventions
for all levels of our students.”

Assisting students to complete their PhDs is the major
accomplishment of the NIHSS doctoral mentors – but they

When doctoral programmes are properly run, the aims of

also play a wider role. “We also make the students aware of

social justice and scholarly rigour can co-exist. Says Prof Jessica

the broader purposes of their degrees in national, global and

Murray, a Free State and North West regional mentor and a

continent context,” says Prof Frederick (“Fred”) Hendricks,

humanities professor at Unisa:

humanities professor at Rhodes University and a roving regional

“What we are doing here is much more than producing PhDs,

mentor in the Eastern and Western Cape. “In addition, we are

though this is, of course, a crucial component of our work. For

contributing in no small way to developing communities of

me, my work as a mentor is about building the kind of society we

scholars who are alive to the ethical responsibilities we face.”

all wish to live in by equipping our students to go out … and ask
not only the right questions but be able to design interventions

The mentors are finely attuned to the importance of properly

that will make the changes that are necessary for the creation of

inducting

a just and equitable world.”

their

“budding

students”

environment, Prof Hendricks says:
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Prof Murray said the Doctoral Schools interventions produced
excellent results:
“Through our interventions, we are helping our doctoral
candidates to become exceptional critical and analytical
thinkers who will be ready to develop the creative higher
education pedagogical interventions that South Africa will need.
In addition, they will have the skills and expertise to implement
those interventions successfully.”
What worked particularly well in the year under review were
the special interventions, in the form of structured mentoring,
for high-risk students. The support provided to these students
included regular contact, an electronic performance-tracking
template and unannounced library visits.
Another highly successful undertaking was the inter-regional
initiative, says Prof Siphamandla Zondi, professor of political
science at the University of Pretoria and a Gauteng regional
Doctoral School mentor. Students found the feedback,
ambience and peer-learning climate at the conference very
useful. “One of our students overcame a major fear of audience
and an issue of self-confidence to the point that she has
participated in two more public presentations for the first time
in three years.”
The inter-regional workshop was also invaluable for the mentors:
“It enabled regional mentors and the roving mentor to plan

The NIHSS 2018/19 mentors
Prof Grace Khunou
(UJ)

Gauteng Doctoral School

Prof Siphamandla Zondi
(UP)

Gauteng Doctoral School

Prof Nhlanhla Maake
(Wits)

Roving mentor, Gauteng
Doctoral School

Prof Kgomotso Masemola
(Unisa)

Free State & North West
Doctoral School

Prof Jessica Murray
(Unisa)

Free State & North West
Doctoral School

Prof Alpheus Masoga
(Univen)

Northern Corridor Doctoral
School

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize
(UKZN)

KwaZulu-Natal Doctoral School

Prof Thandekile Magojo
(UKZN)

KwaZulu-Natal Doctoral School

Prof Paulus Zulu
(UKZN)

KwaZulu-Natal Doctoral School

Prof Fred Hendricks
(RU)

Roving mentor, Eastern &
Western Cape Doctoral School

Prof Kishore Raga
(NMU)

Eastern Cape Doctoral School

Prof Hendrik Kotze
(SU)

Western Cape Doctoral School

Prof Charlyn Dyers
(UWC)

Western Cape Doctoral School

together … It also meant we got a lot of guidance among each
other, giving the roving mentors a lot of opportunities to mentor
us too. This was very beneficial and should be increased in future.”
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4. NATIONAL DOCTORAL “WRITING-UP” WORKSHOPS
Writing masterclass workshops focused on writing and
communication skills
In line with the Institute’s core objective of advancing
postgraduate scholarship through a range of innovations, the
NIHSS partnered with publishing group Taylor & Francis and
hosted writing masterclasses facilitated by The Conversation
Africa, a non-profit online academic/journalism publication. The
workshops, held on 18 and 21 May 2018 at the NIHSS offices,
served as interactive introductory sessions on how to write for
and improve skills in communicating to a broader audience,
outside academia. More specifically, the workshop addressed
the following issues:
• The difference between writing for journals, and science

Participants at one of the writing masterclasses hosted jointly
by the NIHSS and publishers Taylor & Francis and facilitated by
The Conversation Africa

communication/writing for a wider audience outside an
academic’s community of practice;
• How to establish key messages;
• How to engage the media and journalists; and
• How to join a growing network of over 1,500 African
researchers who have written for The Conversation sites, with
article reads exceeding 17 million globally.

5. ANNUAL NATIONAL DOCTORAL CONFERENCE
4th Annual National Doctoral Conference celebrates
second cohort of PhD graduates
During the financial year under review, over 200 HSS scholars
gathered at the NIHSS 4th Annual National Doctoral Conference
(28 October–01 November 2018).

Prof Rose Boswell, Sahuda deputy president and Executive Dean of
the Faculty of Arts at Nelson Mandela University

Prof Baba Tshotsho, Humanities Dean of Fort Hare University,
highlighted in her keynote address that “doctoral scholars
are considered a viable national resource as they are key in
addressing societal challenges”.
She continued: “PhD studies involves identifying the needs of
our societies, asking pertinent questions – aligned with empirical
research – and innovatively proposing solutions to the issues at
hand.” Prof Tshotsho noted that the graduates are in a position
to make a difference and contribute to the world of knowledge.
“The NIHSS has put HSS on a par with other disciplines.”
The 100th PhD fellow to graduate at the gala dinner was part of
the NIHSS’s second cohort of graduates. Dr Kagiso TK Pooe –
widely known as “TK” – from North-West University, is driven by
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More than 200 HSS scholars gathered at the NIHSS 4th Annual National Doctoral Conference (28 October–01 November 2018).

his belief in making a meaningful and valuable contribution to

are advancing inclusion and social cohesion in investigative and

the country. He was among the first doctoral students to receive

aesthetic practices”. In her provocative address, Prof Boswell

funding from the NIHSS to complete his PhD.

highlighted increased demand for the HSS to provide training
and support in the public sector on ethical leadership and

One of the points TK emphasised was that the real work for

service delivery. Furthermore, she noted a global increase in the

the PhD graduates begins now: “The real pay-off for the NIHSS

“recognition and pursuit of aesthetic humanistic endeavours,

is not what you are today, but what you are going to be when

literature, musical compositions and design”.

you assume a position of influence and power,” stated TK,
encouraging the graduates to ask themselves whether they are
making a real difference as they journey through life.
Prof Rose Boswell, Executive Dean of the Faculty of Arts at Nelson
Mandela University, homed in on some of the areas where the
difference can be made in, among other things, deepening the
“Academies of Inclusion, to achieve an equal higher education
platform in society, while foregrounding the arts, humanities

... deepening the Academies
of Inclusion, to achieve an equal
higher education platform in
society, while foregrounding
the arts, humanities and social
sciences.

and social sciences”. Prof Boswell argued that exclusion
extends beyond what has traditionally been understood by
the concept: “The focus has been on the observable political
process of exclusion and not on its less observable aspects”. Her
emphasis was that social exclusion – whether due to linguistic or
cultural domination, economically dominant practices, gender
disparities – as well as the lack of focus on aspects that make up
social inclusion, demand increased attention.
Prof Boswell argued that were universities to leverage these
spaces effectively, entirely different – increased – levels of
inclusion in the higher education space could be achieved:
“Convergences are already apparent in the space of transdisciplinary research and artistic exhibitions. In these, scholars
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Strategic OBJECTIVE 2:

Dynamise the fields of research and
teaching in the humanities and social
sciences in South Africa through a
range of Catalytic Research Projects
and Humanities Hubs.

Pre-colonial historiography
Project leader: Prof Lungisile Ntsebeza
This research project challenges the widely held notion that the
arrival of Jan van Riebeeck in 1652 marks the point of departure in
studying and understanding the history of southern Africa. Although
initially framed to examine the period from the 11th century to the
16th century, the project’s retrospective reach has been left open,
ensuring that all major pre-colonial developments are covered.
In line with the collaborative ethos of the Catalytic Research
Projects programme, the network of South African universities

CATALYTIC RESEARCH PROJECTS

participating in the project has grown from three to six and,
furthermore, has crossed the border into Mozambique; a

The Institute awarded extension/renewal grants to seven

colleague from the Institute of Arts and Culture in Mozambique,

Catalytic Research Projects for the 2018/19 financial year. A

who is also the curator of the Maputo Fortress National Historical

further 10 previously awarded and funded Catalytic Research

Monument, has joined the project.

Projects were monitored. These projects covered a wide range
of topics, some of which have not previously been researched

Four Working Groups have been established to take the

in any great depth. Summaries of some of these projects follow.

project forward. An Education group is developing educational
materials, and a Public History and Heritage Preservation

Experiences of death, dying and bereavement in three
African communities in Limpopo Province
Project leader: Prof Tholene Sodi
Death, mourning and funeral rituals have great meaning and
significance in Africa. This research project, which has to date
involved more than 120 interviews with bereaved people
representing three African language groups in Limpopo Province,
comprehensively

investigates

practices

and

observances

relating to death, dying and bereavement.
The research encompasses bereavement, healing and care;
symbols of death, dying and bereavement; funerals and funeral
rituals; mourning and mourning rituals, and support systems
for the bereaved. The findings will enable the researchers to
develop a culturally informed conceptual framework to explain the
experiences of death, dying and bereavement. The findings will
also help in developing a culturally relevant grief-counselling
model that will be used in the future to help people manage the
psychological and sociological consequences of losing a loved one.

Prof Tholene Sodi, leader of the project “Experiences of death, dying
and bereavement in three African communities in Limpopo Province”
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Management group is focusing on sites that have been bulldozed
or vandalised. Ethics is the terrain of a third group, which is
focusing on policies and legal frameworks around confidentiality
and who speaks for whom. The fourth group, Organic
Intellectuals and Universities, is consolidating links between
university-based intellectuals and organic intellectuals (the
latter referring to intellectuals who are rooted in communities
and interested in knowing about and in some cases writing the
histories of their families, clans or broader communities).
The four Working Groups will report on their work at the project’s
third conference, in 2019.
A comparative analysis of liberation war radios in
southern Africa, 1960s to 1990s
Project leader: Prof Sekibakiba Lekgoathi
Despite the proliferation of research on the liberation struggles in
southern Africa, there is a dearth of research on the media that

Prof Lungisile Ntsebeza, project leader for “pre-colonial historiography“

the liberation movements employed, particularly radio. The little
research that has been done tends to have a narrow, national
focus rather than looking at these radio stations comparatively.
Through a comparative approach, this project seeks to make a
contribution to advancing regional scholarship on the histories
of these radio stations and their contestation of the colonial/
apartheid states’ monopoly of the airwaves.
The scholars involved in this collaborative research project
are drawn mainly from South Africa, Mozambique, Zimbabwe,
Namibia and Angola, though three are based at universities in
the Global North (two in the USA, and one in Western Europe).
All of the scholars focus on liberation war radio stations in
southern Africa. Such collaboration has the potential to catalyse
bigger conversations and synergies among scholars of liberation
war radio stations across the African continent and to take
scholarship to a higher level.
Narrative Enquiry for Social Transformation (NEST)
Project leader: Prof Bhekizizwe Peterson
Narrative studies are emerging as an important vehicle for
promoting the creative work of “ordinary” people and broadening
public interest in intellectual and cultural products, whether in
the form of the written word or films, theatre and other narrative
platforms. NEST’s success in the art of the narrative was amply
demonstrated in 2018 through the recognition received for the
expertise and output of its researchers and postgraduate students.

Promotional poster for the award-winning film The Bicycle Man, an
output of the “Narrative Enquiry for Social Transformation (NEST)”
project led by Prof Bhekizizwe Peterson
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Hidden Voices Series
Four

postgraduate

students

represented

NEST

at

the

No. 2: Flashes in Her Soul:

Participatory Action Research Winter Institute run by the

The Life of Jabu Ndlovu,

Graduate Centre of the City University of New York (CUNY), and

by Jean Fairbairn, with

NEST’s Prof Jill Bradbury was a keynote speaker at the University

a new introduction by

of Helsinki’s international conference themed “Home Matters:

Debby Bonnin

Meanings, Metaphors and Practices”. Prof Bhekizizwe Peterson’s

(Jacana Media, 2018)

short film titled The Bicycle Man won the Silver Stallion and EU-

This

ACP Prize at the 25th Pan African Film and Television Festival.

published in 1991 by the
Natal

book

was

Worker

first

History

During 2018, NEST commissioned four postgraduate students

Project. It chronicles the life of the union shop steward

to collect the life stories of older people (grandparents) through

and community activist Jabu Ndlovu, who lived near

interviews. The work commenced with a workshop highlighting

Pietermaritzburg in KwaZulu-Natal and who was

interviewing as an art form and means of community building,

assassinated in 1989, a victim of the violence that

after which the four students conducted 49 interviews with older

dominated the province for many years. The 2018

people in the Western Cape, Eastern Cape and Gauteng.

edition includes a new introduction, by Prof Debby
Bonnin, a historian at the University of Pretoria; in it she

Hidden voices: Left thought under apartheid

details the political and economic history of the area

Project leader: Prof Edward Webster

and provides the context for the events surrounding
Ndlovu’s life and death. Flashes in Her Soul was officially

The project has to date produced four books, as well as leading

launched on 12 June 2018 in Imbali Township in

to participation in a variety of book launches, discussion groups,

Pietermaritzburg, where Jabu Ndlovu lived and where

workshops and seminars based on the publications. Three of these

she was fatally wounded when her house was fire-

publications constitute the Hidden Voices Series, which the project

bombed.

has produced in collaboration with Jacana Media. Two books in this
series were published in the year under review, with the final book

Hidden Voices Series

due for publication in 2019. The project has also supported four

No. 3: The Story of One

masters-level interns at the University of the Witwatersrand.

Tells the Struggle of All:
Metalworkers under
Apartheid, by Mandlenkosi
Makhoba and Petrus Tom,
with a new introduction
by Paul F. Stewart
(Jacana Media, 2018)
In the mid-1980s, Ravan
Press published two books in what was meant to be an
ongoing series of autobiographies by worker activists:
they were the stories of Mandlenkosi Makhoba, a
foundry worker in Boksburg, and Petrus Tom, a
steelworker in Vereeniging and later a union organiser.
The NIHSS has republished these two short pieces in
one volume, along with a chapter on Ravan Press and its
Worker Series, which can itself be considered a “hidden
voice”. This new chapter was written by Paul Stewart,
a sociologist at the University of Zululand, who was

Prof Edward Webster (right), the project leader for “Hidden voices:
Left thought under apartheid”, and Prof Siphamandla Zondi,
facilitating discussions at the book launches held at the NIHSS offices
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HUMANITIES HUBS
In the 2018/19 financial year, the Institute continued working
with its various Humanities Hubs by monitoring their progress
and/or providing additional support and funding, most notably
in the case of the Market Theatre Foundation (MTF) Humanities
Hub. As with the Liliesleaf Humanities Hub Schools Outreach
Programme, the NIHSS has committed to collaborating on the
MTF Schools Outreach Programme.
Liliesleaf Humanities Hub
Through its outreach programmes, Liliesleaf has been taking the
rich history of the liberation struggle to learners in schools often
overlooked by such initiatives. In May and June 2018, nine schools
participated in the Liliesleaf Quest for Democracy programme:
participating schools included the Hope School, whose learners

The Deputy Minister of Basic Education, Enver Surty, addressing the
audience at the Liliesleaf Quest for Democracy programme

have considerable physical challenges, and St Vincent School for
the Deaf, along with two schools in remote areas.
The programme saw participating learners and teachers
meeting and talking with stalwarts from the struggle, viewing
a historical documentary and engaging in discussion on lesserknown aspects of the struggle, such as the role that Sweden and
Norway played in the liberation of South Africa.
Grades 10 and 11 learners from the same schools were then
invited to take part in an exciting new venture, the hub’s pilot
essay symposium. Drawing on their experience with Liliesleaf,
the learners wrote essays highlighting why an understanding
and knowledge of history is important. A five-person panel
of adjudicators, among them the Deputy Minister of Basic

As part of the Liliesleaf Quest for Democracy programme, the
overall essay-writing winner, Tamsyn Zeta James, and her school
received cash prizes of R10,000.

Education, Enver Surty, selected the six winning essays. The
overall winner, Tamsyn Zeta James, and her school, the National
School of Arts, received cash prizes of R10,000.
The third main activity of the hub was the mobile exhibition
of the history and role of the ANC military wing, Umkhonto we
Sizwe (MK), and that of the recruits who left the country for
military training in the 1950s and 1960s. The exhibition was
officially launched at Liliesleaf as part of the MK conference in
March 2018, in which over 80 people participated.
Freedom Park Humanities Hub
Unlike many conventional museums, Freedom Park, which hosts
this Humanities Hub, uses storytelling and oral performances,
both of which are ancient African methodologies, to educate and
entertain. The Tshwane-based hub put these methodologies to

Winners of the Liliesleaf Quest for Democracy essay-writing competition
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good use in 2018 through a series of educational programmes

creativity and workshop space, located in the Amathole

that

wider

Mountains in Hogsback, 33 km from the Alice campus.

youth population. In 2018, the hub hosted the 5th Ungasali

These activities take place in the former home of the late

International Storytelling Festival, for 1,060 learners from schools

anthropologist Monica Hunter Wilson and can accommodate up

in Gauteng, Mpumalanga and North West Province, and presented

to 30 people.

reached

school

learners,

students

and

the

education outreach programmes on ideas of race, historical
moments of resistance, and the road to democracy, among others.

One of the hub’s two main academic projects is the Eastern
Cape Intellectual Heritage and Values project, which follows

International and African solidarity with the liberation struggle

on the colloquium held on the topic in October 2017. The

in South Africa is an important theme for the hub, which is part

outcomes include a video featuring in-depth interviews with the

of the continent-wide Resistance and Liberation Heritage Route
project and has established the Pan African Archives (PAA). The
latter uses oral history techniques to record audiovisual material,
a recent example being dialogues with female activists and
leading figures from Southern African Development Community
(SADC) countries. The Institute’s contribution has enabled the
Freedom Park Humanities Hub to acquire new equipment for
recording and digitising PAA material.
Lwandle Migrant Workers Humanities Hub
Housed at the Lwandle Migrant Labour Museum in the Strand,
40 km from Cape Town, the Migrant Workers Humanities Hub

A staff member of the Lwandle Migrant Labour Museum
showing visitors around

embodies the notion of inclusive knowledge generation that takes
place in communities and not just in physical places of learning.
The community of Lwandle responded with justifiable pride when
receiving the news on 24 September 2018 that Hostel 33, the only
remaining hostel used during the migrant labour system, had
been declared a provincial heritage site.
The hub has held workshops on the importance of the Hostel
33 site and its relevance to the community, and has established
a programme, Youth Connect, for youth in Lwandle, Nomzamo,
Zola and surrounding areas. The aim is to encourage young
people to become involved in museum activities and to discuss
the challenges they face, with a view to finding solutions.

The hub has held workshops on the importance of the Hostel 33 site and
its relevance to the community, and has established a programme, Youth
Connect, for youth in Lwandle, Nomzamo, Zola and surrounding areas.

Theatre Fridays are held on the first Friday of each month at the
museum, coordinated by Kuyakhanya Productions, a not-for-profit
organisation in the community arts arena. In November 2018, the
museum hosted an awards ceremony to show appreciation for the
support that audience members had shown the museum and the
group of artists. Workshops on heritage and research, along with
training in photography, have been held for members of the group.
Land and Intellectual Heritage Hub (hosted by
Hunterstoun Centre, Eastern Cape)
Hunterstoun Centre is the University of Fort Hare’s writing,
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colloquium participants, documenting their own intellectual and
values heritage. The Hunterstoun Centre has identified further
related areas requiring documentation and research.
A colloquium was also held on the second academic project,
which is under the theme “The Land: Ownership, Governance
and Sustainability”. Project participants include policy makers
and researchers who contributed to the High-level Panel on
Land Reform. The main focus of the colloquium presentations
was the slow and inadequate response to land issues in South
Africa after 1994 and the role that Hunterstoun and the
University of Fort Hare can play in exploring land issues from a
research community and policy perspective.
The Land and Intellectual Heritage Hub has generated six
videographed land stories, documenting six families’ experiences
of possession, dispossession and repossession. The videos tell
a compelling story of how families living in the Tyhume Valley
and catchment area have been consistently and continually

The Land and Intellectual Heritage Hub has generated six
videographed land stories, documenting six families’ experiences of
possession, dispossession and repossession.

disadvantaged by dispossession and other discriminatory policies
and action over generations. There is potential, as a powerful
advocacy tool, for a documentary consolidating the six stories.
Ecosystems and Indigenous Knowledge Hub
Hosted by iSimangaliso Wetland Park in KwaZulu-Natal, this hub
is establishing an ethnographic archive of existing knowledge of
contemporary social life of people living in the region. The initial
emphasis has been on conceptualising the archive, including
how best to construct, store and exhibit it, and on initiating
two MA studies, one on entrepreneurship and the other on the
social life of the uMfolozi River.
The study on entrepreneurship explores the ideas of
personhood and self of entrepreneurs in rural enterprise
accelerator programmes. It looks at people’s understanding
of themselves, learning and success, as well as the relations,
networks and resources they draw on. It also examines, among
other issues, the economic context of the entrepreneurs, such

The Hunterstoun Centre is the University of Fort Hare’s unique African
space for research, creativity and reflection, as well as the generation
and sharing of new ideas and knowledge. Here, colloquium participants
are seen documenting their own intellectual and values heritage.

as the economies they form part of and what sources of value
and capital support local livelihoods.

timber plantation productivity, and popular assertions to land
and peasant agriculture.

The research into the social life of the uMfolozi River seeks to
understand various social, economic and political concerns that

Research is also being conducted, in partnership with the

are brought together in, through and by the river. The research

University of Zululand, on the production of material culture

explores shifting ideas of culture, social forms, political authority

and intergenerational transmission of knowledge. A series of

and environmental change, including the confluence of activities

workshops is planned in which elders can teach youth about

such as mineral extraction, wetland restoration, sugar and

knowledges, techniques, styles and materials.
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Origins Hub
The history of early humans in Africa, including their rock art
and early stone tools, is the focus of the Wits Origins Centre,
which hosts the Origins Hub. This ties in well with the renewed
emphasis on South Africa’s past in school history, especially
in the light of the Report of the History Ministerial Task Team
released in May 2018.
The Institute’s support for the Origins Hub revolves around two
programmes: the installation of a rock engraving archive, and
education programmes for history teachers and primary- and
high-school learners. During the year under review, in response
to the call of the History Ministerial Task Team, the centre made
preparations for a lecture series aimed at providing history

Origins Hub “skull” artefact, from the Wits Origins Centre

teachers and learners with the latest information on aspects of
the African past that appear in the social sciences and history
curriculum.
The task team’s recommendations are also informing the work
of the team developing educational materials for teachers to
use, copy or experience, and the centre has allocated space for
a teachers’ resource centre. The intention is to expose teachers
to the kind of evidence that archaeologists and palaeo-scientists
use to interpret the past.
The installation of the centre’s planned rock engraving archive
is under way and the new facility is expected to open during the
course of 2019.
Robben Island Museum Humanities Hub

Learners exploring – Part of the Origins Hub’s outreach programme
supported by the NIHSS

Robben Island, with its layered history, presents itself as an ideal
vehicle for the creation and development of a social dialogue about

The interviews were conducted early in 2018 in Polokwane,

the triumph of the human spirit over adversity and injustice. By

Thohoyandou and Johannesburg. All interviews were then

documenting the stories of every person who was incarcerated

edited in a way that ensured the best picture and sound quality,

on Robben Island, and highlighting the plight of those whose

without omitting any of the footage, thus ensuring the interviews

loved ones were incarcerated there, the project is committed to

are shown in their entirety.

providing a revolutionary interpretation of the island – one that
celebrates the strength and resilience of the human spirit.

Market Theatre Foundation Humanities Hub
Culture was a potent weapon of the liberation struggle, as

The project consists of videographed life-history interviews with

embodied by the cultural boycott under apartheid. Now, under

ex-political prisoners, starting with 19 former prisoners from

democracy, art and culture can be harnessed to enable social

Limpopo Province (or, if they have since passed away, with their

healing and build social cohesion.

family members). The researcher conducting the interviews
gently encourages the participant to tell his story in his own

The powerful role of art and culture in the struggle was

words – and own language. Researchers were required to be

explored in depth during the 2018 congress of the Atelier for

fluent in the three main African languages spoken in Limpopo

Young Festival Managers, jointly hosted by the Market Theatre

Province: Sepedi, Tshivenda and Tsonga.

Foundation, University of the Witwatersrand and European
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Festivals Association. Held on African soil for the first time – a
milestone attributed to the support of the NIHSS – the congress
attracted 27 international delegates, including 17 representing
African festivals. The event included site visits to landmarks such
as the Apartheid Museum, the Cradle of Humankind, the Hector
Pieterson Museum and the South African Constitutional Court,
so that delegates could gain a deeper understanding of South
Africa’s liberation journey and the quest for a fully functioning
constitutional democracy.
The Market Theatre Foundation Humanities Hub reached 1,429
learners from nine schools in Soweto, Tembisa and central
Johannesburg. The productions were the Gibson Kente Music
Tribute, in honour of Gibson Kente, the father of township theatre;
The Train Driver, in memory of the deaths of Pumla Lolwana and
her three children on railway tracks in Cape Town in 2000; The
Little Prince, performed by the Market Theatre’s Kwasha! Youth
group; and Florence, a one-woman play about arts philanthropist
Lady Florence Phillips.

Some of the 1,429 learners from schools in Soweto, Tembisa and
central Johannesburg reached by the Market Theatre Foundation
Humanities Hub

Factory of the Arts Humanities Hub
Art and aesthetics are critical aspects of grappling with and
undoing the legacies of apartheid spatial and intellectual
planning. Public arts engagement is a pivotal part of this
process, ensuring that communities, especially those negatively
affected by past racially skewed spatial development, have the
power of expression. The Factory of the Arts Humanities Hub
contributes to this through projects such as the Laboratory of
Kinetic Objects, which challenges traditions of art education
in Cape Town and the larger region of the Western Cape while
engaging, creating and revitalising modes of interaction with
communities.
Other vehicles for engagement include the Artists in Residence
programme, master classes in directing and manipulating
puppets, public lectures, film screenings, and experimental
theatre productions such as Man in a Green Blanket.
Commemorating the Marikana Massacre, the play made its
debut in November 2018 and was named after Mgcineni Noki,
one of 34 miners gunned down at Marikana in 2012.
The Factory of the Arts had three NIHSS-funded Artists in
Residence in 2018, contributing to projects such as African
guitar, jazz and sculpture.
Using film to reconnect South Africa to liberation heroes, three
major film screenings were held:

Promotional poster for the Factory of the Arts Humanities Hub film
Life is Wonderful: Mandela’s Unsung Heroes
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• Life is Wonderful: Mandela’s Unsung Heroes looked at the stories
of Mandela’s co-defendants at the Rivonia trial;
• uKukhumbula uNokutela/Remembering Nokutela was coupled
with a public lecture; and
• Whispering Truth to Power explored the work of former Public
Protector Thuli Madonsela.
African Languages Literary Humanities Hub
The previously undocumented writings of African intellectuals
from the Eastern Cape in the 19th and 20th centuries are starting
to come to light, and progress is being made in identifying and
reconstructing African languages literary heritage sites and
routes in the province. Noting the silencing of black women
voices in past debates on African literary traditions, the African
Languages Literary Humanities Hub seeks to showcase their
particular contribution to the early literature of the Eastern
Cape. To date, a number of significant African literary sites
have been identified, such as the site where the first isiXhosa
texts were printed, and the location of Lovedale Press, where
newspapers such as Isigidimi samaXhosa, Umteteli waBantu and
Imvo zabaNtsundu were published.
In collaboration with UKZN Press, the hub published Lexicography:
Notes on Xhosa Lore and Language (1909–1934), documenting the
Cape Nguni people’s knowledge of bird science and bird folklore.
Building capacity in research into African literary traditions is a
crucial part of the hub’s work. In 2018, it hosted two MA and
three PhD students undertaking African literary research that
homes in on the Eastern Cape.

2018/19 OUTPUTS: CATALYTIC RESEARCH PROJECTS
AND WORKING GROUPS
More than 50 research outputs were reported during the year
under review by project leaders receiving funding from the
Catalytic Research Projects and Working Groups programmes,
and these included articles published in journals, books and
newspapers.
The number of outputs in the year under review was significantly
lower than the previous year’s 66 outputs, reflecting the
constraints on the NIHSS funding resources. Nevertheless, this
year’s crop of outputs attracted strong interest, with several
projects receiving international exposure, thus raising the
profile of African research:
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knowledge of bird science and bird folklore on the part of early 20th
century Cape isiXhosa-speaking people.

Number of
outputs: Catalytic
Research Projects and
Working Groups
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• Dr Detlev Krige, leader of the social life of waste catalytic art
project, presented a paper on the “Fetish of the Gift” at a
seminar at Dauphine University in Paris, France, in April 2018.
• Prof Heather Brookes of UCT chaired the 8th Conference
of the International Society for Gesture Studies, under the
theme “Gesture and Diversity”, held in Cape Town in July 2018.
This was the first time the conference was held in Africa. Prof
Brookes received funding under the Professional Associations
programme.
• Prof Mantoa Motinyane, leader of the Catalytic Research
Project titled “Towards effective language development and
application in African languages”, co-published plenary and
focus papers on language studies in times of transformation

Prof Mantoa Motinyane co-published plenary and focus papers on
language studies in times of transformation at the 20th International
Congress of Linguists.

at the 20th International Congress of Linguists.
• Prof Shirley Walters and Astrid von Kotze published an article on
popular education in the shadows of global reporting on adult
learning and education in Studies in the Education of Adults, UK.
The work of researchers associated with NIHSS-supported
projects and Working Groups was also well represented in
high-quality national and regional journals such as the Journal
of Contemporary History, the South African Journal of Higher
Education and the South African Journal of Education, among
others. Academic publishing houses that published the work
of researchers and project leaders included Unisa Press, HSRC
Press, Pan African University Press and African Sun Media.
In addition to their intellectual value, many outputs had a creative
character that enabled them to reach the public in fresh, innovative
and accessible ways. Among these were videographed interviews
of former political prisoners incarcerated on Robben Island, and a
photographic exhibition titled “Mandela’s Roots (revisited)”.
As part of their research projects, project leaders hosted various

Promotional poster for the “Gudisanani Music Education” workshop
presented by Evans Netshivhambe in April 2018 in Limpopo Province

conferences and workshops, the following being a sample:
• Evans Netshivhambe presented the “Gudisanani Music
Education” workshop in Thohoyandou, Limpopo (April 2018).
• Prof Shirley Walters hosted the 8th International Conference
of the Popular Education Network, in Cape Town ( June 2018).
• Prof Premesh Lalu hosted a screening of the film Life is
Wonderful: Mandela’s Unsung Heroes at the University of the
Western Cape ( June 2018).
• Prof Sakhumzi Mfecane hosted a “Working Group on African
Masculinities” workshop at the University of the Western
Cape (August 2018).
• Dr Mariam Seedat-Khan presented the workshop “Contemporary
Sociology: An African Perspective” (September 2018).

Prof Shamil Jeppie, who leads the project “The social life of books in
North-West Africa: Mobility and book production in Timbuktu and beyond”
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Strategic OBJECTIVE 3:
Promote the integrity, reputation
and recognition of the humanities
and social sciences within the higher
education community, the science
and technology community, and
society at large.

parts of Mandela’s early life. The viewer is thus compelled to
engage with the environment within which Mandela was formed,
bringing to mind many of the experiences he relates in the early
chapters of Long Walk to Freedom.
At

exhibition

opening,

held

at

the

University

of

Johannesburg’s Kingsway campus library on 27 August 2018,
the photographer spoke about the road he had travelled to
produce this exhibition. In retracing Mandela’s early life, Bam
was confronted with many ethical questions and approached
the villagers he met with the utmost respect. Very often, he did
not take his camera and simply listened.
The

WORKING GROUPS

the

exhibition

“Mandela’s

Roots

(revisited)”

was

also

simultaneously launched at the University of Johannesburg’s
campuses in Soweto, Doornfontein and Bunting Road in

Promoting the integrity, reputation and recognition of

Auckland Park. The exhibitions were well attended and received

the HSS

substantial media coverage. The exhibitions were curated by

A total of 17 Working Groups grants were awarded for the

artist and art historian Dr Thembinkosi Goniwe.

2018/19 financial year. The recipients were scholars from six
universities (particularly the University of the Witwatersrand),

Democratic Marxism book series

as well as research institutes, academic presses and community

This ongoing project deploys a non-Eurocentric Marxist lens

history organisations (e.g. SA History Online). The NIHSS also

to examine contemporary issues such as civilisational crisis,

monitored seven previously awarded Working Groups projects

climate change and racism. Commencing in 2016 with a series

at six universities. The Working Groups have “broken the mould”

of seminars and public lectures, the series has expanded into

with some of their work, using photography, art and the written

four volumes, edited by Prof Vishwas Satgar, associate professor

word to capture the material studied.

of international relations at the University of the Witwatersrand.

Photographic exhibition: “Mandela’s Roots (revisited)”

One volume, the third in the series, was published during 2018,

After his release from 27 years of incarceration, former President

with NIHSS support. Titled The Climate Crisis: South African and

Nelson Mandela was one of the most photographed people in

Global Democratic Eco-Socialist Alternatives, it is freely available

the world. This exhibition of 27 black-and-white photographs

for download anywhere in the world and has been launched in

by Bonile Bam focuses on the landscape that formed significant

several countries, including Brazil, Canada and Germany.
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The Democratic Marxism book series is an ongoing project that deploys a non-Eurocentric Marxist lens to examine contemporary issues such as
civilisational crisis, climate change and racism.

The NIHSS is also supporting the digitisation of the fourth volume

For one, the NIHSS’s support has had the effect of reducing the

in the series, Racism after Apartheid: Challenges for Marxism and

retail price of the books published so far. For another, the works

Anti-racism, due for publication in March 2019, after which it will

are being promoted at international events such as the 2018

be freely downloadable around the world.

African Studies Association (ASA) conference held in Atlanta
in the United States. The HSRC Press participates in over 40

In addition to the book volumes, seminars and public lectures

marketing events and book exhibitions each year, ensuring that

were presented during 2018 on topics such as fossil fuel

books that the Institute sponsors receive good exposure.

capitalism and climate justice struggles.
In addition, the books are available free on the HSRC Press’s
The Democratic Marxism project draws on the expertise of a

digital open access platform, which attracts over a million page

network of scholars in six countries: Brazil, Canada, Germany,

views and 40,000 downloads a year.

India, South Africa and the United States. Some of the project
contributors are part of the Occupy Wall Street network and

To date, 15 of the 21 books have been published, with the

climate justice movements in Ecuador, Bolivia and the Niger Delta.

remaining six due for release during the course of 2019. Books
published during 2018 include The Lone Wolves’ Legion: Terrorism,

HSRC Press partnership gives African-led research a

Colonialism and Capital; Broadcasting Democracy: Radio and

global platform

Identity in South Africa; The South African Informal Sector – Creating

A collection of 21 scholarly books from and about South Africa,

Jobs, Reducing Poverty; and At the Foot of the Volcano: Reflections on

Africa and the Global South is helping to bring African-led

Teaching at a South African University.

research in the human and social sciences to the attention of
the world.

Mapping Creative Knowledge project has an inclusive vision
Unconventional

African

creative

practices

and

social

The works, being published through a collaboration between

interventionist art have tended to be overlooked in favour of

the Institute and the HSRC Press, are not only high-quality,

museum and gallery-circulated art. Furthermore, there is a lack

evidence-based books but are also accessible to both the local

of literature on African social art history and little theoretical

book retail market and wider readerships worldwide.

material about artistic social interventionism. This Working Group
seeks to address these challenges by establishing platforms to
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develop and train young art historians so that they can contribute

work education, archaeology, geography, sociology, philosophy,

to the production of critical writing about African art.

gesture studies, music research, linguistics and political studies.

The project is a collaboration between the University of Cape
Town and the Africa South Art Initiative (ASAI). The fruits of this

Professional association

Chairperson/project leader

Society of South African
Geographers (SSAG)

Prof Luke Sandham

Association of Southern
African Professional
Archaeologists (ASAPA)

Dr Catherine Namono

South African Sociological
Association (SASA)

Dr Sonwabile Mnwana

Association of South African
Social Work Education
Institutions (ASASWEI)

Prof Adrian van Breda

English Academy of Southern
Africa

Prof Rajendra Chetty

African Association for
Rhetoric (AAR)

Dr Segun Ige

and write essays that explore specific bodies of work.

South African Society for
Research in Music (SASRIM)

Dr Mareli Stolp

PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATIONS

South African Association of
Political Studies (SAAPS)

Dr Kgothatso Shai

International Society for
Gesture Studies (ISGS)

Prof Heather Brookes

South African Education
Research Association (SAERA)

Dr Sphiwe Mthiyane

Education Association of
South Africa (EASA)

Prof Prevanand Ramrathan

collaboration in 2018 included an exhibition titled “There are
Mechanisms in Place”, featuring the work of Pamela Phatsimo
Sunstrum, the Botswana-born figurative artist and designer. The
exhibition, which ran for a month in August and September 2018,
was designed so that students and writers would be involved in
the process of setting up. It was well attended and was reviewed
in the renowned online art journal Arthrob.
Meanwhile, good progress has been made with the Working
Group’s two book projects, On the Map and Pamela Phatsimo
Sunstrum. A number of black writers have accepted the invitation
to contribute think pieces, conversations and reflective pieces
to the Pamela Phatsimo Sunstrum book, while On the Map has
issued an open call to writers, who will conduct artist interviews

The NIHSS acknowledges the important role that professional
associations play in promoting the humanities and social
sciences. In all, the Institute provided support to 13 professional
associations in a diverse range of disciplines, including social

Poster of
the SASRIM
Conference and
Annual Congress,
as well as the
SASRIM 2018
Student Workshop
- part of the NIHSS
Professional
Associations
programme
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HSS Awards 2019 ceremony held at the John Kani Theatre, Market Theatre complex, on 14 March 2019: shown are seven of the eight winners who
scooped prizes in the various categories, with some of the 28 acclaimed HSS scholars and contributors who were part of the judging panel.

4TH ANNUAL SOUTH AFRICAN HUMANITIES AND
SOCIAL SCIENCES (HSS) AWARDS 2019

the higher education community, the science and technology

Honouring and celebrating academics, curators and artists based

The wide-ranging, high-quality and substantive annual entries

at participating South African universities and working to advance

represent the most compelling work by scholars in the

the HSS

humanities and social sciences in South Africa and continue

community, and society at large”.

to provide insight into a community of scholars engaging in
The 4

Annual HSS Awards: Books, Creative Collections and

meaningful dialogue with the wider society about pertinent

Digital Contributions 2019 ceremony was held on 14 March

issues. The Awards once again publicly recognised and

2019, at the renowned John Kani Theatre, located in the Market

applauded outstanding HSS contributors and scholars who take

Theatre complex in Newtown, downtown Johannesburg. Ten

the time, thought and effort to alert us to what is wrong with our

publishers participated and over 200 guests attended the

society, what is right with it – and what is possible.

th

Awards function, at which eight winners took to the stage to
claim their well-deserved prizes.

The 2019 HSS Awards not only served as a high-profile celebration
of HSS excellence but also continued to advocate for meaningful

The HSS Awards serve as one of several strategic interventions

dialogue in all aspects of what makes us truly South African. As in

to stimulate a vibrant, dynamic HSS community, complementing

previous years, the Awards made it possible to hear new voices

the mandate and vision of our collective responsibility for

and mine for South African stories that tell of our struggles – and

achieving a transformed higher education system. As in previous

our triumphs – as we grapple with myriad societal challenges.

years, the 2019 Awards ceremony served to demonstrate the
NIHSS’s commitment to “promote the integrity, reputation

The Awards have proven an attraction not only to members

and recognition of the humanities and social sciences within

of the academic fraternity but also to representatives from
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government, business and the media. As Chair Judge Prof

Nurturing ongoing partnerships

Jyoti Mistry for Creative Collections and Digital Contributions

As the NIHSS, we recognise that winning an award is an important

summed up: “The NIHSS has created an internationally ground-

achievement for the recipients. But for us, empowerment and

breaking award(s) in recognising that artistic research is essential

recognition of achievement is an ongoing process, which is why

to knowledge production in the humanities”.

the Institute aims to continue the relationship with winners by
fostering ongoing partnerships with them. One of the ways we

Of great significance is the fact that much of the content from

delivered on this during the year under review was by incorporating

the Awards would be suitable for incorporation into higher

past winners in our HSS Awards 2019 programme. Jolyn Phillips,

education curricula. Yet again, these works attest to the fact that

the 2018 winner for Best Fiction Single Authored, took to the stage

a thriving HSS community in South Africa means more innovative

alongside Chair Judge Dr Sindiwe Magona to present the winner

ideas, which will ultimately contribute to boosting research

in the Fiction category. And Tony Miyambo, winner for Best Public

and development in the country as well as the transformation

Performance in 2018, performed for this year’s audience the very

of our higher education curriculum – in line with the National

play that last year garnered him an award.

Development Plan 2030 vision.
The 2019 judging process

Celebrating the eight HSS Awards 2019 winners

The more than 70 entries for the Awards were subjected to a

The 28 members of this year’s judging panel carefully

rigorous vetting process in terms of eligibility to compete, and

considered the more than 60 books and 10 creative

the titles that did not meet the stringent criteria were eliminated.

collection entries in three categories - Fiction,

The submissions were striking in terms of their extremely high

Non-fiction, and Creative Collections and Digital

standard, in addition to increased breadth of themes/topics

Contributions - and selected eight winners, who took

and different forms of creative practices. The 2019 HSS Awards

to the stage to claim their prizes:

judging panel, comprising 28 senior and acclaimed HSS scholars
and contributors, as in previous years exhibited unwavering

• Best Fiction Single Authored Volume was shared

commitment and passion for a revitalised and rejuvenated

by worthy joint-winners, Fred Khumalo’s Dancing

HSS. The judges carried out their task with conscientious

the Death Drill (Umuzi) and Gerald Kraak’s Shadow

thoughtfulness, employing both qualitative and quantitative
approaches and criteria to reach consensus on the winner in
each category. The judges’ adjudication meetings – characterised
by robust deliberations, with academically rigorous discussions

Play (Jacana Media).
• Recognition by David Medalie (Wits University
Press) won Best Fiction Edited Volume.
• Bongani Ngqulunga’s The Man Who Founded the

and debate – were often extremely spirited. As Chair Judge Prof

ANC (Penguin Random House) won the Best Non-

Hlonipha Mokoena for the Book: Fiction category commented:

Fiction Monograph.

It has been another year of
marvellous books. Our task as
a panel was not simply about
selecting winners; it was about
celebrating great South African
writing. This year’s entries and
submissions were no different;
every book represented all that is
best about South Africa’s literary
culture: astute, relevant, urgent
and thought-provoking.
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• The Best Non-Fiction Edited Volume prize was
claimed by Gail M. Gerhart, Teresa Barnes, Anthony
Bugg-Levine, Thomas Karis and Nimrod Mkele
(eds) for their outstanding edition From Protest to
Challenge: Volume 4: Political Profiles, 1882–1990
(Jacana Media).
• Winners in the Creative Collections category were:
»»Heidi Grunebaum and Kurt Campbell’s Athlone in
Mind (Best Exhibition Catalogue);

»»Insurrections III: The Storming by Reza Khota (Best
Musical Composition/Arrangement); and

»»“Abénaa/Alzire/Dandara/Tsholofelo” (working
title) (Best Visual Art) by Kitso Lelliott.
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DHET support for the NIHSS work
The Deputy Minister of Higher Education and Training, Mr Buti
Manamela, delivered the keynote address, during which he
assured the NIHSS of the DHET’s commitment to supporting the
Institute’s work. He also highlighted the importance of the HSS
in a world where the disciplines are constantly put up against
Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM)
programmes:

The disciplines of the
humanities and social sciences
are pivotal to how we view our
society and its transformation.
The central role that the
humanities and social sciences
play, particularly in learning, and
generally in life, cannot be taken
lightly. They teach us a range of
skills, from cognitive reasoning
to seeking solutions to societal
problems that are forever
challenging us. Therefore, the
HSS contribution to research,
which is being celebrated, is
worth time, effort and any kind
of support, which should never
be underestimated.

The DHET Deputy Minister, Mr Buti Manamela, sharing his keynote
address at the 2019 HSS Awards ceremony
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Celebrating
HSS AWARDS

2019 WINNERS

From Protest to Challenge:
Vol. 4: Political profiles, 1882–1990
Gail M. Gerhart, Teresa Barnes, Anthony Bugg-Levine,
Thomas Karis and Nimrod Mkele
(Jacana Media)
In 2008, Jacana Media proposed republishing a revised and
updated (second) edition of the entire From Protest to Challenge

NON-FICTION WINNERS

Series, which is a multi-volume account of the struggle to
achieve democracy and end racial discrimination in South Africa.

BEST NON-FICTION EDITED VOLUME

Prof Gail Gerhart agreed to oversee the revisions and, within the
limits of space and time available, to update the original series to
take into account more recent academic work by other authors.
Finally, the six-volume series is now completed.
From Protest to Challenge Volume 4: Political Profiles, 1882–1990 is
a rich trove of knowledge, profiling over 600 individual activists
who played important political roles during the century before
the abolition of apartheid in 1990. Among those included are
John Dube, Clements Kadalie, Albert Luthuli, Steve Biko, Beyers
Naudé and Joe Slovo, as well as Ellen Kuzwayo, Jay Naidoo,
Robert McBride, P.K. Leballo and Patricia de Lille.
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BEST NON-FICTION MONOGRAPH

Winner of the Best Non-Fiction Monograph, Bongani Ngqulunga, for
The Man Who Founded the ANC

black settlement at the time when opposition to it was gaining
momentum, became an adviser to and confidant of African
royalty, and was considered a leading visionary for black economic
empowerment. And yet, when he became president general of
the ANC in the 1930s, he brought it to its knees through sheer
ineptitude and an authoritarian style of leadership. On more
than one occasion he was found guilty of breaking the law, which
contributed to him being struck off the roll of attorneys.
The Man Who Founded the ANC

The Man Who Founded the ANC discusses in detail Seme’s

Bongani Ngqulunga (Penguin Random House)

extraordinary life, tracing it from his humble beginnings at
Inanda Mission to his triumphs and disappointments, across

The Man Who Founded the ANC is the biography of Pixley ka Isaka

continents, in his public and private life. When Seme died in 1951

Seme, which deservedly won the 2018 Alan Paton Award. It is not

he was bankrupt, and his political standing had suffered greatly.

a hagiography, but a balanced, well-researched account, spelling

And yet he was praised as one of the greatest South Africans

out Seme’s achievements and not shying away from his failings

ever to have lived. For all this, he has largely been forgotten. This

or the controversies he was involved in.

biography brings the remarkable life of this extraordinary South
African back to public consciousness.

In 1912, just over a year after returning from his studies at
Columbia and Oxford, the 30-year-old Pixley ka Isaka Seme
succeeded – where others had failed – in forming a political
organisation that represented all black South Africans. Seme also
established a national newspaper, became one of the pioneering
black lawyers in South Africa, bought land from white farmers for
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FICTION WINNERS
Cumulatively, their stories tell of a history tainted by
BEST FICTION EDITED VOLUME

misrecognition but not, finally, bound by it. Among the
contributors are some of our best-known short-story writers:
Pauline Smith, Herman Charles Bosman, H.I.E. Dhlomo, Can
Themba, Nadine Gordimer, Alex La Guma, Miriam Tlali and a
host of other eminent writers. There is also a selection of vibrant
newer voices: Makhosazana Xaba, Nadia Davids, Mary Watson,
Lindiwe Nkutha, Wamuwi Mbao and Kobus Moolman.
Chronologically, the collection ranges from the 1920s to the 21st
century. It builds on its predecessor, Encounters, but devotes
significant attention to the transitional and post-apartheid
years: almost half the stories were published after 1994. The
anthology includes a generous and detailed introduction,
written by Medalie, which traces the motif of recognition,
discusses the general characteristics of short stories and the
narrative devices used by writers, and includes a brief analysis
of each short story. Recognition is bound to elicit in readers an
appreciation of context as well as the craftsmanship involved in
telling a memorable tale.
HSS Awards judge’s comment:

Recognition: An Anthology of South African Short Stories
David Medalie (Wits University Press)
The lives of South Africans have always been interwoven in
complex ways. There is a long history of division, but also of
profound (and often surprising) instances of mutual recognition.
Recognition is an exciting anthology of short stories, published
in 2017, in which 22 South African writers render these intricate
connections. The writers whose stories have been selected use
the transformative power of the imagination and the unique
appeal of the short story to illuminate aspects of our past
and present.

Drawn from the vast quarry
of South African writers, this
edited anthology is no doubt
substantive in its content. The
content is well articulated in
the sense of the
chronological and thematic
ordering of the tales. This
provides a sense of both
continuity and coherence
overall. Evidently, with
many good writers chosen
to populate its pages, the
anthology boasts the best that
South Africa has to offer.
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BEST FICTION SINGLE AUTHORED VOLUME

Joint-winner of Best Fiction Single Authored Volume, Fred Khumalo,
accepting his award for Dancing the Death Drill

historical text. Rather, the author uses the Mendi as a
springboard from which to launch a conversation on the subject
of black men serving in wars that were not theirs and, of course,
official recognition (or lack thereof) of their selflessness. The
author provides a sense of the men’s different backgrounds and
then cleverly gets the reader to scratch the surface and uncover
the human beings beneath. And while the book challenges
orthodoxy on many fronts, it also seeks to celebrate the
ordinariness of these extraordinary men of the SS Mendi.
Furthermore, the book is a challenge to historians and citizen
activists alike to revisit the story of the men of the Mendi in all its
intricacies: the recruitment process; what really happened when
the ship went down; how the survivors fared in France; and, of
course, the embarrassing chapter of what happened to those
men who came back home after the war, only to be told that, as
they had not served in France as proper soldiers, they would not
get official recognition even in terms of medals.
Dancing the Death Drill
Fred Khumalo (Umuzi – an imprint of Penguin Random

The book exposes an injustice, and calls – through the mouths

House South Africa)

of the characters – for amends. It is, in a sense, a response to
novelist George Orwell, who apprehends the role of a writer in

This is a historical novel set in South Africa and France during World

society as follows:

War I. Based on, and inspired by, an incident that was rendered

“My starting point is always a feeling of partisanship, a sense of

insignificant by both historians and successive governments in

injustice. When I sit down to write a book, … I write it because

South Africa, it reimagines the sinking of the SS Mendi, one of the

there is some lie that I want to expose, some fact to which I want

troop ships that transported a total of 25,000 black men over a

to draw attention, and my initial concern is to get a hearing. But I

period of three years (1916–1918) to go and serve on the Western

could not do the work of writing a book, or even a long magazine

Front. In the early hours of 21 February 1917, the SS Mendi, which

article, if it were not also an aesthetic experience.”

had travelled for a full month from Cape Town, was in the middle
of the English Channel when it collided with another vessel.

The book also seeks to encourage more scholarly research into
the story of the SS Mendi and other forgotten slices of South

Within an hour, the SS Mendi had sunk completely, taking the
lives of 646 men. The book does not pretend to be a linear,
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BEST FICTION SINGLE AUTHORED VOLUME
As he falls into a different rhythm of life, and as contented as he
is in a loving relationship and a job in a music store, he finds that
the pull of his homeland never leaves him. When he receives
an unexpected call from a former activist comrade, he makes a
decision that will put at risk everything he has built in his new life.
And when he meets Mandla for the first time, he knows there will
be no going back. In the deceptive ease and heady freedom of
a cosmopolitan city, where liberal attitudes of Amsterdammers
towards politics and sexuality are accepted as the norm,
Matthew considers possibilities open to him that would have
been impossible even to envision in his home country. But
the reality of living as a refugee and an immigrant in Europe
begins to intrude and, with it, a new and sometimes disquieting
understanding of protest politics and the liberal ideal. For
Mandla, directions to a liberated country that were once clear to
him and untainted by self-interest and the seduction of power,
become blurred at times and increasingly uncomfortable. Both
men are prompted to search deep in their hearts when asked
to make choices that challenge them morally, personally and
politically.
HSS Awards judge’s comment:

Shadow Play
Gerald Kraak, posthumously completed by Alison Lowry
(Jacana Media)

We are, as a nation,
grappling with issues of
sexuality, especially that which
is seen as non-normative, and
issues of national origin. Both
are portrayed so vividly in this
novel.

Shadow Play is a powerful novel of subterfuge, betrayal, risk and
deep bonds of friendship formed during a time of struggle and
pain while a new nation, determined to rise, faces seemingly
insurmountable obstacles.
Synopsis: When confronted with his call-up papers for the
apartheid army, with his fellow student activists either scattered
or in jail, Matthew chooses exile in Europe. In Amsterdam, he
reconnects with his friend Oliver, who is studying music there.
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CREATIVE COLLECTIONS AND DIGITAL CONTRIBUTIONS WINNERS

Best Exhibition Catalogue Creative Collections HSS Awards
2019 winners Heidi Grunebaum and Kurt Campbell (Athlone
in Mind), with Chair Judge Coral Bijoux (left)

BEST EXHIBITION CATALOGUE

a large, suspended sculpture that floats above the ground and is
cast from cement paving slabs.

Athlone in Mind
Heidi Grunebaum and Kurt Campbell

Athlone in Mind features the most advanced complementary
technologies around. The catalogue concept incorporates a

This catalogue marks the escalation of an understanding of the

number of i-beacon transmitters, able to circulate the website

social, political and artistic significance of Athlone, a suburb

and catalogue created for the exhibition to anyone who uses

in the Western Cape. Embracing this understanding (not as

a smartphone. I-beacons are small, battery-powered sensor

yet definitive) has implications for the study and practice of

devices that wirelessly communicate and transmit data to

imagination, which this catalogue attests to. Essentially, it helps

apps on mobile devices using Bluetooth technology. Once the

us reach a greater understanding of the productivity of thinking.

connection is made, the app on the mobile device is triggered

Athlone requires a collective effort rather than a solitary one,

to display content, such as video, voice, images and music

to ensure that all views – even dissenting ones – are expressed

emanating from the exhibition. Thus, people who missed the

and accommodated. Athlone in Mind engages diverse artistic

exhibition can immerse themselves in a self-service multimedia

practices, cinematic experiments and scholarly essays that

experience that they are able to store. Crucially, the i-beacon

challenge set spatial formations and temporal markers.

transmitters have been placed at sites in Athlone, Langa and
Gugulethu, offering downloadable scholarly and creative work.

The artists invited to make work for the exhibition were chosen for

In this sense, the beacons offer a digital bridge to the exhibition

their diverse artistic practices, creating a composite lens through

by ensuring that the exhibition, the catalogue and the archival

which to view and think about Athlone. The artists include Berni

content, available through the technologies used, may be

Searle, who presents a video projection titled “As the crow flies”;

accessed in real time, off site. This is the first occasion where

she evokes cinematic processes in new and exciting ways, taking

this technology has been deployed so aptly. Other bespoke

Athlone as the point of departure for her narrative about class

technological features created for this catalogue include

and equality in relation to questions of mobility. Hasan and Husain

augmented reality applications, whereby select video clips of

Essop offer large-format, high-resolution photographs that both

the artists talking about their creative processes appear on

fix and disrupt our view of those who traverse Athlone on a daily

smartphones when they’re positioned near certain images in

basis, and that are staged in day and night scenes. Zyma Amien

the exhibition catalogue. This allows for a constant walking tour

confounds our understanding of Athlone as terra firma by using

and a creative discourse crafted by the artists themselves.
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HSS Awards 2019: Best Musical Composition/
Arrangement winner, Reza Khota from UWC, accepting
the award for Insurrection III: The Storming

BEST MUSICAL COMPOSITION/ARRANGEMENT
the form of a narrative drama. The result is akin to a musical
Insurrections III: The Storming

drama, but avoids operatic cadences. It builds on the distinctive

Reza Khota

elements that the Ensemble have come to be identified with:
intense and spontaneous musical improvisation. This project

This is a compositional work loosely based on Aimé Césaire’s

has grown to produce outstanding performances. The Storming

play, A Tempest, an anti-colonial adaptation of Shakespeare’s The

consists of four thematic cycles: of longing, lamentation,

Tempest. The work involves an ensemble cast of lyricists, poets,

resistance and dissonance, and an experimental synthesis of all

performers and composers from South Africa and India. The

the moods. Using raga, ngoma/maskandi and jazz forms, each

composers involved were Sazi Dlamini from the University of

cycle is animated by a modal element, expansion, contraction

KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN); Reza Khota from the University of the

and return. The first cycle found a balance between the music

Western Cape (UWC); vocalist/guitarist Tina Schouw; Sumangala

of longing found in kora (West African) music, the Yaman raga

Damodaran, an economist and singer from Ambedkar University

(referring to Indian classical music) and the more harmonic work

in Delhi; and composer Jürgen Bräuninger from UKZN. The

of renowned Zulu choral conductor the late Reuben Caluza.

music CD was produced by Khota and published jointly by the

The second cycle moved towards a sense of khala, using the

UWC’s Centre for Humanities Research, the University of Cape

Bhairav raga scales (a melodic framework for improvisation akin

Town’s Centre for African Studies, and South African History

to Indian classical music); the third moved towards a maskandi-

Online. Known as the Insurrections Ensemble, the project

inspired free jazz; and the fourth combined everything, ranging

was initially conceived across continents in 2011. A dialogue

from Bollywood-style music to bebop to ngoma.

between India and South Africa was opened to express shared
rage in response to today’s troubled times. This led to a poetry-

We believe The Storming III is a complex work that manages the

music collaboration examining the relationship between word,

tension between the whole and its parts by highlighting the

voice and sound that found its expression in shared social and

acoustic complementarities between the instruments and the fine

political concerns. A distinctive sound emerged.

virtuosity of the performers. It is a unique dialogue between the
instruments and sounds of different traditions, and it succeeds in

The Storming has moved Ensemble members away from

creating dramatic explosions out of its treatment of words.

individually composed song-cycles towards a sustained story in
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Chair Judge Coral Bijoux congratulates Kitso Lelliott,
the winner in the category Best Visual Art, for
“Abénaa/Alzire/Dandara/Tsholofelo” (working title).

BEST VISUAL ART

castles on the African Atlantic coast, to forts in the Americas, to
grand royal palaces in Europe.

“Abénaa/Alzire/Dandara/Tsholofelo” (working title)
Kitso Lelliott

At the centre of the work is the image of a time-travelling
woman who is both ghost and ancestor, a shape shifter who

Kitso Lelliot is preoccupied with epistemologies (studies of the

has seen many different iterations of herself as she is constantly

nature of knowledge, justification and belief) and explores the

reconstituted by the contesting times and histories that form

parameters of varying realities as they are shaped through

her. As the project travels, it augments, picking up fragments and

differing epistemes. She works with history as material and

traces of each place it encounters, changing form in response to

thinks through ways of entering into engagements with pasts as

each place and its histories. She travels across space and time.

they are informed by varying knowledge systems.

Each time the work takes form in a place, her presence in that
moment transforms the space – as it transforms her – until she

The artists explains:

moves on, taking the trace with her to where she goes next.

“Through engaging with narrativising and histories, I interrogate
the ways in which knowledge coming from particular spaces,

Lelliot concludes:

and produced by certain kinds of bodies being privileged, plays

“I have presented the elements of this project in response

into the ways in which gendered and racialised enunciations are

to these places of significance and to the production of an

elided. I use the idea of elision with reference to processes of

ontological order where race and violence function in the way

disavowing the legitimacy, value or presence of ways of knowing

they do. While I have found this work very generative for dealing

and being that are ‘othered’ as they are different from hegemonic

with the historic traumas that shape my experience in the world,

norms. ... I work towards aesthetically and theoretically re-

I feel ending my PhD presents a timely juncture to explore new

membering elided narratives, reclaiming an agency to articulate

directions. ... I would like to start exploring the idea of trace, the

the histories that make me/us through dialogue that is always

elided and presencing, in a way that loosens its direct contingent

in flux, so they might produce a shape we see fit for ourselves.”

on site. I want to think through trace in a more opaque way – as
it has informed my practice, but now when those places really

Over the past few years, these preoccupations have taken the

only persist as trace, as the work is no longer physically reliant

form of video installations in site-specific locations connected by

on particular spaces.”

the Atlantic and its histories. These sites have ranged from slave
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Strategic OBJECTIVE 4:
Build and strengthen networks and
partnerships with organisations
working in areas related to the
humanities and social sciences.

politically, economically and digitally connected world. The
conference explored a multiplicity of interrelationships and
interdependencies relevant to HSS scholarship and research,
including the impact of technological interconnectedness on
humans and the HSS.
During the two-day event, it became clear that the HSS
landscape is changing swiftly and dramatically under the
influence of technological advances. Scholars, especially more
senior academics, cannot afford to fall behind.

NIHSS strategic partnerships in 2018/19 included seminars, book
launches, conferences and exhibitions with various universities.

Generation gaps

In total, during the year under review, the NIHSS hosted six

The point was made that there may be a disconnection between

strategic initiatives, three of which are discussed below.

generations of academics in the HSS. Richard Haubrich,
content director for Instagram South Africa and one of three

NIHSS–UNISA

keynote speakers at the conference, suggested that the current
“accomplished” generation of senior academics in the HSS may

A key strategic inititiative was a seminar at Unisa under the

be out of touch with the ways in which members of a younger

theme “Marches, Movements and Memories” in June 2018.

generation are connecting with one another in a highly connected
society. He encouraged the audience to see connectivity as key to

NIHSS–MISTRA

entrepreneurialism in the Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) and
to use connectivity to curate identity and present a seemingly

The Institute also co-hosted a book launch with the Mapungubwe

authentic self that is both shareable and commercialisable.

Institute for Strategic Reflection (MISTRA) in February 2019 at
the NIHSS offices, launching the book Traditional Leaders in a

The 4IR came to the fore again in a presentation titled “Will robots

Democracy: Resources, Respect and Resistance. A panel comprising

rule the world?” by Prof Alexander Broadbent, Executive Dean of

some of the book-chapter authors gave their inputs, while

the Faculty of Humanities at the University of Johannesburg. His

Obed Bapela, Deputy Minister of Cooperative Governance and

presentation, under the first day’s theme of “Art, Technology and

Traditional Affairs (CoGTA), was the respondent. Topics covered

Cultural Connectedness”, encouraged critical thinking on the

in the 13-chapter book include “traditional leadership and the

particular abilities of human beings, namely to engage in causal

African National Congress in South Africa”; “mining magnates

and associational thought – whereas robots and machines in

and traditional leadership”; and “chiefs, land and distributive

general are only able to engage in associational “thinking”. Prof

struggles on the platinum belt, South Africa”. Two of the

Broadbent argued that humans’ superior thinking skills would

chapters are opinion pieces by current traditional leaders: Nkosi

make it difficult – and thus unlikely – for robots to rule the world.

Phathekile Holomisa (chapter titled: “In defence of traditional
leadership”) and Nkosi Mwelo Nonkonyana (chapter titled: “A
long walk for traditional leadership in South Africa”).

NIHSS–SAHUDA ANNUAL CONFERENCE
“Leading the Arts and Humanities in a Connected World” was
a fitting theme for the annual conference of the NIHSS and the
South African Humanities Deans’ Association (Sahuda), held
at the Nelson Mandela University (Eastern Cape) on 18 and
19 October 2018. Deans, academics, graduate students and
artists gathered to discuss and position the HSS in a socially,

The conference explored a
multiplicity of interrelationships
and interdependencies
relevant to HSS scholarship
and research, including the
impact of technological
interconnectedness on humans
and the HSS.
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Keynote speakers dig deep
Keynote speaker Prof Jacob Dlamini, an assistant professor
of history at Princeton University in the US, enthralled the
audience on day one of the conference with his presentation
on the landscape and archive of trauma in South Africa after
the Truth and Reconciliation Commission. He noted the intensity
of racial violence in South Africa’s small towns, and questioned
why the smallest towns of the Eastern Cape have been at the
epicentre of violence in the country.
Memory and identity on St Helena Island, off the West Coast
of South Africa, was the topic of the third keynote speaker,
Prof Daniel Yon, a filmmaker and anthropologist based at York
University in Canada. His ethnographic film on identity in St
Helena highlighted the experiences of the men and women

The President of Sahuda, Dr René Smith (Executive Dean: Faculty of
Arts and Design at DUT)

abandoned and disconnected from mainland South Africa after
mining operations ceased on the island.
Ten panel discussions were held across the two days, covering
a rich array of topics dealing with interconnectedness. These
included art, poetry and cultural connectedness; decolonising
the music archive in the humanities; interrogating customs,
identity,

symbolism

and

belonging;

hermeneutics

and

education; transformation, development and reform; and
examining health, addiction and sexual violence.
The contribution that the HSS can make to other disciplines
and to the economy was highlighted, such as during a tour of
the fashion, music and architecture departments of Nelson
Mandela University and the opening of the graduate art

Prof Jacob Dlamini, historian and celebrated author, contributes at
the 1st Annual NIHSS-Sahuda Conference.

exhibition on connectivity and disciplinary leadership in the
HSS. The work presented at the exhibition included digital media
campaigns, digital renditions of socially influenced landscapes,
and photographs of digitally enhanced fashion items, including
laser-cut skirts, digitally printed fabric and digitally enhanced
patterns.
All in all, the conference left no doubt as to the multiplicity of
possibilities for HSS in an increasingly interconnected world.

Delegates in discussion at the 1st Annual NIHSS-Sahuda Conference
(Nelson Mandela University, Eastern Cape, 18 and 19 October 2018)
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Strategic OBJECTIVE 5:

Foster international research
collaborations between South
Africa, Africa, and countries of the
Global South, including Brazil, India
and China.

Learning from China’s approach to foreign- and secondlanguage teaching
Passing a module in isiZulu is one of the prerequisites for
graduating from the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN). China’s
Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University (FAFU) has a similar
approach in that all students who graduate need to complete at
least one module in English.
Through a November 2018 visit to FAFU, located in Fujian
Province, Dr Phindile Dlamini, an isiZulu lecturer at UKZN,
observed and shared pedagogical ideas on foreign- and secondlanguage teaching that will enhance her own and her colleagues’
isiZulu teaching approach. The trip, made possible through an

AFRICAN PATHWAYS PROGRAMME/BRICS TEACHING
AND RESEARCH

NIHSS Mobility Grant, also gave Dr Dlamini the idea of enriching
UKZN’s isiZulu beginner’s level 1 book by adding intermediate and
advanced books, along with an audio device. Work on the two new

A total of 12 African Pathways Programme/BRICS Teaching and

levels has already begun. However, the visit to China has opened

Research Mobility Grants were awarded for the 2018/19 financial

even more doors. Says Dr Dlamini:

year, with most of the recipients having already embarked on
their activities, which were thus well under way.
First-hand view of China’s impact on the African
Renaissance
Travelling to Kenya, Ethiopia and Nigeria for a first-hand view of
Chinese-funded and built infrastructure has given South African
researcher Dr Bryan Robinson greater insight into the impact
China is having in Africa. Says Dr Robinson, a research associate
at Nelson Mandela University: “It has been a wonderful learning
experience, and while it was certainly challenging, to say the
least, I have benefited from a greater understanding of the
complexities of the BRICS Plus relationship”.

Together with FAFU and
the Durban University of
Technology’s Confucius Institute,
UKZN is looking at holding a
conference in October 2019 on
foreign-language teaching. ... We
also agreed to work together on a
trilingual dictionary that will have
English, isiZulu and Mandarin.

Dr Robinson secured an NIHSS African Pathways Mobility Grant

While in China, Dlamini was given the opportunity to co-lecture

to conduct field research in Kenya in November 2018 and in

in English as a foreign language, as well as to participate in

Ethiopia and Nigeria in January and February 2019 respectively.

translation studies and cross-cultural communication classes. Her

In Kenya, he travelled the new Chinese-built railway between

exciting study trip to China also saw her presenting seminars and

Nairobi and Mombasa, collecting data thorough observation

public lectures on linguistic and cultural diversity, and observing

and informal discussions with commuters, tourists and the

a provincial interpreting competition (Mandarin to English and

general public. In Ethiopia, he travelled from Addis Ababa to

English to Mandarin).

Djibouti, also via the new Chinese-built railway, and visited the
Eastern Industrial Park, a Special Economic Zone developed by

“I sincerely thank NIHSS and the South African BRICS Think Tank

Chinese investors. Moving on to Nigeria, the researcher visited

for the mobility grant,” she says. “I had a very productive and

the Lekki and Ogun-Guangdong Free Trade Zones.

rewarding time in FAFU.”

During his visits, he gave presentations and lectures at St Paul’s

Nigerian scholar reveals the fine art behind

University in Kenya, Debre Markos University in Ethiopia and

political posters

Lagos Business School in Nigeria.

South African art, design and architecture students have benefited
from the expertise of Nigerian visiting scholar Dr Etiido Inyang, a
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senior lecturer in graphic design and visual communications at
the University of Port Harcourt in Nigeria.
Dr Inyang was in South Africa in October and November 2018 as part
of a lecturer exchange and collaborative art project between the

When it comes to water
resources, South Africa and
Russia have more in common
than meets the eye.

University of Port Harcourt, the Tshwane University of Technology
(TUT) and the University of Johannesburg (UJ). His visit was made
possible through an NIHSS Mobility Grant awarded to Prof Rudi de
Lange of the TUT Faculty of Arts.
While in South Africa, Dr Inyang presented guest lectures on the
work of Cuan Miles, a cartoonist with the Daily Dispatch newspaper

SOUTH–SOUTH & BRICS RESEARCH OUTPUTS 2018/19

in East London. Dr Inyang, Prof de Lange, and Prof Deirdre Pretorius
(Faculty of Art, Design and Architecture at UJ) also met to plan their

A total of 19 research outputs were reported during this financial

medium-term monograph project on posters used in political

year by project leaders in the various BRICS and international

referendums in South Africa in 1960, 1983 and 1992.

projects funded by the Institute. These research outputs include
papers presented at conferences (including the BRICS Academic

In addition, Dr Inyang participated in a short ethics training course

Forum), books, articles published in journals, and newspaper

at the Tshwane University of Technology.

articles. Of significance is the Institute-initiated BRICS Academic
Review, with three editions published in 2018.

Sharing insights on water scarcity and food security
When it comes to water resources, South Africa and Russia have
more in common than meets the eye; in both countries, as much as

OTHER BRICS RESEARCH OUTPUTS

a third of all water carried through water networks is lost through
leakage and worn-out pipes. And in India, the agricultural sector

Other research outputs from project leaders working on BRICS

is currently in deep crisis, one reason for this being the country’s

matters include a special edition journal on the theme “Cybercrime”,

extreme water stress as a result of climate change and the loss of

edited by one of the Institute’s BRICS cluster leaders, Prof Nirmala

groundwater sources.

Gopal (UKZN) and published by Acta Criminologica: The Southern
African Journal of Criminology.

Clearly, South Africa, India and Russia face some common challenges
around water supply and food security, which highlights the value

Dr Gary Gabriels (Wits) reported a journal article he co-authored

of academic and research collaboration. This was accentuated in

titled “Fluoxetine contamination in dietary/nutritional supplements

September 2018 when the University of the Free State’s BRICS Plus

(un)bridges the quality of life for the youth to the elderly consumer”,

research group held a conference under the theme “Water, Food

published in February 2018 in Medical Research Archives 6(2).

and Health Nexus in BRICS Plus: Problems, Progress and Prospects”.
Dr Maxwell Shamase (Unizulu) published a book titled BRICS
Dr TN Mphambukeli of the research group successfully applied for

Administrative Law (Inqanawe Publishers, Durban).

an NIHSS Mobility Grant to invite scholars from BRICS countries
to attend the conference in Bloemfontein. These scholars were

Dr Darlene Miller (Wits) reported a creative output in the form of a

Prof Yury Skubko of the Institute for African Studies of the Russian

documentary/DVD titled Ikhaya Kulture Garden – Making Gardening

Academy of Sciences and Dr Malancha Chakrabarty, a fellow with

Cool.

the Observer Research Foundation in India.
The commitment within the BRICS bloc to social justice and
“The participation of the scholars from Russia and India contributed

integration of marginalised or vulnerable people came across

immensely to the achievement of the conference objectives,” Dr

strongly in the various seminars and workshops held in 2018/19.

Mphambukeli says. These objectives included producing policy

Just a few examples are the seminar on universal health coverage

options for the BRICS long-term strategy, deepening collaboration

in BRICS, the workshop on the geographies of gender, and a public

among BRICS scholars and publishing an edited book.

seminar on valuing and integrating waste pickers in BRICS countries.
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Several

international

collaborative

research

projects

were

• Dr Shakila Dada (University of Pretoria)

established or monitored in the year under review:

• Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli (University of the Free State)

• Prof Louise Vincent (Rhodes University)

• Dr Nolwazi Mkhwanazi (University of the Witwatersrand)

• Dr Lindile Ndabeni (Tshwane University of Technology)

• Dr Darlene Miller (University of the Witwatersrand)

• Prof Rajend Mesthrie (University of Cape Town)

• Prof Srila Roy (University of the Witwatersrand)

• Prof Amrita Pande (University of Cape Town)

• Dr Zakhele Shamase (University of Zululand)

• Prof Vincent Sujatha (University of Cape Town)

• Dr Sibongile Tshabalala (University of Zululand)

• Prof Philani Moyo (University of Fort Hare)

• Dr Aquina Thulare (Department of Health) and Prof Charles

• Prof Sikhumbuzo Mngadi (University of Johannesburg)

Hongoro (Human Sciences Research Council)

• Prof Nirmala Gopal (University of KwaZulu-Natal)

• Dr Jaya Josie (Human Sciences Research Council)

• Prof Rozena Maart (University of KwaZulu-Natal)

• Prof Modimowabarwa Kanyane (Human Sciences Research
Council)

BRICS Academic Review
Issue 1:

Issue 2:

Issue 3: BRICS

Tapping

Highlights

– Climate,

into Africa’s

of BRICS

Civil Society

beating drum

Academic

and Media

(double issue)

Forum

By the

The maiden

Issue 2

third issue,

issue of the

zeroed in on

the BRICS

BRICS Academic

the BRICS

Academic

Review came

Academic

Review had

out in May 2018, just in time for the

Forum after it had been successfully

established its place as a credible

BRICS Academic Forum. It was important

convened by the Institute. The Academic

media platform and built an online

for this issue to capture the BRICS

Forum had a strong gender focus,

social media community of over

journey because 2018 marked the 10th

with the first ever BRICS gender and

400 members. The publication felt

anniversary of BRICS as an organisation.

equality panel being conducted at the

confident to tackle hot trending

It was also imperative both to produce

forum. Gender was thus prominently

topics: climate change, civil society

a scholarly review of the achievements

featured in the issue. Different

and media in the context of BRICS.

of BRICS and look to the organisation’s

spheres of life – from government, to

Post the 10th BRICS Summit, many

future. Contributors were encouraged

academia, workplaces, communities

questions remained unaddressed,

to give their views on how BRICS needs

and households – in each of the BRICS

and the third issue of the Review

to be reconfigured. The double size of

countries was presented through a

presented an opportunity to explore

the debut issue allowed for a variety of

gender parity lens. The photo essay

these topics with the assistance of

topics to be featured – from unpacking

“Icons Revisited” continued the gender

experts in the respective fields. The

the 2018 BRICS theme with Prof Ari Sitas,

theme, paying tribute to some of

issue robustly examined key topics

to assessing the language decolonisation

South Africa’s women trailblazers who

and in some instances made tangible

project in advertising by Prof Nhlanhla

made their mark in arts and culture,

proposals (particularly on the topic

Maake, and an insider’s guide to

politics, healthcare and other sectors.

of civil society). The issue was also

Johannesburg as the host of the 10th

They succeeded against all odds and

forward-looking by anticipating the

BRICS Summit. The issue successfully

have paved the way for today’s young

hosting of the 11th BRICS Summit by

positioned BRICS Academic Review as a

influencers: activists, entrepreneurs,

Brazil and providing an insider’s guide

source of credible and critical BRICS-

artists and environmentalists in their

to that country.

related content appealing to academics,

own right, pursuing their beliefs and

researchers and policy makers alike.

passions for the betterment of our world
rather than for instant recognition.
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Images from the BRICS
Academic Journal (Issue
2) photo essay “Icons
Revisited”, which paid tribute
to South African women
trailblazers past and present
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Members of the Peace and Security research cluster, led by Prof Nirmala Gopal

Strategic OBJECTIVE 6:
Act as a dynamic broker between
the worlds of knowledge and policy
action to strengthen the Institute’s
strategic position in the political
and social spaces that will enable it
to influence policy and knowledge
production.

Development”. The aim of the two-day meeting was to present
diverse civil society voices, including those of communities and
grassroots organisations, to the South African government that
should feed into the deliberations at the 10th BRICS Summit (the
Heads of States summit). The intention was to adopt an inclusive
approach with civil society across all of the BRICS countries in
developing the agenda to ensure that “voices from below” across
the BRICS are heard and understood.
The Civil BRICS People’s Forum provided an opportunity for
all five BRICS nations to come together and engage on policy
recommendations prior to submission to the BRICS Sherpas
South African office. The keynote addresses for the meeting
were delivered by Betsie Smith and Thando Dalamba, both from
the Department of International Relations and Cooperation

More than 30 academic events – including dialogues,

(DIRCO). Four African countries were represented at the meeting:

colloquiums and policy discussions – were co-hosted in the

Equatorial Guinea, Kenya, Zambia and Zimbabwe.

year under review as part of the South Africa BRICS Chairship
year, and specifically the South African BRICS Think Tank (SABTT)

BRICS RESEARCH CLUSTERS

hosted by the Institute.
The academic BRICS clusters used the various platforms made

BRICS CIVIL SOCIETY

available to them during the year under review to present and
discuss their findings on topics ranging from the role of BRICS

The SABTT also had the privilege of hosting the Civil BRICS

in global peacemaking; and the imperative for social justice

People’s Forum. The event took place on 25 and 26 June 2018

sustainability development; to financing of and investment

at the NIHSS offices, which serve as the SABTT headquarters,

in renewable energies; implications of the Fourth Industrial

under the theme “BRICS and Agenda 2063: Towards a

Revolution; and the role of good governance and ethics in BRICS

Prosperous Africa Based on Inclusive Growth and Sustainable

countries.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

63

B

PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

financing of clean technologies, a paper on which was presented
• Peace and Security cluster

at the BRICS Academic Forum in Johannesburg (May 2018) and

Symposium: “BRICS Peace and Security”

at the BRICS & African Development Conference at Nelson

(Project leader: Prof Nirmala Gopal)

Mandela University (August 2018).

In the face of ongoing armed conflict in regions such as the

The study focus areas included the role of the BRICS New

Middle East and North Africa, not to mention the newer threat

Development Bank, support for Green Bonds, and the use of

of global cybercrime, strengthening and consolidating BRICS

blended finance – where financing from international climate

cooperation in international peace and security is a priority.

funds is harnessed to leverage greater private participation

Exploring the role of BRICS as a cohesive strategic actor was the

and investment in clean and renewable energy. In addition,

central theme of the international symposium “BRICS Peace and

greater intra-BRICS investment in renewable energy should be

Security” held in Johannesburg in September 2018.

encouraged, the study found. To this end, an additional study
on value-chain complementarity is needed to identify avenues

Four South African institutions – the University of KwaZulu-

for investment.

Natal, the University of Pretoria, Wits University and the
Institute for Global Dialogue – joined forces with the NIHSS to

• Political and Economic Governance cluster

host the symposium. The event brought together diplomatic

Earth connections and food governance

and academic leaders from Brazil, India, Russia and South

(Project leader: Dr Darlene Miller)

Africa, and interrogated issues of peace and security through
two lenses: how BRICS can assist countries and communities in

The growth of the agricultural sector in a way that includes

conventional post-war or conflict scenarios, and how to respond

smallholder farmers is important for inclusive development.

to the menace of cybercrime and cyber-attacks. The discussions

This project on earth connections and food governance points

on responding to conventional conflict articulated innovative

to ways of including marginalised urban stakeholders, including

ways of peacekeeping and the need for a BRICS peace and

youth and women, in both political and economic governance.

security strategy/policy.
Food governance proved to be a “fertile field” for research in
The symposium was preceded by an academic forum in March

2018. The project produced eight peer-reviewed publications

2018 to consolidate the research focus area. A highlight of

and a 10-minute documentary on food gardeners, held a

the project was the academic inclusion of emerging female

writing workshop with food gardeners in the Western Cape and

researchers, who had the opportunity to participate, contribute

presented 10 conference papers.

and learn from more seasoned researchers.
One of the main themes of this work was the role of the
A special edition of a DHET-accredited journal is planned,

matriarch as a site of knowledge and power in food production

comprising papers presented during this highly successful
symposium.
• Energy cluster
Research study on the financing of clean technologies
in BRICS
(Project leader/cluster head: Dr Jaya Josie)
Given the urgency of addressing global climate change,
South Africa should collaborate with other BRICS nations to
find strategies for moving towards cleaner energy sources,
and energy financing in BRICS as a whole should reflect a
strategic focus on clean technologies. These are among the
recommendations to emerge from this 10-month study on the
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Members of the “Earth connections and food governance”project (part of the Political and Economic Governance research cluster)
led by Dr Darlene Miller

and distribution, thus challenging the limits of patriarchy.

sustainable development”, which took place at Unisa in Pretoria

Another focus was self-reliance and self-governance in the area

on 10 and 11 October 2018.

of body politics and food production and consumption. The
project has a strong “science-citizen” orientation, where food

The seminar included speakers and delegates from Brazil, India,

gardeners are not only research respondents but members of

Russia, South Africa and Zimbabwe. Guest speakers included

the research team.

Prof Alexander Livshin of Moscow State University, whose
presentation was on the non-profit sector and philanthropy

• Political and Economic Governance cluster

in Russia, Prof Aniket Salvi of the University of Mumbai, who

BRICS governance and ethics

gave a futuristic perspective on BRICS in 2050, and Prof Edson

(Project leaders: Prof Modimowabarwa Kanyane

Mutema of Midlands State University in Zimbabwe, who spoke

and Prof Werner Webb)

about combating corruption in South Africa and Zimbabwe in
the aftermath of the Jacob Zuma and Robert Mugabe

Corruption, political interference, protection for whistle blowers,

dispensations.

civil activism, and the need to relax visa protocols in the BRICS
community were some of the ethical and governance issues

At the conclusion of the international seminar, the approximately

that the project team explored during the year under review.

50 participants agreed that it was important to articulate a

Others were the mounting electricity debt of municipalities

strong position on ethics and have membership of a

in South Africa, philanthropy in countries experiencing

professional body to sharpen the discourse further.

harsh economic conditions, and the need for a stronger and
clearer BRICS voice on governance and ethics. These matters

Two planned research outputs stemming from the seminar are

were debated and highlighted at an internal workshop and

a seminal book on the proceedings, and a policy brief to inform

an international seminar, “Exploring governance and ethics

policy makers of governance and ethics issues of critical concern

architecture of BRICS countries: Implications for inclusive

and how they can be resolved.
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Water-Food-Health Nexus in BRICS Plus - conference in progress under the leadership of Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli

• Water–Food–Health Nexus in BRICS Plus

Accelerated climate change continues to threaten human

Conference under the theme of “problems, progress and

security across geographies and between genders in BRICS

possibilities around the water–food–health nexus”

Plus. Climate change has deepened the water crisis, threatened

(Project leader: Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli)

agricultural productivity and induced health challenges.
Furthermore, waste from production, preservation, distribution

“Problematic paradoxes” are being observed in waterscapes,

and consumption processes is on the increase, with attendant

foodscapes and healthscapes across BRICS Plus countries:

consequences.

overweight and underweight now coexist in the same household;
similarly, 795 million people around the world are food insecure

The conference participants collectively raised eight policy

yet a third of all food produced is thrown away. At the same time,

options, including strong collaborations between the state,

although 70% of the earth is water, two billion people lack access

civil society and knowledge organisations; the incorporation of

to clean water and sanitation.

gender and youth into policies guiding the water–food–health
nexus; and the upgrading of BRICS Plus into a more permanent

Social scientists, engineers and clinicians came together at the

organisation so that it could play a stronger role in dealing

University of the Free State from 02 to 04 September 2018 to

with the challenges identified. There was also a call for a zero-

ponder new ways of addressing practices, political economies

waste circular economy through recycling, and more equitable

and power relations associated with the troubled water–food–

distribution and consumption so as to reduce ecological

health nexus in BRICS Plus.

footprints across BRICS Plus.

The point was made that key challenges in the water–food–health

Two major outputs from the conference are proposed: a book

nexus are increases in the prevalence rates of malnutrition and

project titled The Making and Unmaking of a Volatile and Violent

mental health issues in urban and rural households alike. The

Waterscape, Foodscape and Healthscapes in BRICS Plus; and the

drivers of paradoxes such as the coexistence of overweight and

establishment of a panel on global hydro-politics, food politics

underweight include the move from family to factory food and

and human security in the age of creative destruction and

limited physical activity, among other unhealthy lifestyles.

destructive creation.
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Table 2: 2018/19 BRICS events and convenors
Event

Convenor

The South African BRICS Presidency 2018: An Inclusive Path towards Global Development *

SABTT & IGD

Socio-Economic cluster workshop *

Dr Darlene Miller

Political and Economic Governance cluster workshop

Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli

Knowledge and Innovation cluster workshop

Ashraf Patel

Peace and Security cluster workshop

Prof Nirmala Gopal

Political and Economic Governance cluster workshop

Dr Maxwell Shamase

Open Science Policy and Technology Access – A Challenge for Developing Countries

Prof Kedibone Phago

Africa and BRICS

SABTT & IGD

Energy Solutions towards Sustainable Energy Forms for South Africa (workshop)

Dr Jaya Josie

Social Justice, Sustainable Development and Quality of Life (workshop)

Dr Sibongile Tshabalala

The Politics and Poetics of the Practices of Film (conference)

Prof Jyoti Mistry

US New Imperialism and the BRICS – Imagining New Forms of Resistance (workshop)

Prof Vishwas Satgar

Language in the Indian/South Asian Diaspora (workshop)

Prof Rajend Mesthrie

Energy cluster seminar

Frank Naidoo

Innovation and Knowledge Sharing cluster workshop

Dr Aquina Thulare

Water-Food-Health Nexus in BRICS Plus: Problems, Progress and Prospects (seminar)

Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli

A Way Forward for the Fourth Industrial Revolution (youth dialogue)

SABTT & Economic Justice Network
(EJN)

BRICS Media in the Digital Age (symposium)

Prof Herman Wasserman

Cultural Dynamics in the BRICS Domain (workshop)

Prof Ari Sitas

The BRICS Political and Economic Agenda: Understanding Intra-BRICS Balance of Power
Dynamics for Good Global Governance and Transparency (seminar)

Dr Maxwell Shamase

Peace and Security cluster seminar

Prof Nirmala Gopal

Financing Clean Technologies in BRICS (seminar)

Dr Jaya Josie

Fertility Industry: New Reproduction and (Old) Stratifications (dialogue)

Prof Amrita Pande

Exploring Governance and Ethics Architecture of BRICS Countries: Implications for Inclusive
Sustainable Development (seminar)

Prof Modimowabarwa Kanyane

Towards Universal Health Coverage in the BRICS (seminar)

Dr Aquina Thulare & Prof Charles
Hongoro

Disability in the BRICS Nations (colloquium)

Prof Louise Vincent

Language in the Indian Diaspora (dialogue)

Prof Rajend Mesthrie

Valuing and Integrating Waste Pickers in BRICS Countries (public seminar)

Dr Melanie Samson

Re-Reading and Resistance in South African Literature, Culture and Politics (colloquium)

Prof Sikhumbuzo Mngadi

Cybersecurity (colloquium)

Prof Nirmala Gopal

Earth Connections and Food Governance (seminar)

Dr Darlene Miller

Reviewing South Africa’s 2018 BRICS Presidency: Taking Lessons forward (policy dialogue)

SABTT & IGD

The Role of the South African Youth within BRICS (policy dialogue)

SABTT & National Youth
Development Agency (NYDA)

Brazil’s 2019 Chairship of the BRICS: Priorities & Expectations (policy dialogue)

SABTT & IGD

* The activities took place in the previous financial year (2017/18) and form part of the 2018 BRICS Chairship.
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DHET Minister Dr Naledi Pandor delivering her keynote address at the opening of the 10th BRICS Academic Forum

Strategic OBJECTIVE 7:
Coordinate and manage BRICS
Think Tank-related activities on
behalf of South Africa.

Academic Forum debate a platform to address some of
world’s greatest socio-economic challenges
A key highlight of the 2018/19 financial year was that on 01
January 2018, South Africa had assumed the role of BRICS
Chair, which ran until 31 December 2018. As the custodian of
the South African BRICS Think Tank (SABTT), the NIHSS was
mandated with organising and hosting one of the most important
academic events in the BRICS calendar: the 10th BRICS Academic
Forum. This year’s Academic Forum took place over four days
(28–31 May 2018) at Sandton Convention Centre, under the
theme “Envisioning Inclusive Development through a Socially
Responsive Economy”.
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The Academic Forum discussions were underpinned by the
BRICS mandate to begin levelling the playing field between
developing countries and their developed counterparts. In the
words of Dr Naledi Pandor, the Minister of Higher Education and
Training, in her speech at the BRICS Think Tank meeting during
the conference:

The BRICS partnership
offers an alternative model of
global friendship and solidarity.
It needs to articulate a more
optimistic and a more resolute
narrative of inclusion and
progressive values, a narrative
that commits to addressing the
needs and interest of the most
vulnerable …
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Heads of delegations representing their respective BRICS countries at the 10th BRICS Academic Forum (left to right): Georgy Toloraya (Russia),
Samir Saran (India), Dong Weihua (China), Prof Ari Sitas (South Africa), and Ivan Oliveira (Brazil)

This is why the BRICS nations have gone beyond their initial focus on

farmers and micro, small and medium enterprises linked to

economic issues around international trade and global governance,

food security, as well as social protection, such as through the

and embraced a broader agenda. Said Minister Pandor:

compilation of an Index on Social Inclusion of persons living with

“Our agenda includes issues ranging from agriculture, health,

disabilities in BRICS nations.

education, energy, science and technology, academic exchange
and many others. ... It will be vital that the ideological philosophy

The commitment to inclusivity was also evident in the fact that,

that informs our knowledge generation is progressive and oriented

for the first time in the history of the BRICS Academic Forum,

to people development, justice and democracy.”

other African countries – including Namibia and Senegal – were
invited to participate. Said Prof Sitas:

True to the theme of inclusivity, the conference placed strong
emphasis on gender equality. For the first time, gender and
inequality was formally on the BRICS Academic Forum agenda.
A plenary session was held on “Gender and inequality in BRICS”,
with presentations by women from all five countries seeking to
challenge the patriarchal system that exists within the BRICS
bloc and demand gender equality and gender transformation,
including increased women representation within BRICS
structures. Commenting on the focus on gender equality at the
Academic Forum, Prof Ari Sitas, Chairperson of the BRICS Think
Tank Council, said: “We do believe that economic prosperity,
well-being, is unthinkable without gender equality”.
Further emphasising inclusivity was the attention paid at the
conference to universal health coverage and support for small

If we want to address issues
of gender and ethnic disparities
across different areas of the
developing world economy,
then we must increase the flow
of knowledge and information
sharing between our countries.
Together we must revisit
institutional frameworks in each
of the BRICS countries and seek
to reform them.
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Members of the BRICS Academic Forum’s first ever gender and equality panel: Joana Mostafa (Brazil), Tanoubi Ngangom (India), Gao Hao (China),
Lulama Nare (South Africa), Victoria Panova (Russia) and panel Chairperson Sarah Mosoetsa

More than 200 delegates and 45 papers

The BTTC prepared the following recommendations for the

The Academic Forum, at which representatives of each country

Summit:

delivered academic papers, was well attended. More than 200

• Establish a Forum on Women’s Equality, a panel of experts on

scholars from the five BRICS countries – Brazil, Russia, India, China,

gender equality and a BRICS gender transformation desk to

and South Africa – participated in most of the eight parallel sessions
and three plenary sessions. Over 45 academic papers were

advance and enhance women’s economic and social rights.
• Establish

an

African

Academy

for

Development

and

presented by academics from the BRICS nations, chaired by senior

Beneficiation, in which BRICS countries and BRICS-related

South African academics. The South African delegation comprised

tertiary institutions and experts would participate.

senior academics from various universities and organisations: the

• BRICS nations should be actively involved in the Fourth

Commission for Gender Equality, Department of Health, Institute

Industrial Revolution, leading their own investments to ensure

for Global Dialogue (IGD), Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC),

national protection of incomes.

South African Astronomical Observatory, Tshwane University of

• In health provision and research, BRICS should play a greater role

Technology (TUT), University of Zululand (Unizulu), University of

in global norm setting and in global governance of health sector

Johannesburg (UJ), University of the Free State (UFS), University of

issues. Traditional medicine and health promotion/disease

Pretoria (UP) and University of the Witwatersrand (Wits).

prevention are critical factors in securing people’s health.
• Establish a vaccine research platform to respond to the

As part of the conference proceedings, delegates were taken on

challenges

excursions to Liliesleaf Museum, the Apartheid Museum, and

diseases.

Soweto (Vilakazi Street, Nelson Mandela Museum, and Hector
Pieterson Museum) on 30 and 31 May 2018.

of

communicable

and

non-communicable

• Provide a body of information on how BRICS nations treat
vulnerable people, and undertake a collaborative study on
social programmes for women and people with disabilities

BTTC annual meeting

across BRICS.

The BRICS Think Tank Council (BTTC), comprising the Heads of

• Establish a BRICS Peace Research Institute, focusing on

delegations from all five countries, also held its annual meeting

peace rather than conflict resolution, and commit to the non-

on the morning of 28 May 2018. Part of the BTTC agenda was
to discuss the draft Academic Forum recommendations to be
submitted to the 10th BRICS Leaders’ Summit.
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Table 3: BRICS Think Tank: South African delegation
(May 2018)
Delegate

Institution/university

Prof Ari Sitas

NIHSS/SABTT

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

NIHSS/SABTT

Dr Ndivhuwo Luruli

NIHSS/SABTT

Lulama Nare

Commission for Gender Equality

Dr Aquina Thulare

Department of Health

Dr Jaya Josie

HSRC

Dr Buntu Siwisa

Independent/Associate of the
HSRC

Dr Philani Mthembu

IGD

Ashraf Patel

IGD

Dr David Buckley

South African Astronomical
Observatory

Prof Rasigan Maharaj

TUT

Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli

UFS

Prof Grace Khunou

UJ

Prof Nirmala Gopal

UKZN

Dr Maxwell Shamase

Unizulu

Dr Sibongile Tshabalala

Unizulu

Prof Siphamandla Zondi

UP

Prof Stephanie Allais

Wits

Dr Cyril Prinsloo

Wits

Delegates to the 10th BRICS Academic Forum also had the opportunity
to visit significant South African historical sites, including the Hector
Pieterson Museum.

• Start working towards a BRICS Law School, eventually leading to
the formation of a BRICS Law University and even a BRICS Court.
• Create a BRICS international mobility programme within the

The 10th BRICS Academic Forum delegates at the Liliesleaf Museum

Academic Forum.
• Civil society and the youth should join the Academic Forum
for BRICS stakeholder bodies.
• In the field of clean energy, undertake a comprehensive valuechain complementarity study to identify trade and investment
opportunities among BRICS countries.
For the NIHSS, it was an honour and a privilege to have organised
and hosted the 2018 BRICS Academic Forum. Said Prof Sitas:
“In the end, the BRICS Think Tank Council and Academic Forum
encounters were more about listening than arguing, and more
about helping each other formulate well-defined responses.
... From South Africa’s perspective, we were humbled by the
generous welcome some of our key ideas received and the
commitment of the broader BRICS family of thinkers to take
seriously Africa’s challenge. “

Delegates at the Mandela family home on Vilakazi Street,
Orlando West, Soweto
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Dr Gcina Mhlophe, renowned South African storyteller,
poet and playwright (among other achievements),
as MC at the HSS Awards 2019

Staff RECRUITMENT AND TURNOVER

Staff TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

In the 2018/19 financial year, the NIHSS staff complement

On the understanding that training and development is an

changed from 42 to 38, including staff employed on a temporary

effective tool for both enhancing operational efficiency and

(short contract) basis, with the staff headcount at 31 March

effectiveness in our environment and achieving the NIHSS

2019 at 30. Seven staff member contracts were terminated in

vision, the Institute is committed to providing NIHSS staff with

the year under review, with overall staff turnover at 20.6%. The

learning opportunities to enhance knowledge, practical skills, and

NIHSS took care to ensure the reduction in staff numbers did

workplace experience and behaviour. In the year under review,

not compromise the Institute’s performance or ability to deliver

11 bursaries were awarded to staff members for further study.

on its mandate and commitments.

Senior management continued with their executive coaching
sessions, while also organising group trainings on the Protection
of Personal Information (POPI) Act (No. 4 of 2013), advanced Excel
training for the finance team, and data management training for
NIHSS administrators.

HR OVERSIGHT STATISTICS
Table 4: 2018/19 Personnel cost per salary band

Level

Personnel expenditure

Personnel expenditure
as % of total
personnel cost

Average cost per
employee

No. of employees

Top management

4 044 225

21%

2

2 022 112

Senior management

4 156 122

21%

4

1 039 031

Professionally qualified

4 175 153

21%

8

521 894

Skilled, technical and
academically qualified

4 215 863

22%

12

351 322

Semi-skilled

2 753 387

14%

9

305 932

225 459

1%

3

75 153

19 570 209

100%

38

Unskilled
Total

Table 5: 2018/19 Staff training expenditure

Programme
Staff training

Total expenditure
19 570 209

Staff training
expenditure
276 559

As % of total
expenditure
1.41%

No. of employees

Average cost per
employee

38
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Table 6: Employment and vacancies as at 31 March 2019
Level

2018/19
approved posts

Staff headcount as at 31
March 2019

2018/19 vacancies

% of vacancies

Top management

2

2

0

0.0%

Senior management

8

4

4

50.0%

Professionally qualified

9

2

7

78.0%

12

12

3

25.0%

Semi-skilled

8

7

1

12.5%

Unskilled

2

3

0

0.0%

41

30

11

Skilled

Total

Table 7: Employment changes during 2018/19
Level

Employment at
31/03/2018

Appointments

Employment at
31/03/2019

Terminations

Top management

2

0

0

2

Senior management

6

0

0

5*

Professionally qualified

7

0

3

2#

13

2

3

12

Semi-skilled

7

0

1

6

Unskilled

2

1

0

3

37

3

7

30

Skilled

Total

* The Research directorate was merged with the BRICS directorate as one position in 2018/19.
# Two positions at this level were vacant at year end.

Table 8: Reasons for employee turnover in the 2018/19
financial year
Reasons

Table 9: Labour relations: Misconduct and
disciplinary action
Nature of disciplinary action

Employment at 31/03/2019

Number

1

Verbal warning

0

Contract non-renewal

1

Written warning

0

Resignations

5

Final written warning

0

Appointments

3

Dismissals

1

Total

1

Dismissals
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Equity TARGET AND EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS
The proportion of women to men among the Institute’s employees changed from the previous year (2017/18), with 60% of
employees being female and 40% male (Figure 1). In terms of employee race profile, the Institute had 29 black staff members
and one white staff member (Figure 2).
Figure 1: Gender profile of NIHSS employees (2014/15–2018/19)
100
100
80
80
60
60
40
40
20
20
0
0

Females

Males

2014/15

93%

7%

2015/16

67%

33%

2016/17

62%

38%

2017/18

62%

38%

2018/19

60%

40%

Figure 2: Race profile of NIHSS employees (2014/15–2018/19)
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2014/15

79.0%
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14%

0.0%

2015/16

88.0%

4%

8%

0.0%

2016/17

97.0%

3%

0%

0.0%

2017/18

97.6%

0%

0%

2.4%

2018/19

97.6%

0%

0%

2.4%
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Bokani Dyer – pianist, part of the Nomfundo Xaluva
performance at the HSS Awards 2019

NIHSS GOVERNANCE

Composition: Regulation 4, which guides the composition of

Governance at the NIHSS is in the capable hands of the Institute’s

at least three of whom must be appointed from academic and

Board, appointed by the Minister of Higher Education and

management staff in the public higher education institutions.

Training (in terms of the Higher Education Act No. 101 of 1997

During the period under review, there were no vacancies on the

and Government Gazette No. 37118 Vol. 582). The NIHSS Board

Board.

the NIHSS Board, provides for it to comprise the Chairperson
and not more than 10 ordinary members with voting rights –

is thus the key body responsible for ensuring and achieving
commitment to sound corporate governance practices.

In addition, in terms of the regulations the Board may co-opt not
more than four experts in the relevant fields, and for a period

Governance COMMITTEES

not exceeding its term of office. In line with these provisions,
during the period under review the Board had three co-opted
members.

The following governance committees are in place to guide and
support the NIHSS CEO in performing her duties:
• Executive Committee;
• Audit and Risk Committee;

Meetings OF THE BOARD

• Finance Committee;

During the period under review, the NIHSS Board met four

• Human Resource Committee;

times, with three scheduled Board meetings and one induction

• Academic Committee; and

session held. The number of meetings attended by each

• International Committee.

member is shown in Table 10.

NIHSS BOARD AS ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

Table 10: Board member meeting attendance

With the ending of the term of the previous NIHSS Board on 27

during 2018/19
Name and position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

4

3

Dr René Smith

4

3

Prof Simphiwe Mini

4

1

Mahlubi Mabizela

4

4

term sustainability is amply provided for by the NIHSS Board,

Jacomien Rousseau

4

2

whose responsibilities and areas of expertise include setting the

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

4

3

Institute’s strategy, policies and standards, and monitoring their

Prof Fiona Tregenna

4

4

execution.

Prof Ahmed Bawa

4

-

March 2018, the Minister of Higher Education and Training on 30
June 2018 appointed a new Board – effective for the four-year
period from 28 March 2018.
Role: The vision, strategic direction and effective leadership the
Institute requires to execute its mandate and safeguard its long-

Chairperson: Prof Ari Sitas
Members

Luli Callinicos

4

2

During the period under review, the NIHSS Board continued

Frencel Gillion

4

2

to provide leadership and oversight in terms of governance of

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

4

3

Thapelo Molapo

4

2

Cynthia Maponya

4

2

Nolwazi Mamorare

4

1

4

4

the Institute, and ensured the following duties, inter alia, were
executed: review of the NIHSS Strategy, Annual Performance
Plan and Budget for 2018/19 and 2019/20; monitoring of the
implementation of the 2018/19 Annual Performance Plan by
reviewing the Institute’s quarterly reports; and review of policies
and governance frameworks.

Ex-officio member (CEO)
Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
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Remuneration OF THE BOARD
During the period under review, eligible Board members were

Table 11: Members of the Audit and Risk Committee,
and meeting attendance
No. of meetings

Name and position

Held

Attended

2

2

Jacomien Rousseau

2

1

Dr René Smith

2

2

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

2

2

that all Board structures were functional and effective; and that

Mahlubi Mabizela

2

1

the key governance frameworks such as the Charters/Terms of

Co-opted member

Reference, and Board Remuneration were developed and/or

Nolwazi Mamorare

2

1

remunerated and reimbursed for expenses incurred while
executing NIHSS-related activities. For the disclosure of Board
fees and other related expenses, please refer to Note 18 of the
Annual Financial Statements.
The NIHSS Secretariat, during the year under review, ensured

reviewed. The risks that had been identified and incorporated in
the Risk Register in the previous financial year continued to be

Chairperson: Maleshini Naidoo
Members

Note 1: Internal and external auditors, the CEO and the CFO had standing
invitations to all meetings.

mitigated in the year under review.

Note 2: Other urgent matters requiring the attention of the committee
were dealt with via the round robin process, as and when required.

Executive COMMITTEE

Finance COMMITTEE

• Role: The role of this committee is to assist the Board in

• Role: The Finance Committee assists the Board in fulfilling

fulfilling oversight responsibilities relating to governance and

its oversight responsibilities relating to sound financial

other strategic matters of the Institute, including review of

management

quarterly performance and the adequacy and/or effectiveness

processes, including financial investments and infrastructure

of the Board governance structures.
• Composition: The committee is made up of the Chairperson
of the Board and Chairpersons of Board Committees.

and

Supply

Chain

Management

(SCM)

management (acquisition and maintenance).
• Composition: The Finance Committee is a sub-committee of
the Board and is made up of Board members with financial
knowledge and background. The committee also has one co-

For the 2018/19 year, only one meeting of the Executive

opted member.

Committee was held, and this was a joint meeting with the Board.
Table 12: Members of the Finance Committee,

Audit AND RISK COMMITTEE

and meeting attendance
Name and position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

2

2

Prof Ari Sitas

2

1

governance frameworks; this includes an oversight role on the

Prof Simphiwe Mini

2

1

governance risk and of technology and information.

Prof Fiona Tregenna

2

2

2

1

• Role: The role of this committee is to assist the Board in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to financial
reporting and audit processes, the system of internal controls,
and the Institute’s compliance with applicable legislative and

Chairperson: Frencel Gillion
Members

• Composition: The committee is chaired by an independent

Co-opted member

member. The Institute is engaged in ongoing discussions with

Nolwazi Mamorare

the DHET regarding the possibility of including an increased
number of independent members on the Audit and Risk
Committee.
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Table 14: Members of the Academic Committee,

Human RESOURCE COMMITTEE

and meeting attendance

• Role: This committee ensures that adequate Human
Resource policies and strategies are in place, and monitors the

Name and position

Held

Attended

1

1

Prof Ari Sitas

1

1

Prof Fiona Tregenna

1

1

Luli Callinicos

1

1

Dr René Smith

1

1

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

1

1

1

1

implementation of these policies and strategies in accordance

Chairperson: Prof Nhlanhla
Mkhize

with set criteria and measures.

Members

• Composition: The Human Resource Committee, a subcommittee of the Board, comprises Board members with
HR experience and background. This committee has two coopted members.
Table 13: Members of the Human Resource Committee,
and meeting attendance
Name and position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

2

2

Luli Callinicos

2

2

Prof Simphiwe Mini

2

1

Prof Ari Sitas

2

2

Mahlubi Mabizela

2

2

Chairperson: Thapelo Molapo*
Members

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

2

2

Member (CEO)
Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

International COMMITTEE
• Role: This committee provides oversight with regard to all
the international work of the Institute, including international
collaborations and partnerships, as well as the Institute’s
extended mandate related to BRICS.
• Composition: The International Committee, a Board subcommittee, comprises Board members who have experience

Co-opted member
Cynthia Maponya

No. of meetings

2

1

and background in academia – and, more specifically, at
universities locally and internationally.

* The Chairperson of this committee is also a co-opted member.

Table 15: Members of the International Committee,

Academic COMMITTEE
• Role: The primary function of the Academic Committee is

and meeting attendance
Name and position

No. of meetings
Held

Attended

1

1

to advise the Board on matters related to the intellectual

Chairperson: Prof Nhlanhla
Mkhize

trajectories of the Doctoral Schools and Scholarships

Members

Programme, Catalytic Research Projects, Humanities Hubs,

Prof Ari Sitas

1

1

and the African Pathways Programme. This committee also

Prof Fiona Tregenna

1

1

Luli Callinicos

1

1

Dr René Smith

1

1

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

1

1

1

1

reviews the thematic and policy guidelines for all calls for
proposals and Doctoral School applications.
• Composition: The Academic Committee is a sub-committee
of the Board and is made up of Board members with
experience and background in academia – more specifically
at universities.

Member (CEO)
Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
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Risk MANAGEMENT AND RISK ASSESSMENT

Assessment

The NIHSS has adopted an Enterprise-wide Risk Management

responsibilities, among others:

(ERM) model of risk management. The NIHSS Risk Register was

• Implement the Annual Internal Audit Plan (part of the three-

updated subsequent to and as a result of an ERM workshop

year Coverage Plan approved by the Audit and Risk Committee

held in the first quarter of the 2018/19 financial year to review

during the 2016/17 financial year) for the third year, including

the Institute’s risk profile. The updated Risk Register formed

as appropriate any special tasks or projects requested by the

the basis for updating the risk-based Internal Audit Plan. The

(ORCA).

ORCA’s

mandate

is

supported

by

unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the Audit and Risk
Committee and the Board, and the firm has the following

Audit and Risk Committee and executive management;

Risk Management Framework was implemented in the 2018/19

• Provide a professional internal audit capability with sufficient

financial year and the Risk Register monitored quarterly. The

knowledge, skills and experience to meet the requirements of

Board’s risk management oversight is delegated to the Audit and

the NIHSS;

Risk Committee.

• Evaluate

and

assess

significant

merging

as

well

as

consolidating functions and new or changing services,

Internal CONTROL
The NIHSS categorises internal controls into two components:
basic internal controls; and training of employees on internal

processes, operations and control processes coincident with
their development, implementation, and/or expansion;
• Keep the Audit and Risk Committee and the authority
informed on emerging trends and successful practices in
internal auditing; and

controls in the execution of their day-to-day activities. Basic

• In the event of suspected significant fraudulent activities

internal controls are further categorised into prevention

within the organisation, assist in the investigation of such

controls; detection controls; and segregation of duties.

activities and notify management and the Audit and Risk
Committee of the findings.

The internal auditors assume responsibility for assessing
key controls for adequacy and effectiveness. During the year

The audits performed for the 2018/19 financial year, and the

under review, the Board as usual ensured that the required

evidence obtained indicated that the processes and related

governance structures and frameworks were in place, including

system of internal controls, in the areas reviewed, require

but not limited to the relevant Board committees; the formal

improvements to provide reasonable assurance that the NIHSS

establishment of the internal audit function; and the approval

goals and objectives, in the areas reviewed, will be achieved

of policies. The internal audit function is aimed at providing

efficiently and effectively.

assistance in the assessment of significant organisational risks
and the review of the adequacy of internal control systems,

The following internal audit activities were conducted during the

and provides the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board with

financial year under review:

assurance regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of internal

• Core Functions Review;

financial controls and systems. The internal audit function is

• SCM Review;

the primary independent assurance provider on the adequacy

• Performance information;

and effectiveness of NIHSS governance, risk management

• Follow-up of external and internal audit finding;

and control structures, systems and processes. The function

• Review of 2017/18 Annual Financial Statements;

operates in terms of a formal mandate, in full conformance with

• Financial Management;

the International Professional Practices Framework for Internal

• ICT Policies and readiness for Protection of Personal

Audit (Standards) and with leading risk-based and integrated

Information (POPI) Act (No. 4 of 2013); and

methodology.

• Governance.

During the year under review, the internal audit function was

The results of the noted audits have been discussed with

functional and, as in previous financial years, was outsourced

management and appropriate action plans developed to

to an independent firm: Outsourced Risk and Compliance

mitigate the risks.
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External AUDIT

Minimising CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Auditor-General South Africa (AGSA) is the external auditor

The following processes have been implemented in an effort

and has an approved Audit Strategy. AGSA is responsible

to reduce conflict of interest that may arise within the SCM

for independently auditing and reporting on the NIHSS

portfolio:

Annual Financial Statements and performance information

•

in accordance with auditing standards and the External Audit

of Conduct and the Institute’s values of integrity, excellence,

Strategy.

collaboration, teamwork, creativity and respect;
•

Compliance WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

All employees joining the NIHSS are inducted on the Code

All suppliers conducting business with the NIHSS must
sign an SBD04 form, whereby they declare any conflict of
interest they might have in the procurement; and

•

All SCM Officials, Bid Specification, Bid Evaluation and Bid

The Board has established governance structures and

Adjudication members are required to sign a declaration

frameworks to assist the Institute’s compliance with legislation

of interest form for all tenders undertaken by the Institute.

and regulatory requirements, and corporate governance
best practices. To the extent possible, the NIHSS complied

During the period under review, there were no instances of

with applicable laws and regulatory frameworks during the

conflict of interest declared. Should any cases be declared in

period under review; and where instances of non-compliance

future, the individual will not participate in the procurement

were detected and/or observed, corrective measures were

process concerned.

implemented.

Fraud AND CORRUPTION
The NIHSS is committed to ethical behaviour and to the
prevention, detection and reporting of fraud in terms of a zerotolerance approach. As such, the Institute implements the Fraud
Prevention Plan that was developed and approved by the Board
on 30 March 2017. The plan applies to any fraud, or suspected
fraud, involving Board members, employees, consultants,
vendors, contractors, outside agencies and/or any other
parties in a business relationship with the Institute. The Fraud
Prevention Plan both highlights the roles and responsibilities
of the Board and of different categories of staff members
regarding fraud prevention, and provides internal mechanisms
for the detection and reporting of fraudulent activities through
the relevant governance structures and the regulatory bodies.
Thus, fraudulent activities (if any) get reported through the
internal mechanisms. Details of the reported fraud cases in the
previous financial years are contained in Note 24 and 25 of the
Annual Financial Statements.
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The NIHSS stakeholders are at the forefront of delivering on the

to inspire our stakeholders to become part of the solution: a new

Institute’s mandate and goals. Because the NIHSS mostly plays a

generation of researchers working across disciplinary, university

supportive role, everything we do as the Institute is based on the

and/or country boundaries to catalyse and break open paradigms

spirit of cooperation and collaboration with our stakeholders: existing

for new humanities and social sciences theory formation on the

public university structures, think tanks and research bodies in the

African continent – and beyond. We encourage our stakeholders to

higher education sphere; our doctoral students, and researchers in

advocate for the humanities and social sciences as vital organs in our

the HSS fields participating in the Catalytic Research Projects, Working

shared body of knowledge as a society. We call upon our professional

Groups, Humanities Hubs, and international collaborative research

organisations to collaborate across boundaries for the greater good

projects; the individuals who serve as mentors for the National

of society. And we seek to inspire our stakeholders to shed new light

Mentorship Programme; the professional associations receiving

on existing societal and academic thinking and conundrums, thereby

support from the Institute; and our BRICS partner countries.

contributing with enthusiasm and academic rigour to restarting the
humanities and social sciences engine as driver of solutions for

At the NIHSS, through funding, coordinating and partnering we work

socio-economic development on the continent.

Table 16: The NIHSS stakeholder groups, and our deliverables to them
Stakeholders

NIHSS deliverable(s)

SA doctoral students

• Increased funding for HSS doctoral students

APP students

• Increased number of non-South African doctoral students funded by the NIHSS in the HSS

Mentors

• Communities of scholarship established through mentorship and offering a communally based approach to doctoral
support through targeted interventions, which enhance the creativity and technical capacities of doctoral graduates

CODESRIA

• Collaboration in African Pathways Programme application for funding process (by screening applications and through
panel review)
• Policy frameworks developed for joint degrees within the Southern African Development Community (SADC) and the
broader continent
• An open and dynamic process created, through which African scholars cooperate, collaborate and assist one another
(to reflect on the past, present and future of this continent)

DHET

•
•
•
•
•

Doctoral Schools

• Increased number of Doctoral Schools established and operational, providing a platform for academic support to
NIHSS-funded doctoral students

NIHSS employees

• Favourable working conditions
• Support for students enrolled for study
• Support for research project leaders participating in various NIHSS programmes

Funders

• Potential partnerships on ad hoc projects in line with agreed-upon service-level agreement

HEIs

•
•
•
•

NSF

• Funding of HSS PhD students
• Funding of NIHSS research

Sahuda

• Collaboration in Doctoral Schools and Scholarships Programme application screening through panel review

Partnering NGOs

• Potential partnership on ad hoc projects in line with agreed-upon service-level agreement

SA citizens

• Demonstrating social responsibility and societal responsiveness
• Helping to address the socio-economic challenges facing South Africa and her citizens
• Advising civil society on HSS-related matters; and increasing and guiding public discourse about the crucial social issues
that face us as citizens, in order to help build a better South Africa for all

BRICS partner countries

• SABTT engagement with other official think tanks from the BRICS countries through the BTT

DIRCO

• A close working relationship maintained by the SABTT with government to align the SABTT with government policy

BTTC

• Coordination and management by the SABTT of all BTTC-related activities (the BTTC is a network of five official Think
Tanks from the BRICS countries)

SA Parliament

• Provision of sound and independent policy advice

Comprehensive reporting at agreed levels
Performance monitoring in terms of the NIHSS mandate
Provision of policy advice in matters related to the HSS
Provision of advice to the Minister of Higher Education and Training and government on HSS-related matters
Increased and guided academic discourse about the crucial social issues that face us as South African citizens (in order
to help influence the character of the South African community and to create a more humane, responsible and just
society)

Funding of research through Catalytic Research Projects
Administering of NIHSS scholarships and research funding through HEIs’ internal financial processes
Provision of resources for better support for postgraduate students
Provision of increased funding for PhD and masters students
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The HSS Awards 2019 ... Supporting and promoting
new South African voices, authors and stories in the
humanities and social sciences

Report

BY THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The effectiveness of internal controls
The Institute has approved Policies and Frameworks to guide the

For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Committee

implementation of effective and efficient internal controls and

complied with its responsibilities, as contained in the Charter that

procedures on an ongoing process.

regulates the Committee’s mandate.
The Internal Audit function was formerly established through
Audit and Risk Committee membership and attendance of

the appointment of the Internal Auditors, Outsourced Risk and

meetings

Compliance Assessment (ORCA). A risk-based Internal Audit

The Audit and Risk Committee was only formally established on 01

Three-Year Rolling Plan was reviewed and approved; and prior

November 2018. As such, the first meeting could only be held on

audit work done before the Committee was established guided

23 November 2018. The composition of the Committee and the

the Internal Auditors in the preparation and implementation of

attendance of meetings during the period under review are listed

the Annual Audit Plan and ensured that the Internal Audit Plan was

under the Governance section of the Annual Report on page 78.

risk-based, taking the NIHSS’s risk profile into consideration. The
Committee reviewed the reports from both Internal and External

Audit and Risk Committee’s responsibilities

Auditors and is satisfied that the systems of internal control for

The main responsibilities of the Committee, as outlined in the

the period under review were effective.

Committee’s Charter include among others:
• Review the appropriateness of and compliance with accounting
policies;

Review and monitoring of performance information
The Committee reviewed the actual performance of the NIHSS

• Through the internal auditors, review the adequacy and

against the strategic objectives and targets set in the Annual

effectiveness of policies and procedures applicable to NIHSS,

Performance Plan for 2018/19; and was satisfied with the content

and whether they are complied with;

and quality of the quarterly performance reports prepared and

• A review of the financial management processes and the
adequacy of internal controls;
• A review of the Annual Financial Statements, the Annual Report
and related regulatory filings before these are released, in order

issued by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial
Officer (CFO) during the year under review. Where required, the
Committee made recommendations for enhancements to the
reports.

to consider the accuracy and completeness of the information;
• The governance of risk;

Evaluation of the Annual Financial Statements

• The governance of Information Communication Technology

The Committee reviewed and discussed the unaudited Annual

(ICT);
• Overseeing the internal and external audit functions and
related audit processes;
• A review of the Institute’s compliance with applicable legislative

Financial Statements to be included in the Draft Annual Report
in consultation with the CEO, the Internal Auditors and the
Auditor General on 26 April 2019. These were subsequently
recommended for Board approval on 29 April 2019.

requirements and governance frameworks; and
• Ensuring that all the disclosures and/or reporting requirements

The Committee further reviewed the audited Annual Financial

to the Board, the Executive Authority, the National Treasury and

Statements on 20 June 2019, in consultation with Management,

the Auditor-General are adhered to.

the Internal and External Auditors; and recommended for Board
approval.
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Summary of main activities undertaken by the Committee

Conclusion

during the financial year under review

Subsequent to the audit of financial statements, performance

The Audit & Risk Committee attended to the following matters:

information and compliance with legislation, we can report that

• The review of the Committee’s Charter subsequently approved

the systems of internal control for the 2018/19 financial year were

by the Board;
• The review of the External Audit Strategy and Fees subsequently

effective and efficient; and there were no significant deficiencies in
internal controls identified.

approved by the Board
• The approval of the Internal Audit Three-Year Rolling Plan and
associated audit fees;

Date the Audit and Risk Committee recommended the
Annual Financial Statements be approved

• The review of the Institute’s risk profile resulting in the updating

The Committee recommended the approval of the audited Annual

of the Strategic Risk Register; and the implementation of which

Financial Statements at the Board meeting held on 05 July 2019

will continuously be monitored into the 2019/20 financial year;

for submission thereof to the Department of Higher Education

and

and Training; the Accountant General (National Treasury) and the

• A review of the unaudited Annual Financial Statements for the

Auditor-General.

year ended 31 March 2019 in April 2019 and the review of the
audited Annual Financial Statements in June 2019;
• Keeping the Board informed of key issues within the Committee’s
scope; with Committee Reports submitted and presented at all
Board meetings.
Internal Audit
The Internal Audit function was formerly outsourced to Outsourced
Risk and Compliance Assessment - (ORCA); the Internal Auditors
reported that they had executed all the activities expected of
them in terms of the Internal Audit Plan for the reporting period;
and concluded that the evidence obtained indicated that the
processes and related systems of internal controls, in the areas
reviewed, are reasonably adequate, and effective to provide
reasonable assurance that the NIHSS goals and objectives, in the
areas reviewed, will be achieved efficiently and effectively. The
results of the audits have been discussed with Management and
appropriate action plans developed to mitigate the risks.
External Audit
The External Audit was performed by the Auditor-General of
South Africa. The Auditor-General has issued an unqualified audit
opinion for the 2018/19 financial year.
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Chief FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT
I am extremely proud and honoured to present the financial
report of the NIHSS for the 2018/19 financial year. Each year of
the Institute’s existence brings with it significant and meaningful
milestones. These milestones have gone a long way in changing
the lives of ordinary South Africans and those on the wider
African continent, within the humanities and social sciences
sphere.
Great strides continue to be made through the NIHSS–Sahuda
collaboration scholarships to grow the HSS within the South
African borders, while our CODESRIA partnership supports the
scholarships within the African continent, through the African
Pathways Programme. From inception to date, the NIHSS has
reported a total of 132 PhD graduations cumulatively, inclusive of
South African and non-South African students. This is evidence
yet again that the humanities and social sciences, through the
NIHSS, are slowly and gradually being transformed – a definite
positive impact on the state of academia within the HSS.

140 000 000
111 023 000

120 000 000

Funds received to date

100 000 000
80 000 000
60 000 000
40 000 000
20 000 000
0

9 709 000
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Nov-18
NSF
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The Institute also continues to play a significant role as the

The total revenue recognised for the 2018/19 financial year was

custodian of the South African BRICS Think Tank (SABTT). On

therefore R139 181 418, which represents a decline of 3.01%

28 to 31 May 2018, the 10th BRICS Academic Forum was held

from the previous year. This decline was as a result of budget

in South Africa (the second time South Africa hosted a BRICS

cuts announced by the NSF in October 2017, which impacted on

Academic Forum). The NIHSS was proud to host this flagship

the prior, current and future years.

event, in partnership with the DHET. This forum was the
building block to the BRICS Summit (held in June 2018), where

The funds received throughout the year were disbursed as

heads of state of the BRICS countries and various delegates

follows:

from invited countries were in attendance. The most significant
and memorable outcome of the summit, duly announced
by

President

Cyril

Ramaphosa,

was

an

investment

of

US$14.7 billion in South Africa by China. The NIHSS was truly
honoured to be part of this historic moment.

NIHSS SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMME
A total of R50 835 500 was disbursed to NIHSS-funded PhD
fellows within the South African public universities. This

Funding for the 2018/19 financial year was received as follows:

represents an increase in disbursement of 5.12% from the

• A total of R38 837 000 was received from the DHET to fund

previous financial year. This was for returning (renewed)

our operational requirements as the NIHSS. Included in this

students. Due to funding constraints, no new students were

amount was R10 150 000 for the BRICS programme, which is

enrolled during the 2018/19 financial year.

a project expenditure. This amount was received quarterly in
four tranches and the portion that related to operations was

A total of R11 352 000 was disbursed to non-South African

recognised as revenue in full. The portion relating to BRICS

doctoral students funded through CODESRIA. This represents

was deferred and will be recognised as and when contractual

an increase in disbursement of 3.61% from the previous financial

obligations are met. A further R7 746 000 was received from

year. This was also for returning (renewed) students. No new

the National Skills Fund (NSF) to fund administration costs of

uptakes of CODESRIA students were done in 2018/19, due to

projects and a portion of this amount R6 753 380 was also

funding constraints.

recognised in full.
• A total of R103 277 000 was received from the NSF to fund

Other significant projects supported during the period under

projects and programmes. Of this amount, R102 746 798

review are:

was recognised as revenue with contractual obligations

• Catalytic Research Projects – a total of R3 990 339 was

having been met during the financial year. The difference was

funded, resulting in a decrease of 17.67% from the previous

deferred and will be recognised as and when contractual

year.

obligations are met.
• Interest income of R994 240 was received from investments
and bank accounts.
• A net loss of R4 269 was realised, on the disposal of an asset.

• Humanities Hubs – a total of R1 743 134 was committed for
support, totalling a decrease of 79.70% from the previous
year.
• BRICS Think Tank – a total of R15 274 434 was funded,
reflecting an increase of 137.13% from the previous year.
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• Working Groups – a total of R5 382 943 was funded,
reflecting a decrease of 41.05% from the previous year.
• Professional Associations – a total of R250 000 was
disbursed, showing an 85.60% decrease.
• National Mentorship Programme – a total of R3 375 000 was
spent, meaning a decrease of 14.32%.
• Annual National Doctoral Conference – a total of R3 694 453

of disbursement to the beneficiaries. However, funds were
committed accordingly by the end of the financial year. The
NIHSS continues to engage with project funders to ensure
timely receipt of funds.
• Industrial action, undertaken by a few staff members,
occurred between 15 October 2018 and 11 January 2019.
This did not have a significant impact on business continuity,

was committed for this initiative, with its aim being to create

as a crisis management plan was implemented, which

and foster student-centred approaches to doctoral research

ensured that operations continued. External stakeholders

development, while also providing students with a platform

were also not negatively affected.

and opportunity to present and showcase their research
with fellow doctoral candidates.

Looking forward, employee wellness continues to be a priority
and initiatives will be implemented, to ensure a healthy and

Overall, total project expenditure decreased by 2.69%. This is

happy workforce.

mainly due to the budget cuts announced in October 2017. This,
however, did not impact negatively on the ability of the NIHSS to

I would like to thank the DHET and the NSF for their continued

meet its performance targets.

support during the financial year.

Audit OUTCOMES

A special thank-you is due to the NIHSS Board, for their continued
leadership and guidance and holding us accountable in all that
we do.

Given that the Institute is in its fifth year of existence,
outstanding results have been achieved in terms of audit

I would like to thank our CEO, Prof Sarah Mosoetsa, for her

outcomes. The NIHSS obtained a clean audit outcome from

visionary leadership yet again, particularly through a very

the Auditor-General of South Africa for the third time (first:

challenging financial year.

2016/17; second: 2017/18; third: 2018/19). This highlights the
effectiveness of all endeavours and commitments towards

Last but certainly not least, gratitude goes to our students,

effective financial management and administration.

project leaders, mentors and various other stakeholders,
without whom we would not exist.

Operational CHALLENGES EXPERIENCED
• Late disbursement of funding for projects continued to
be a challenge in the 2018/19 financial year, where funds
were received in December 2018, three months from the

Tumelo Mokoena CA (SA)

end of the financial year. This created challenges in terms

Chief Financial Officer
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Report OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL

Responsibilities of accounting authority for the financial

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting

statements
authority is responsible for the preparation and fair

Opinion

presentation of the financial statements in accordance with

1. I have audited the financial statements of the National

Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the Higher

Institute for the Humanities and Social Sciences set out on

Education Act of South Africa, 1997 (Act no.101 of 1997),

pages 94 to 127, which comprise the statement of financial

and for such internal control as the accounting authority

position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of financial

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial

performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash flow

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

statement and the statement of comparison of budget and

due to fraud or error.

actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes

7. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority

to the financial statements, including a summary of significant

is responsible for assessing the National Institute for the

accounting policies.

Humanities and Social Science’s ability to continue as a going

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going

all material respects, the financial position of the National

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting

Institute for the Humanities and Social Sciences as at 31 March

unless the appropriate governance structure either intends

2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the

to liquidate the institute or to cease operations, or has no

year then ended in accordance with Standards of Generally

realistic alternative but to do so.

Recognised Accounting Practice (Standards of GRAP) and the
requirements of the Higher Education Act of South Africa,

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the

1997 (Act no.101 of 1997).

financial statements
8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about

Basis for opinion

whether the financial statements as a whole are free from

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.

standards are further described in the auditor-general’s

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is

responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with

section of this auditor’s report.

the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it

4. I am independent of the institute in accordance with sections

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards Board for

considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could

Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

code), parts 1 and 3 of the International Ethics Standards Board

of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of

Accountants (including International Independence Standards)

the financial statements is included in the annexure to this

and the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in

auditor’s report.

South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA codes.
5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE
REPORT

13. I performed

procedures to assess the reliability of the

reported performance information to determine whether it
was valid, accurate and complete. I did not raise any material

Introduction and scope
10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004
(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued in
terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material

findings on the reliability of the reported performance
information for the following objectives:
• Strategic Objective 1: Advance postgraduate scholarship
through a range of innovations.

findings on the reported performance information against

• Strategic Objective 2: Dynamise the fields of research and

predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented

teaching in the humanities and social sciences in South Africa

in the annual performance report. I performed procedures

through a range of Catalytic Projects and Humanities Hubs.

to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express
assurance.
11. My procedures address the reported performance information,

• Strategic Objective 3: Promote the integrity, reputation and
recognition of the HSS within the higher education community
and the science and technology community.

which must be based on the approved performance

• Strategic Objective 4: Build and strengthen networks and

planning documents of the Institute. I have not evaluated

partnerships with organisations working in areas related to the

the completeness and appropriateness of the performance
indicators/ measures included in the planning documents. My
procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions
relating to planned performance strategies and information in
respect of future periods that may be included as part of the
reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do
not extend to these matters.
12. I evaluated the reliability of the reported performance

humanities and social sciences
• Strategic

Objective

5:

Foster

international

research

collaborations between South Africa and countries of the
Global South.
• Strategic Objective 6: Act as a dynamic broker between the
worlds of knowledge and policy action
• Strategic Objective 7: Coordinate and manage all BRICS Think
Tank related activities on behalf of South Africa

information in accordance with the criteria developed from
the performance management and reporting framework,
as defined in the general notice, for the following selected
objectives presented in the annual performance report of the
institute for the year ended 31 March 2019:
Strategic objectives

Pages in the annual
performance report

Strategic Objective 1: Advance postgraduate scholarship through a range of innovations.

23

Strategic Objective 2: Dynamise the fields of research and teaching in the humanities and social sciences in South Africa
through a range of Catalytic Projects and Humanities Hubs

32

Strategic Objective 3: Promote the integrity, reputation and recognition of the HSS within the higher education community
and the science and technology community.

42

Strategic Objective 4: Build and strengthen networks and partnerships with organisations working in areas related to the
humanities and social sciences

57

Strategic Objective 5: Foster international research collaborations between South Africa and countries of the Global South.

59

Strategic Objective 6: Act as a dynamic broker between the worlds of knowledge and policy action

63

Strategic Objective 7: Coordinate and manage all BRICS Think Tank related activities on behalf of South Africa

68

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

91

F

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other matters

20. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the

14. I draw attention to the matters below.

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial

Achievement of planned targets

statements and the selected objectives presented in the

15. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 18 to 21

annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in

for information on the achievement of planned targets for

the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. I

the year and explanations provided for the under/ over

conclude that there is a material misstatement in this other

achievement of a number of targets.

information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing
to report in this regard.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION
Internal control deficiencies
Introduction and scope

21. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the

16. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in

financial statements, reported performance information and

terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings

compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective

on the compliance of the institute with specific matters in key

was not to express any form of assurance on it. I did not

legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not

identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

to gather evidence to express assurance.
17. I did not raise material findings on compliance with selected
specific requirements of applicable legislation, as set out in
the Higher Education Act of South Africa (Act no.101 of 1997).
Pretoria
Other information
18. The

30 June 2019

accounting authority is responsible for the other

information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report. The other information does
not include the

financial statements, the auditor’s report

and those selected objectives presented in the annual
performance report that have been specifically reported in
this auditor’s report.
19. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the
reported performance information and compliance with
legislation do not cover the other information and I do not
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
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Statement OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2019
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

4

4 371 945

5 578 938

Intangible assets

5

1 280 109

1 533 548

5 652 054

7 112 486

Current assets
Inventories

28 620

56 972

360 322

775 009

Prepayments

6

Receivables from exchange transactions

7

316 728

234 091

Cash and cash equivalents

8

126 611 865

106 678 965

127 317 535

107 745 037

132 969 589

114 857 523

123 345

-

Total assets

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liability

10

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

9

3 443 353

2 855 665

Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions

9

119 852 553

102 403 059

1 101 758

1 162 568

-

330 665

Provisions

9.1

Operating lease liability
Short-term portion of finance lease liability

10

148 873

69 061

Cash and cash equivalents

8.1

16 244

9 063

Total liabilities

124 686 126

106 830 081

Net assets

8 283 463

8 027 442

Reserves

8 283 463

8 027 442

Net assets

8 283 463

8 027 442
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Statement OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

994 240

219 703

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Investment revenue
Other income

-

346 976

994 240

566 679

Government funding

138 187 178

142 937 113

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions

138 187 178

142 937 113

11

139 181 418

143 503 792

12

19 570 209

22 989 412

4&5

2 559 456

3 076 152

2 680 780

2 785 080

102 746 798

105 594 341

Total revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue

Total revenue

Expenditure
Employee-related costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Rent and utilities (lease rental)
Project expenses

13

General expenses

14.1

9 065 011

10 185 568

Project administration fee

14.2

1 974 868

2 121 383

138 597 122

146 751 936

Total expenditure
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets and liabilities
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year

4 269
588 565

(3 248 144)
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Cash FLOW STATEMENT
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

156 403 863

172 585 690

994 240

219 703

157 398 103

172 805 393

(104 721 666)

(107 715 721)

Compensation of employees and Board members

(19 792 349)

(23 269 230)

Payments to suppliers

(11 854 505)

(33 782 051)

(136 368 520)

(164 767 002)

21 029 583

8 038 391

(414 807)

(1 088 279)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Government funding
Interest income

15

Payments
Project expenses

Net cash flows from operating activities

16

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

4

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

4

15 698

-

Purchase of other intangible assets

5

(704 755)

(1 292 887)

(1 103 864)

(2 381 166)

-

128 360

-

128 360

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from finance lease

10

Net cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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Statement OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Figures in Rands

Notes

Reserves

Balance at 01 April 2017

11 214 801

Net surplus for the year ended 31 March 2018

(3 248 144)

Adjustment to retained earnings 31 March 2018

60 785

Balance at 31 March 2018

8 027 442

Balance at 01 April 2018

8 027 442

Net surplus for the year ended 31 March 2019
Adjustment to retained earnings 31 March 2019
Balance at 31 March 2019

588 565
29

(332 544)
8 283 463
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Statement OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
Figures in Rands

Approved budget

Actual

Variance

4 850 000

994 240

(3 855 760)

-

-

-

4 850 000

994 240

(3 855 760)

Notes

Statement of Financial Performance

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Investment revenue
Other income
Total revenue from exchange transactions

21

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Government funding - operations

35 440 380

35 440 380

-

21

Government funding - projects

114 419 620

102 746 798

(11 672 822)

21

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions

149 860 000

138 187 178

(11 672 822)

Total revenue

154 710 000

139 181 418

(15 528 582)

22 092 532

19 570 209

2 522 323

21

2 320 000

2 559 456

(239 456)

21

Expenditure
Employee-related costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Rent and utilities (lease rental on operating lease)

3 161 000

2 680 780

480 220

21

117 819 620

102 746 798

15 072 822

21

8 366 848

9 065 011

(698 163)

21

950 000

1 974 868

(1 024 868)

21

Total expenditure

154 710 000

138 597 122

16 112 878

Operating surplus

-

584 296

584 296

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets and liabilities

-

4 269

4 269

Surplus for the year

-

588 565

588 565

Project expenses
General expenses
Project administration fee

98

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

21

F

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting POLICIES
1. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance

been assessed as follows:

with, and comply with, effective Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting

Practice

(GRAP)

including

any

interpretations,

guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards

Item

Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Office furniture and
fittings

9-11 years

9%-11%

Board. The implementation of new GRAP standards has not
resulted in any change in accounting policy.

Office equipment

4-6 years

16%-25%

Computer equipment

2-4 years

25%-50%

over the lease term
(3 years)

33%

These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual
basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical cost

Leasehold
improvements

convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified
otherwise.

An assessment is done at each reporting period of whether
there is any indication that the entity’s expectations about the

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have

residual values and the useful lives of assets have changed since

been consistently applied in the preparation of these financial

the preceding reporting period. If any such indication exists,

statements, is disclosed below.

the expected useful lives and/or residual values are revised
accordingly.

1.1 Presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in South African Rand,

The NIHSS derecognises its item of property, plant and

which is the functional currency of the NIHSS.

equipment and/or significant part of an asset upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits or service potential can be

1.2 Going concern assumption

derived from the asset.

These financial statements have been prepared based on the
expectation that the NIHSS will continue to operate as a going

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of

concern for at least the next 12 months.

property, plant and equipment is included in the surplus or deficit
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the

1.3 Property, plant and equipment

derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds,

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition

if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality
of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable service

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised

amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount

as an asset when:

(i.e. impairment losses are recognised).

• It is probable that future economic benefits or service potential

associated with the item will flow to the NIHSS; and
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Expenditure incurred on assets to repair and maintain them is
disclosed separately in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straightline basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated
residual value.
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Accounting POLICIES
Impairment of assets

its estimated recoverable service amount, it is written down

Impairment is the loss in the future economic benefits or service

immediately to its recoverable amount (i.e. impairment losses are

potential of an asset over and above the systematic recognition of

recognised).

the loss through depreciation or amortisation.
1.5 Financial instruments
Assets are annually assessed, by considering internal and external

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial

factors where there is an indication of impairment.

asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of
another entity.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated at the higher of fair value less cost to sell and its value

Initial recognition

in use.

The NIHSS recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its
statement of financial position when the entity becomes a party to

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable

the contractual provisions of the instrument.

service amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
Initial measurement

down to its recoverable service amount.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair
1.4 Intangible assets

value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not

An intangible asset is initially measured at cost. An intangible asset

subsequently measured at fair value, transaction costs that are

is recognised when:

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial

• It is probable that the expected future economic benefits or

instrument.

service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to
1.5.1 Financial assets

the NIHSS; and
• The cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

All financial assets of the NIHSS are categorised as cash and cash
equivalents, and receivables. The classification depends on the

Intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less any

nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at

accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. The useful

the time of initial recognition.

lives of intangible assets have been assessed as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Item
Computer software

Useful life

Depreciation rate

2-4 years

50%-100%

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at amortised cost, which, due
to their short-term nature, closely approximates their fair value.

An assessment is done at each reporting period of whether there

Financial assets at amortised cost

is any indication that the entity’s expectations about the residual

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or

values and the useful lives of intangible assets have changed

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market

since the preceding reporting period. If any such indication exists,

are classified as “financial assets at amortised cost”. These financial

the expected useful lives and/or residual values are revised

assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest

accordingly.

method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate.

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised in the

Effective interest method

surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest

Where the carrying amount of an intangible asset is greater than

income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through

100

ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

F

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting POLICIES
the expected life of the financial asset or, where appropriate, a

the time of initial recognition.

shorter period.
Other financial liabilities
Impairment of financial assets

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each

transaction costs.

year end.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence

cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense

that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the

recognised on an effective yield basis.

initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows of the investment have been impacted. For financial assets

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the

carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the

amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present

expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is

value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments

effective interest rate.

through the expected life of the financial liability or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception

Derecognition

of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in

through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable

the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. On derecognition,

is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.

the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

and the amount paid is included in the net surplus or deficit for

credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying

the period.

amount of the allowance account are recognised in the surplus
or deficit.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset if there is any

Derecognition

intention to either settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and

A financial asset shall be derecognised when the NIHSS realises

settle the liability simultaneously and a legally enforceable right to

the contractual rights to benefits specified in the contract, the

offset exists.

rights expire and the NIHSS surrenders those rights, or the NIHSS
loses control of the contractual rights that comprise a financial

1.6 Tax

asset.

No provision has been made for taxation, as the NIHSS is exempt
from income tax in terms of Section 10 of the Income Tax Act,

On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of

1962 (No. 58 of 1962).

the financial asset and the sum of the proceeds received shall be
recognised in the net surplus or deficit for the period.

1.7 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all

1.5.2 Financial liabilities

the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables from

as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the

exchange transactions.

risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

All financial liabilities of the NIHSS are classified as financial

Finance lease refers to a contract that transfers the risks, rewards,

liabilities at amortised cost. The classification depends on the

rights and obligations incidental to ownership to the lessee and

nature and purpose of the financial liabilities and is determined at

is recorded as a purchase of property, plant and equipment by
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Accounting POLICIES
means of long-term borrowing. All other leases are classified as

1.9 Employee benefits

operating leases.

The cost of employee benefits is recognised during the period
in which the employee renders the related service. Employee

Payments made under operating leases (leases other than finance

entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. A

leases) are charged to the statement of financial performance

provision is made for the estimated liability as a result of services

on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an

rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired,
any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty

Termination benefits are recognised and expensed only when the

is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination

payment is made.

takes place.
Liabilities for annual leave are recognised as they accrue to
1.7.1 Finance leases - lessee

employees. The NIHSS recognises the leave obligation during

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the

the vesting period based on the best available estimate of the

statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair

accumulated leave expected to vest. The liability is based on the

value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the

total amount of leave days due to employees at year end and also

minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor

on the total remuneration package of the employee. The leave

is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease

liability is recognised as an accrual.

obligation.
No provision has been made for retirement benefits as the NIHSS
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance

does not provide for retirement benefits for its employees.

charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to

1.10 Provisions and contingencies

produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the

Provisions are recognised when the NIHSS has a present legal

liability.

or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits or service potential

1.7.2 Operating leases - lessee

will be required or can be made to settle the obligation.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the

Provisions are measured as management’s best estimate of the

amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments

expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date

is recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

and are discounted to present value where the amount of the
provision is material.

1.8 Inventories
Inventories consist of consumables on hand at the reporting date

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence

and are measured at cost. An individual inventory item whose cost

will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of an

does not exceed R1,000 is recognised, on acquisition, in surplus

uncertain future event not wholly within the control of the NIHSS.

or deficit.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to these financial statements, unless the possibility of an

Inventories are subsequently measured at the lower of cost and

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service

net replacement value.

potential is remote.
1.11 Revenue
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the NIHSS and these benefits can be measured
reliably.
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1.11.1 Revenue from exchange transactions

1.12 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Revenue from exchange transactions is recognised when it is

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure that was made in

probable that future economic benefits or service potential will

vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been

flow to the NIHSS and these benefits can be measured reliably.

exercised.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial

Interest income is accrued on a time proportionate basis, taking

performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The

into account the principal outstanding and effective interest rate

expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the

over the period to maturity.

expense, and where recovered is subsequently accounted for as
revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.11.2 Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Non-exchange revenue transactions result in resources being

1.13 Irregular expenditure

received by the NIHSS, usually in accordance with a binding

Irregular expenditure is expenditure other than unauthorised

arrangement.

expenditure, incurred in contravention of or not in accordance
with the NIHSS supply chain policy.

When the NIHSS receives resources as a result of a non-exchange
transaction, it recognises an asset and revenue in the period that

1.14 Reserves

the arrangement becomes binding and when it is probable that

Any surplus funds at the end of the financial year are retained and

the NIHSS will receive economic benefits or service potential and

utilised for project expenditure in the new financial year.

it can make a reliable measure of the resources transferred.
1.15 Related parties
Where the resources transferred to the NIHSS are subject to

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability

the fulfilment of specific conditions, it recognises an asset and a

to control the other party or exercise significant influence over

corresponding liability. As and when the conditions are fulfilled,

the other party in making financial and operating decisions or if

the liability is reduced and revenue is recognised.

the related party entity or another entity is subject to common
control. Where such a situation exists, the nature and type of

The asset and the corresponding revenue are measured on

transactions and relationships between parties are disclosed in

the basis of the fair value of the asset on initial recognition. The

the notes to these financial statements.

following sources of receipts are considered revenue from nonexchange transactions:

1.16 Commitments
Commitments are disclosed where the NIHSS has, in the normal

Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) - operations

course of its operations, entered into a contractual agreement

funding

with third parties for project expenses that are yet due for

The MTEF (Medium Term Expenditure Framework – three-year

payment.

rolling government budget) allocated funding received from the
DHET. The funding for the NIHSS operations is not conditional

Commitments are measured at the amount the entity would pay

and revenue is recognised when the funds are received.

to settle the obligation, to a third party at reporting date.

National Skills Fund (NSF)

Commitments are included in the disclosure note to these

The NSF funds all the NIHSS award projects (including the African

financial statements.

Pathways scholarships and the BRICS Think Tank). The funds for
the projects are conditional and revenue is only recognised to the
extent that expenditure is incurred.
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Accounting POLICIES
1.17 Reporting period

made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where non-

The reporting period for the 2018/19 financial year is 12 months.

disclosure could influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.

1.18 Comparatives
The NIHSS was established on 05 December 2013. The financial

1.21 Significant judgements and sources of estimation

period for the 2017/18 financial year is a 12-month period from

uncertainty

01 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.

In preparing these financial statements, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the

Where there has been a change in accounting estimate to the

amounts represented in these financial statements and related

extent that it gives rise to changes in assets and liabilities, or

disclosures. Use of available information and the application of

relates to an item of net assets, the change is recognised by

judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results

adjusting the carrying amount of the related asset, liability or

in the future could differ from these estimates which may be

item of net assets in the period of the change. The comparative

material to these financial statements.

amounts are therefore not adjusted.
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
1.19 Budget information

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at year end, that have

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 01 April 2018

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

to 31 March 2019.

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

These financial statements and the approved budget are on

Estimation of useful lives and residual value

the same basis of accounting; therefore, a comparison of actual

An assessment is done at each reporting period of whether there

performance with budgeted amounts for the reporting period

is any indication that the entity’s expectations about the residual

has been included in the statement of comparison of budget and

values and the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and

actual amounts.

intangible assets have changed since the preceding reporting
period. If any such indication exists, an estimation of the revised

1.20 Events after the reporting date

expected useful lives and/or residual values is done.

Events after the reporting date are those events, whether
favourable or unfavourable, that occur between the reporting

Impairment of assets

date and the date when the financial statements are approved.

The NIHSS assesses its receivables for impairment at the end of

Two types of events can be identified:

each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment loss

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the

should be recorded in the surplus or deficit, management makes

reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date); and

judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a

• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the

measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from

reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).

receivables.

The NIHSS will adjust the amount recognised in the financial

Segment reporting

statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date

Management has assessed that the NIHSS operates as one

once the event occurred.

segment both geographically and in service offering. Therefore,
management has not divided the financial information into

The NIHSS will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate
of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate cannot be
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2. GENERAL INFORMATION

The scope of the NIHSS is to advance and coordinate scholarship,

The creation of the National Institute for the Humanities and

research and ethical practice in the fields of the humanities and

Social Sciences (NIHSS) to dynamise these fields of study in South

social sciences within and through the existing public universities

Africa’s higher education system emerged out of a wide-ranging

and those to be established or declared in future as public

consultative process inaugurated by the then Minister of Higher

universities.

Education and Training, Dr Bonginkosi Nzimande.
The functions of the NIHSS are to:
In 2010, the Minister of Higher Education and Training appointed
a task team to develop a Charter on the Humanities and Social

(a) Provide services to the higher education sphere within the
humanities and social sciences;

Sciences. This was aimed at affirming the importance of the

(b) Advance learning within the specific scope or application of

humanities and social sciences as forms of scholarship. The final

the Institute by ensuring collaboration and/or coordination of

Report of the Charter was submitted to the Minister at the time

the work of higher education institutions; and

on 04 August 2011. A key recommendation of the report was the

(c) Advise the Minister of Higher Education and Training on

establishment of an institute for the promotion of the humanities

matters relating to the Institute’s specific scope or application,

and social sciences.

or higher education generally.

Guided by the overwhelming support for the recommendations
from the stakeholders across the entire cultural divide and for
the establishment of the institute in particular, the Minister then
provided for the establishment of the National Institute for the
Humanities and Social Sciences (NIHSS) through the Government
Gazette Notice No. 37118 of 05 December 2013.
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3. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
3.1 Standards issued, but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there are standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective. These
include the following standards and interpretations that are applicable to the NIHSS and may have an impact on future financial
statements:
Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

IGRAP 1: Applying the Probability
Test on Initial Recognition of
Revenue

1 April 2020

This standard provides guidance on how an entity applies the probability test on initial
recognition of non-exchange revenue that arises when there is uncertainty that the revenue
will eventually be received.

GRAP 20: Related Parties

1 April 2019

This standard prescribes the disclosure of information relevant to draw attention to the
possibility that the entity’s financial position and surplus/deficit may have been affected by
the existence of related parties. It is not expected that this standard will significantly impact
future disclosures.

IGRAP 20: Accounting for
Adjustments to Revenue

1 April 2020

This standard refers to adjustments to revenue recognised in terms of legislation or similar
means following completion of an internal review process or outcome of an external appeal or
objection.

GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables

1 April 2019

This standard prescribes the accounting requirements for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of statutory receivables. It is not expected that this standard will
significantly impact future disclosures.

GRAP 109: Accounting by
Principals and Agents

1 April 2019

The objective of this standard is to outline principles to be used by an entity to assess
whether it is party to a principal-agent arrangement, and whether it is a principal or an agent in
undertaking transactions in terms of such arrangement.

Standards not yet effective or relevant
The following standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective are not applicable to the NIHSS and will not
have an impact on future financial statements:
Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

GRAP 18: Segment Reporting

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor

1 April 2019

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 34: Separate Financial Statements

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 35: Consolidated Financial Statements

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 36: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 37: Joint Arrangements

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 38: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 105: Transfers of Functions Between Entities Under Common
Control

1 April 2019

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 106: Transfers of Functions Between Entities Not Under
Common Control

1 April 2019

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 107: Mergers

1 April 2019

No significant impact on future disclosures

GRAP 110: Living and Non-living Resources

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2019
Figures in Rands

2018

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Office furniture and fittings

3 301 241

(1 009 701)

2 291 540

3 302 121

(681 874)

2 620 246

Office equipment

1 447 144

(674 921)

772 223

1 401 269

(502 429)

898 840

Computer equipment

1 454 124

(997 935)

456 189

1 417 063

(692 948)

724 116

Leasehold improvements

3 805 572

(3 040 859)

764 713

3 780 168

(2 552 543)

1 227 625

154 992

(67 712)

87 280

145 122

(37 011)

108 111

10 163 073

(5 791 128)

4 371 945

10 045 743

(4 466 805)

5 578 938

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Total

2 620 246

8 052

(6 335)

(330 423)

2 291 540

Office equipment

898 840

308 789

(2 773)

(432 633)

772 223

Computer equipment

724 116

62 692

(11 429)

(319 190)

456 189

1 227 625

25 404

-

(488 315)

764 713

Office equipment - project assets
Total

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019
Figures in Rands
Office furniture and fittings

Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - project assets
Total

108 111

9 870

-

(30 701)

87 280

5 578 938

414 807

(20 537)

(1 601 262)

4 371 945

During the 2018/19 financial year, a total amount of R30 892 was incurred to repair and maintain various assets.

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018
Figures in Rands

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Total

Office furniture and fittings

2 750 927

193 553

-

(324 234)

2 620 246

Office equipment

1 131 707

44 480

-

(277 347)

898 840

682 934

364 448

(6 786)

(316 481)

724 116

1 963 768

470 750

-

(1 206 893)

1 227 625

119 355

15 048

-

(26 292)

108 111

6 648 691

1 088 279

(6 786)

(2 151 246)

5 578 938

Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment - project assets
Total

Gross carrying value

2019

2018

2 291 540

2 620 246

Office equipment

772 223

898 840

Computer equipment

456 189

724 116

Leasehold improvements

764 713

1 227 625

Office furniture and fittings

Office equipment - project assets
Total

87 280

108 111

4 371 945

5 578 938
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2019
Figures in Rands

2018

Cost

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value

Cost

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value

Computer software

1 088 196

(622 925)

465 271

837 223

(374 515)

462 708

Internally generated computer
software

2 352 024

(1 537 186)

814 838

1 898 242

(827 402)

1 070 840

Total

3 440 220

(2 160 111)

1 280 109

2 735 465

(1 201 917)

1 533 548

The NIHSS developed a Grant Management system internally during the 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years. The cumulative expenditure on
developing the system has been recognised in the carrying amount of these intangible assets.

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2019
Figures in Rands
Computer software

Opening
balance

Additions

Amortisation

Total

462 708

250 973

(248 410)

465 271

Internally generated computer software

1 070 840

453 782

(709 784)

814 838

Total

1 533 548

704 755

(958 194)

1 280 109

Opening
balance

Additions

Amortisation

Total

Computer software

339 299

335 498

(212 089)

462 708

Internally generated computer software

826 268

957 387

(712 815)

1 070 840

1 165 567

1 292 885

(924 905)

1 533 548

2019

2018

1 280 109

1 533 548

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018
Figures in Rands

Gross carrying value
Computer software
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6. PREPAYMENTS
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

Assets paid in advance

92 000

92 000

Rental paid in advance

249 404

249 404

Warranty prepayment

391

1 961

18 527

431 644

360 322

775 009

2019

2018

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

130 477

173 539

Other receivables

186 251

60 552

316 728

234 091

2019

2018

Other prepayments
Total

7. RECEIVABLES
Receivables from exchange transactions
Figures in Rands

Notes

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Figures in Rands

Notes

NIHSS operating bank account
NIHSS NSF bank account

4 632 483

7 060 123

15 118 175

17 173 140

Cash on hand

3 044

2 100

Investments

106 858 163

82 443 602

Total

126 611 865

106 678 965

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the NIHSS. The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair value.

8.1 Cash and cash equivalents
Figures in Rands

2019

2018

Credit card

Notes

16 244

9 063

Total

16 244

9 063
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9. PAYABLES
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Figures in Rands

2019

2018

Trade payables

Notes

933 242

1 913 025

Trade accruals

1 774 799

408 239

Employees’ payables - 13th cheque
Accrued leave pay

68 850

25 800

666 462

508 601

3 443 353

2 855 665

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial liabilities.

Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
Figures in Rands

Notes

Trade payables
Trade accruals
Trade payables (NSF) *
Total payables

2019

2018

3 963 950

3 196 650

712 786

2 240 881

115 175 817

96 965 528

119 852 553

102 403 059

123 295 906

105 258 724

* The trade payables relating to the NSF has been accounted for as deferred revenue in line with GRAP 104.
The funds for the projects are conditional and recognised as deferred revenue. Revenue is only recognised to the extent that expenditure is incurred.

9.1 Provisions
Figures in Rands

2019

2018

Opening carrying amount

Notes

1 162 568

963 432

Amounts not utilised

(508 622)

-

Amounts paid out/utilised

(653 946)

(624 866)

Additional amount provided

1 101 758

824 002

Closing carrying amount

1 101 758

1 162 568

The provision relates to provisions for performance incentives expected to be paid out before the end of August 2019. These are performance based and
are driven by the employees’ performance evaluations.

10. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITY
Figures in Rands
Finance lease liability
Less: short-term portion disclosed under current liabilities
Non-current lease liability
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11. REVENUE
Figures in Rands

Notes

Investment revenue - interest
Government funding
Other Income
Total

2019

2018

994 240

219 703

138 187 178

142 937 113

-

346 976

139 181 418

143 503 792

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services is as follows:
Figures in Rands

Notes

Investment revenue - interest

2019

2018

994 240

219 703

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:
Transfer revenue (government funding)
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

35 440 380

37 342 775

National Skills Fund (NSF)

102 746 798

105 594 338

Total government funding

138 187 178

142 937 113

2019

2018

18 322 789

20 420 277

Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) - operations funding

12. EMPLOYEE-RELATED COSTS
Figures in Rands
Basic salaries
Overtime

Notes

-

979

56 874

62 875

Skills Development Levy (SDL)

173 213

193 964

Acting allowances

130 749

473 277

15 276

111 041

Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF)

Subsistence allowances
Accrued leave pay

157 861

(64 068)

Performance Incentives

593 137

824 002

36 715

43 954

Provident Fund - employer contributions
Temporary staff
Total

83 595

923 111

19 570 209

22 989 412
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13. PROJECT EXPENSES
Awards
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

Catalytic Research Projects

3 990 339

4 847 036

Humanities Hubs

1 743 134

8 590 228

132 500

1 792 085

BRICS collaboration
Awards

180 000

885 894

Evaluation panels and Awards Ceremony

4 988 151

4 302 463

Working Groups

5 382 943

9 131 841

250 000

1 737 000

BRICS Think Tank

15 274 434

6 441 295

Emeriti Professors

3 375 000

3 939 321

Annual National Doctoral Conference

3 694 453

3 615 037

African Pathways Teaching and Research Mobility

1 219 509

628 941

Professional Associations

National and regional workshops and seminars

129 643

1 666

Workshop costs (project) travel

199 192

367 034

Total awards

40 559 298

46 279 841

African Pathways (NSF-funded scholarships)

11 352 000

10 956 000

Sahuda (NSF-funded scholarships)

50 835 500

48 358 500

Total scholarships

62 187 500

59 314 500

102 746 798

105 594 341

Total project expenses

14.1 GENERAL EXPENSES
Figures in Rands

2019

2018

Audit fees - external

749 512

838 550

Audit fees - internal

259 430

337 181

Advertising and promotions

490 867

513 492

Bank charges
Board member emoluments
Cleaning
Consulting fees
Courier and postage

Notes

19 107

19 889

222 140

279 818

67 935

55 648

1 460 002

979 356

5 670

6 212

262 217

250 224

Internet costs

6 728

129 037

Loss on disposal of assets

9 109

6 786

11 451

13 907

Insurance

Rental of equipment - finance costs
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Figures in Rands

2019

2018

Legal fees

Notes

751 428

1 109 164

Licences

402 722

42 727

-

70

Printing and stationery

277 995

388 518

Rates and taxes

212 657

77 950

63 314

208 152

506

1 813

Small assets

11 521

4 223

Groceries

41 645

58 296

Staff recruitment

31 644

528 925

Staff refreshments

335 869

256 034

Staff training

276 559

650 714

131 347

98 083

31 184

13 687

Supplies and services

474 863

300 974

Telephone and fax

629 733

580 950

Travel and accommodation

460 228

879 403

Water and electricity

670 863

604 105

Meetings costs

Repairs and maintenance

4

Security expenses

Staff welfare

25

Subscriptions to professional bodies

Warranty costs
Workmen Compensation
Workshop costs (operational)
Total

1 570

1 570

63 310

245 793

631 885

704 317

9 065 011

10 185 568

2019

2018

14.2 Project administration fee
Figures in Rands

Notes

Doctoral Schools
Workshop costs (project)
NSF project administration costs

78 648

203 040

1 757 439

1 199 696

138 781

718 647

1 974 868

2 121 383

2019

2018

15. INVESTMENT REVENUE
Figures in Rands
Investment interest at the beginning of the year
Net interest income received as per income statement
Accrued net interest income at the end of the year
Investment income

Notes

-

-

994 240

219 703

-

-

994 240

219 703
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16. NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Figures in Rands

Notes

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year

2019

2018

588 565

(3 248 144)

Adjustments for:
(4 269)

Gain on disposal of assets
Depreciation and amortisation

2 559 456

3 076 152

(Decrease)/Increase in operating and finance lease liability

(118 400)

(121 221)

Changes in working capital:
(Increase) in inventories
(Increase) in receivables from exchange transactions and prepayments
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables from non-exchange transactions
Increase in trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Increase in trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
Increase/(Decrease) in retained earnings

28 352

(18 514)

332 050

(419 630)

-

15 983 885

(203 916)

(20 976 781)

18 180 289

13 823 429

(332 544)

(60 785)

21 029 583

8 038 391

2019

2018

997 618

1 813 855

997 618

1 813 855

17. COMMITMENTS
17.1. Operating lease commitments - as lessee (expense)
Figures in Rands

Notes

Minimum lease payments due:
Within one year
In second to fifth year (inclusive)
The lease term for the premises occupied by the NIHSS came to an end in October 2018 and was extended until July 2019. The building is located on Erf 902,
24 St Andrews Road, Parktown.

17.2. Finance lease commitments - as lessee
Reconciliation of total future minimum lease payments and their present values:
Figures in Rands

Present value

Interest

Payment

Due not later than one year (current liabilities)

148 873

23 824

172 697

Due later than one year and not later than five years (non-current liabilities)

123 345

6 328

129 674

272 218

30 153

302 371

The Institute has entered into two finance lease agreements, for the rental of photocopying and printing equipment during the financial year. There are no
annual escalation clauses associated with the leases. The leases have been accounted for in terms of GRAP 13. No provision has been made for the option to
renew the leases on expiry. Both leases are for a two-year period ending on 28 February 2021 and 31 October 2020, respectively.
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Project commitments
Projects
All projects and African Pathways scholarships are funded by the National Skills Fund (NSF). The contract period ranges from one to
three years for all projects.
Institution/Entity

Programme

Reference

Contractual
value at
31 March
2018

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP 01501

University of Cape Town

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP 01503 /
CRP01703

Liliesleaf Foundation

Humanities Hubs

NIHSS-LF 001

Catalytic Research Projects

Project
refunds

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2019

Contractual
value at
31 March
2019

137 500

-

137 500

200 000

200 000

-

50 000

-

50 000

343 603

132 500

211 103

CRP015015

120 000

120 000

-

BRICS collaboration
University of the Witwatersrand

New
contracts
for the year
ending
31 March
2019

University of the Witwatersrand

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01625

213 400

-

213 400

Stellenbosch University

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01702

465 000

232 500

232 500

University of the Western Cape

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01714

186 900

186 900

-

University of Pretoria

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01622B

198 875

198 875

-

University of the Western Cape

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01617B

500 000

300 000

200 000

Durban University of
Technology

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01605B

200 000

-

200 000

University of the Witwatersrand

Catalytic Research Projects

CARPROJ9C

348 000

348 000

-

Nelson Mandela University

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01828B

-

300 000

270 000

30 000

University of the Witwatersrand

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP016033B

500 000

350 000

150 000

University of the Witwatersrand

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01505B

500 000

350 000

150 000

University of Cape Town

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01639B

500 000

350 000

150 000

University of Pretoria

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01611B

500 000

350 000

150 000

Stellenbosch University

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP2018/01

500 000

350 000

150 000

University of Pretoria

Catalytic Research Projects

CRP01619B

350 000

150 000

University of Fort Hare

Working Groups

CRP01614

Linguistics Society of Southern
Africa

Professional Associations

University of Cape Town

500 000
-

99 000

99 000

PAP17/1003

250 000

250 000

-

BRICS Teaching and Research
Mobility Grants

BRICSMOB/2018/10

79 720

79 720

-

North-West University

Emeriti Professors

NMP2017/09

150 000

-

150 000

University of the Witwatersrand

Emeriti Professors

NMP2017/21

150 000

-

150 000

University of Johannesburg

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/03

300 000

300 000

-

University of Limpopo

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/04

300 000

300 000

-

University of South Africa

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/05

300 000

300 000

-

University of Pretoria

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/06

300 000

300 000

-

University of South Africa

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/07

300 000

300 000

-

Stellenbosch University

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/08

300 000

300 000

-
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Institution/Entity

Programme

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2019

Contractual
value at
31 March
2019

Nelson Mandela University

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/09

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/10

300 000

300 000

-

300 000

300 000

-

Prof Frederick Hendricks

Emeriti Professors

Prof Nhlanhla Maake

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/19/01

300 000

300 000

-

NMP2018/19/02

300 000

300 000

University of the Western Cape

-

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/01UWC

-

300 000

225 000

75 000

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Emeriti Professors

NMP
2019/03/019

300 000

150 000

150 000

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

WG 01718

500 000

250 000

250 000

Maryke Bailey

Working Groups

WG01708

160 000

160 000

-

University of the Western Cape

Working Groups

WG01726

200 000

200 000

-

HSRC Press

Working Groups

WG01732

425 000

425 000

-

University of Johannesburg

Working Groups

WG01735

150 000

150 000

-

University of Cape Town

Working Groups

WG01737

64 188

-

64 188

Nelson Mandela University

Working Groups

WG201801

296 400

296 400

-

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

WG201802

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

WGO01647

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

WG01727

96 000

96 000

-

University of Johannesburg

Working Groups

WGPC 2018/01

300 000

300 000

-

Iconic Productions

Working Groups

WGPC 2018/03

100 000

100 000

-

University of Cape Town

Working Groups

WGPG18/1041

300 000

270 000

30 000

South African History Online
(SAHO)

Working Groups

WGPG18/1071

120 000

120 000

-

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

WGPG18/1034

164 000

164 000

-

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

QWG201802

300 000

270 000

30 000

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

00201801WG

300 000

300 000

-

UKZN Press, University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Working Groups

WG01657B

600 000

360 000

240 000

MISTRA

Working Groups

WGPC 2018/02

300 000

200 000

100 000

Institute for Global Dialogue
(IGD)

Working Groups

WGP18/1043

300 000

270 000

30 000

Stellenbosch University

Working Groups

WGPG18/1023

300 000

300 000

-

University of the Witwatersrand

Working Groups

WGPG18/1006

300 000

300 000

-

Rhodes University

Working Groups

WGP18/1035

300 000

300 000

-

HSRC Press

Working Groups

WGPG18/1018

1 020 000

300 000

720 000

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Working Groups

WGPG18/1070

186 000

167 400

18 600

UCT Press & Juta and Company

Working Groups

WGPG18/1008

73 096

73 096

-

University of Johannesburg

BRICS Academic Cluster

NIHSS/BRICSCluster 05:2017

-

150 000

University of KwaZulu-Natal

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC02/2018/02

300 000

300 000

-

University of Zululand

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC04/2018/04B

160 000

160 000

-
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Institution/Entity

Programme

Reference

Human Sciences Research
Council (HSRC)

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC01/2018/01B

Human Sciences Research
Council (HSRC)

BRICS Academic Cluster

University of Zululand
University of the Witwatersrand

Contractual
value at
31 March
2018

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2019

Contractual
value at
31 March
2019

300 000

300 000

-

BC04/2018/06B

300 000

300 000

-

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC03/2018/03B

170 000

170 000

-

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC04/2018/05B

150 000

150 000

-

University of the Free State

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC04/2018/07B

270 000

270 000

-

Tshwane University of
Technology

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC05/2018/09B

300 000

300 000

-

Institute for Global Dialogue
(IGD)

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC05/2018/08B

300 000

300 000

-

University of KwaZulu-Natal

BRICS Academic Cluster

BC05/2018/02B

150 000

150 000

-

Freedom Park

Humanities Hubs

00201703HUB

-

University of Fort Hare

Humanities Hubs

00201705HUB

1 500 000

-

1 500 000

iSimangaliso Humanities Hub

Humanities Hubs

00201706HUB

211 600

211 600

-

Lwandle Migrant Labour
Museum

Humanities Hubs

00201702HUB

441 740

-

441 740

Mapungubwe National Park
and World Heritage Site

Humanities Hubs

00201707HUB

600 000

-

600 000

Hunterstoun Heritage Centre,
University of Fort Hare

Humanities Hubs

00201704HUB

530 500

426 300

104 200

Origins Humanities Hub

Humanities Hubs

00201708HUB

300 000

300 000

-

Rhodes University

Humanities Hubs

00201709HUB

495 000

297 000

198 000

University of the Western Cape

Humanities Hubs

00201710HUB

400 000

240 000

160 000

Liliesleaf Trust

Humanities Hubs

00201713HUB

750 000

450 000

300 000

Robben Island Museum

Humanities Hubs

00201711HUB

150 000

-

150 000

Market Theatre Foundation

Humanities Hubs

00201712HUB

225 000

225 000

-

University of KwaZulu-Natal

BRICS Research Projects

NIHSS/BRICSRP
201702

236 000

236 000

-

40

-

40

150 000

150 000

-

-

New
contracts
for the year
ending
31 March
2019

Project
refunds

412 443

412 443

North-West University

BRICS Working Group

BWG17/001

University of Cape Town

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/03

University of KwaZulu-Natal

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/05

60 000

60 000

-

University of the Witwatersrand

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/07

90 000

90 000

-

University of Fort Hare

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/11

60 000

60 000

-

Rhodes University

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/09

75 000

75 000

-

University of Cape Town

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/04

60 000

60 000

-

University of Johannesburg

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/08

60 000

60 000

-

University of KwaZulu-Natal

BRICS Working Group

BWG/2018/10

60 000

60 000

-

Tshwane University of
Technology

African Pathways Programme

AMG18/1030

136 880

136 880

-

Stellenbosch University

African Pathways Programme

BMG18/1024

120 000

120 000

-
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Institution/Entity

Programme

Reference

University of Cape Town

African Pathways Programme

AMG18/1057

University of the Free State

African Pathways Programme

BMG18/1004

University of Johannesburg

African Pathways Programme

Tshwane University of
Technology

African Pathways Programme

Nelson Mandela University
University of KwaZulu-Natal

Contractual
value at
31 March
2018

New
contracts
for the year
ending
31 March
2019

Project
refunds

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2019

Contractual
value at
31 March
2019

54 810

54 810

-

60 000

60 000

-

AMG18/1058

38 300

38 300

-

AMG18/1028

32 949

32 949

-

African Pathways Programme

BMG18/1009

118 700

118 700

-

African Pathways Programme

AMG18/1007

148 000

148 000

-

University of KwaZulu-Natal

African Pathways Programme

AMG18/1021

150 000

150 000

-

University of KwaZulu-Natal

African Pathways Programme

AMG18/1053

95 170

95 170

-

Nelson Mandela University

African Pathways Programme

BMG18/1033

125 000

125 000

-

University of Johannesburg

African Pathways Programme

AMG18/1046

139 700

139 700

-

Institute for Global Dialogue
(IGD)

SABTT-IGD Policy Dialogues for
2017/18

-

400 000

Institute for Global Dialogue
(IGD)

SABTT-IGD Policy Dialogues &
Policy Paper

300 000

-

Institute for Economic
Research and Innovation

BRICS Research and
Development (R&D) Mapping

-

1 240 000

Economic Justice Network of
the Fellowship of Christian
Councils in Southern Africa

Civil BRICS Forum 2018

300 000

300 000

-

Lifestyle Media

BAR Editor

344 000

344 000

-

Lifestyle Media

Consultancy agreement

450 000

217 117

232 883

Tlaleng Mofokeng

Consultancy agreement

300 000

118 174

181 826

400 000
300 000
1 240 000

NSF project operational
expenses ^
Total

19 294 207

16 168 466

14 937 605

^ These are operational expenses incurred to support the NSF projects that do not fall under a contract.
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Scholarships (African Pathways)

Contractual
value at
31 March 2018

New contracts
for the year
ending 31
March 2019

Write-off

Expenditure for
the yearending
31 March 2019

Contractual
value at
31 March 2019

1 302 000

10 956 000

510 000

11 352 000

396 000

-

-

-

-

1 302 000

10 956 000

510 000

11 352 000

396 000

African Pathways Programme
African Pathways operational expenses #
Total

# These are operational expenses incurred to support the African Pathways Programme.
Contractual
value at
31 March 2018

New contracts
for the year
ending 31
March 2019

Write-off

Expenditure for
the year ending
31 March 2019

Contractual
value at
31 March 2019

Scholarships

3 388 500

55 715 000

930 000

50 835 500

7 338 000

Total

3 388 500

55 715 000

930 000

50 835 500

7 338 000

Scholarships (Sahuda)

18. RELATED PARTIES
Relationship
Controlling entity:

Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)

Entities under common control:

NSF

Members of key management:

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

CEO

Tumelo Mokoena

CFO

Members of the Board:

Prof Aristides Sitas (Chairperson)
Prof Ahmed Bawa
Dr René Smith
Dr Bernard Nthambeleni
Prof Fiona Tregenna
Mahlubi Mabizela
Luli Callinicos
Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize
Jacomien Rousseau
Thapelo Molapo
Nolwazi Mamorare
Cynthia Maponya
Prof Simphiwe Mini
Frencel Gillion
Maleshini Naidoo (Chairperson of Audit and Risk Committee)
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Related party balances
Figures in Rands

2019

2018

Receivables
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)

-

Payables
115 175 817

96 965 528

138 187 178

142 937 113

Chief Executive Officer

1 524 420

1 471 794

Chief Financial Officer

1 377 355

1 292 744

Total

2 901 775

2 764 538

Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)
All related party balances and transactions to the DHET include the transfer to/from the National Skills Fund.

Related party transactions
Transactions
Revenue
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)
Remuneration - members of key management

The key management group consists of the NIHSS CEO and CFO.
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Remuneration - Board members
Figures in Rands

Reimbursements
2018/19

Board fees
2018/19

Total
2018/19

Total
2017/18

Prof Aristides Sitas

-

33 017

33 017

42 665

Prof Ahmed Bawa

-

-

-

7 525

Dr Pamela Maseko *

-

-

-

650

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

-

19 723

19 723

36 765

Prof Fiona Tregenna

-

25 492

25 492

29 500

Alex Mashilo *

-

-

-

15 025

Luli Callinicos

-

18 345

18 345

18 200

Ivor Baatjes *

-

-

-

10 894

Prof Rosemary Moeketsi *

-

-

-

35 410

John Pampallis *

-

-

-

38 144

Stephen Smith *

-

-

-

27 470

Frencel Gillion

-

16 439

16 439

-

Jacomien Rousseau
Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize
Dr René Smith
Cynthia Maponya

1 524

-

1 524

-

-

22 800

22 800

-

1 000

19 723

20 723

-

242

7 338

7 580

-

Nolwazi Mamorare

-

9 957

9 957

-

Thapelo Molapo

-

26 899

26 899

-

Prof Simphiwe Mini

-

11 007

11 007

Maleshini Naidoo (Chairperson of Audit and Risk Committee)

-

8 634

8 634

Nokuthula Selamolela (Chairperson of Audit and Risk Committee) *
Total

-

-

-

-

17 570

2 766

219 374

222 140

279 818

The Board consists of members appointed in terms of the Government Gazette 37118. Remuneration is paid to members.
* The Board members indicated were on the previous Board; the term of the previous Board ended on 27 March 2018, and the new Board was appointed in
the 2018/19 financial year. The NIHSS has remunerated members of the Board for attending Board and sub-committee meetings as disclosed above.
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Transactions made to organisations associated with Board members **
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

5 798 530

8 127 888

Entities associated with Board members

Associating Board members

University of Cape Town

Prof Aristides Sitas

University of the Western Cape

Prof Aristides Sitas

-

5 134 100

University of KwaZulu-Natal

Prof Aristides Sitas

-

10 541 939

Robben Island Museum Council

Luli Callinicos

-

150 000

Mapungubwe Institute for Strategic Reflection
(MISTRA)

Luli Callinicos

200 000

915 000

University of South Africa

Prof Rosemary Moeketsi and Prof Ahmed Bawa

Cordifon CC

Prof Fiona Tregenna

University of Venda

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni and Thapelo Molapo

North-West University

Alex Mashilo

Nelson Mandela University

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

Durban University of Technology

Dr René Smith

Molapo Industries (Pty) Ltd

Thapelo Molapo

University of Johannesburg

Nolwazi Mamorare

Rhodes University

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa (CEO)

Mzala Nxumalo Centre for the Study of South
African Society

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa (CEO) and John Pampallis
(2017/18)

University of the Witwatersrand

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa (CEO) and Alex Mashilo
(2017/18)

Total

6 737 889
-

4 388 607

2 302 000

3 764 370
2 618 360

3 903 084

-

476 706

-

16 388
5 487 530
5 166 289
300 000
12 280 128

18 255 905

30 464 366

66 100 347

** These transactions are between the NIHSS and the entities that are associated with Board members/CEO, and none of these particular ones were paid
directly to the Board member/CEO.
All transactions above occurred under terms that were no more favourable than those available in similar arm’s length dealings.
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19. RISK MANAGEMENT
The focus of risk management in the NIHSS is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the NIHSS.
While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, management endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that the appropriate infrastructure,
controls, systems and ethics are applied throughout the NIHSS and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.
As the NIHSS acquires finance from the DHET and does not have borrowed funds, it does not have major exposure to credit, liquidity,
interest and market risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the NIHSS will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity
risk management rests with the DHET, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the
NIHSS short-, medium- and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.
2018/19
Payables from exchange transactions
2017/18
Payables from exchange transactions

6 months or less

6-12 months

3 443 353

-

1-2 years
-

6 months or less

6-12 months

1-2 years

2 855 665

-

-

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to meet an obligation.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as outstanding receivables
and committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only highly reputable financial institutions are used.
2018/19
The ageing of receivables from exchange transactions:
Not past due
The ageing of cash and cash equivalents:
Not past due

Gross

Impairment

2019: Total

316 728

-

316 728

Gross

Impairment

2019: Total

126 611 865

-

126 611 865

Gross

Impairment

2018: Total

234 091

-

234 091

Gross

Impairment

2018: Total

106 678 965

-

106 678 965

2017/18
The ageing of receivables from exchange transactions:
Not past due
The ageing of cash and cash equivalents:
Not past due

Market risk
No significant events occurred during the year in the market that the NIHSS is aware of.
Interest rate risk
The NIHSS has limited exposure to interest rate risk. The NIHSS cash and cash equivalents are subject to interest rate risk for the portion
of interest received. The interest rate risk is limited as funds are invested with one of the four major banks and this is assessed annually.
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20. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
No events after the reporting date occurred that the NIHSS is aware of.
21. BUDGET DIFFERENCES
Notes to statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts
Item

Reason

Investment revenue

Interest received was under the budgeted amount due to late receipt of funds during the financial year. Interest from
investments from the projects funding has been processed to the deferred revenue account.

Government funding

The full allocation of funding for both operations and projects was received in the financial year.
The variance is due to deferred revenue which will be recognised as soon as grant conditions are met.

Employee-related costs

The employee-related costs were under the budget due to a reduction in the number of staff members during the year.
As such, there were vacant positions yet to be filled at year end.

Depreciation and
amortisation

The variance is due to asset additions during the 2018/19 financial year. All assets purchased were budgeted for.

Rent and utilities

Rent is under budget due to an extension of the current lease on the building. The extension was made on the same
terms and conditions as the original lease agreement, which ended on 30 October 2018.

Project expenses

The full allocation of funding for both operations and projects was received in the financial year.
The amount under budget has been fully committed and is to be disbursed as soon as contract conditions are met.

General expenses

General expenses were incurred during the financial year and in line with the budget. The amount over budget was
financed from funds received during the year, not initially budgeted for.

Project administration fee

The full allocation of funding for both operations and projects was received in the financial year. The amount over budget
was financed from interest.

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE
Categories of financial instruments
2018/19
Financial assets
Figures in Rands
Receivables from exchange transactions
Receivables from non-exchange transactions

At amortised cost

Total

316 728

316 728

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents

126 611 865

126 611 865

Total

126 928 593

126 928 593

Financial assets
Figures in Rands

At amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

3 443 353

3 443 353

Total

3 443 353

3 443 353

2017/18
Financial assets
Figures in Rands
Receivables from exchange transactions
Receivables from non-exchange transactions

At amortised cost

Total

234 091

234 091

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents

106 678 965

106 678 965

Total

106 913 056

106 913 056
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Financial Liabilities
Figures in Rands

At amortised cost

Total

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

2 855 665

2 855 665

Total

2 855 665

2 855 665

At amortised cost

Total

Contingent liabilities

5 744 150

4 247 788

Total

5 744 150

4 247 788

23. CONTINGENCIES
Figures in Rands

2018/19			
The possible obligation of R5 744 150 exists due to a labour case between the NIHSS and a former employee. The estimated Labour
Court order amounts to R5 344 150 and an estimate of the cost of the Labour Court to the former employee is R400 000, for legal fees
incurred. The NIHSS was granted leave to appeal at the Labour Appeal Court. The case is ongoing.			
Contingent asset			
2018/19			
A possible asset of R234 000 exists due to scholarship beneficiaries who could possibly have defaulted in terms of their contractual
agreements with the Institute. At financial year end, investigations were still ongoing and therefore the asset is contingent upon
finalisation of the process.

24. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE		
2018/19			
The interest and penalty of R30 562.42 incurred during the 2017/18 financial year from the Department of Labour were condoned by
the Board during the 2018/19 financial year.			
2017/18			
In 2017/18 fruitless and wasteful expenditure of R60 784.80 was identified in relation to the alleged fraudulent transactions by a staff
member that occurred in 2016/17. The employee has paid back a portion of the funds owed to the NIHSS in the 2017/18 financial year.
		
The other fruitless and wasteful expenditure disclosed in 2017/18 relates to interest and penalties charged by the Department of Labour
of R30 562.42. The NIHSS registered for the first time with the Workmen Compensation Fund in the 2017/18 financial year.		
Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure:
Figures in Rands

2019

2018

Opening balance

173 539

128 765

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure recovered

(13 489)

(46 573)

989

91 347

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred

Notes

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure condoned

(30 562)

-

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure awaiting recovery

130 477

173 539
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25. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
Reconciliation of irregular expenditure:
Figures in Rands

Notes

Opening balance

2019

2018

265 770

959 791

(265 770)

(959 791)

-

265 770

Irregular expenditure incurred

265 770

Irregular expenditure condoned
Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement

2018/19
The Accounting Authority condoned the irregular expenditure of R265 770.14, incurred in the 2017/18 financial year.
2017/18
Under Staff Welfare, a transaction to the value of R109 581 was identified by management as a fraudulent transaction, resulting in
irregular expenditure. The goods purchased were received; however, the SCM process was not duly followed. The Accounting Authority
has been notified of this transaction and a criminal case of fraud has been opened against the accused former employee. This amount
was expensed during the 2017/18 financial year.
Furthermore, an amount of R850 210 for various procurements has been disclosed as irregular expenditure. For these procurements,
requests for quotations were sent to three service providers and the third service provider was not responsive to the request for
quotations. Upon follow-ups made, the supplier was still not responsive. The reasons for not having the third quotation were noted
on the evaluation sheets and signed by the SCM official. The delegated official did not sign off a deviation for not obtaining three
quotations.
Both amounts mentioned above were condoned by the Board in the 2017/18 financial year.
The breakdown of the procurements are as follows:
Figures in Rands

Notes

2019

2018

Advertising

-

265 770

Total

-

265 770

26. GOING CONCERN
There are no known instances that cast doubt on the ability of the NIHSS to continue as a going concern.
27. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Estimation of useful lives and residual value
Management is of the opinion that all assets of the NIHSS have a useful life that is equal to their economic life as assets are used to
a point where they cannot be sold on the open market. Management therefore considers the residual value to not be material and
significant.
Impairment of assets
Management is of the opinion that there is no objective evidence that, individually or as a group, the receivables will not be recoverable.
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28. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE
The useful lives of computer equipment, leasehold improvements and computer software are as follows:
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Computer equipment

2-4 years

25%-50%

Computer software

1-2 years

50%-100%

Leasehold improvements

3-5 years

33.33%-20%

An assessment was done at the 2018/2019 reporting period to ascertain whether there is any indication that the entity’s expectations
about the residual values and the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets have changed since the preceding
reporting period. Such an indication did exist for a few items of computer equipment, leasehold improvements and computer software,
and the useful lives were revised as follows (only on those specific items):
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Computer equipment

extended by 1 more year

25%-50%

Computer software

extended by 1 more year

50%-100%

Leasehold improvements

extended by 1 more year

25%-33.33%

Intangible assets - projects

extended by 1 more year

33.33%-50%

The revised useful lives had the following effect on the carrying amounts of the assets:
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Computer equipment

Increase in carrying amount

Computer software

Increase in carrying amount

92 478
61 832

Leasehold improvements

Increase in carrying amount

432 852

Intangible assets - projects

Increase in carrying amount

237 227

Total

824 389

The change above was recognised by adjusting the carrying amounts of the related assets.

29. PRIOR PERIOD ERROR
A prior period error was discovered in the 2018/19 financial year, which relates to the 2017/18 financial year. This relates to two
expenses as follows:
Advertising
Department of Labour

Total

301 981

The invoice and statement were only received in the 2018/19 financial year and,
as such, were not accrued for in the 2017/18 financial year.

30 563

This relates to interest charged by the Department of Labour, for late submission
of Return on Earnings. This was disclosed as fruitless and wasteful expenditure in
the 2017/18 financial year and was condoned by the Board in 2018/19.

332 544

The total effect of the above was a reduction/adjustment of retained earnings by R332 544.
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